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            About the book

         

         ‘I think it was one of us,’ Walter says … ‘We had the perfect opportunity. Everyone’s thinking it, I’m just saying it.’

          

         The last thing Hallie and her drama classmates expect to find on a high school scavenger hunt is a dead body. In a town with a population of about thirty-six, no one has experience with murder investigations, but now everyone’s asking who killed Ms Lovelace.

          

         The drama kids thought they were the only people nerdy enough to be at school on a Sunday. When they learn that Adam Tolentino, football star, drama-club nemesis and the hottest boy in school, was there too, Hallie is given the task of finding out what he knows – but she soon learns there’s more to Adam than meets the eye.

          

         Although still grieving her favourite teacher, Hallie knows the show must go on. Managing a musical and a murder investigation is a lot, but Hallie and her friends won’t give up on Ms Lovelace – or each other.

          

         ‘the perfect amount of drama … a guaranteed page-turner.’

          

         – TOBIAS MADDEN, author of Anything But Fine
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            Chapter 1

         

         The last thing we expect to find on the scavenger hunt is a dead body.

         It’s Sunday morning, the first weekend of term one, and we’re at school. By ‘we’, I mean the Year Twelve drama class.

         I know it sounds pathetic, but I don’t mind coming to school on the weekend. We’re in every Saturday for musical rehearsals anyway, so I’m used to it. The musical is the most important thing in my life right now. Honestly. I don’t know what I will do when it’s all over. I’ll have to spend my afternoons studying fibre content for textiles or writing essays about poetry for English.

         I am coming first in the class. That’s not me being pretentious, I really am. I guess it’s not a huge feat considering there are only five of us. But the point I’m trying to make here is that I was hoping to win the scavenger hunt today.

         The five of us have been running around the school all morning following clues and solving puzzles. The scavenger hunt is about Bertolt Brecht and epic theatre. The first clue 2was inside a chalk circle drawn on the ground in the quad. We had to find slices of Swiss cheese in the canteen. Then there were stacks of three pennies in the bubblers and a peach outside the school counsellor’s office. I’m chasing down the final clue when I see them. Dorothy is already here.

         I stare at the body on the ground and feel the back of my neck prickle. When we’d arrived this morning, I’d noticed an extra car parked in the teacher’s car park. And earlier, when I was trying to work out the cryptic Helene Weigel clue, I had the weirdest sensation that someone was watching me. At the time, I thought it was one of the others trying to cheat. When I looked up, I could have sworn I saw a shadow disappear around the corner. There is an age-old rumour that one of the cleaners is a serial killer and he has stashed the bodies of his victims in mythical tunnels under the school.

         The musical we are doing is Annie Get Your Gun. I’m not surprised if you haven’t heard of it. Unfortunately, our music teacher, Mrs Berrycloth, who I’m pretty sure has been at the school since it opened in 1928, only knows musicals that were written before 1972. To be honest, we’re lucky to be doing a musical at all. This is the first year our school has ever put on a show, and it’s all because of our drama teacher, Ms Lovelace. She is not only directing the show, she is also the choreographer and production manager. If it weren’t for the crotchety old Mrs Berrycloth, who conducts the orchestra, she’d be doing it all alone.3

         All of this is what makes it so much worse when I see Ms Lovelace’s body lying in a pool of blood in the corridor outside the drama room.

         Dorothy must have arrived moments before I did. She beat me. That stings more than it should considering the circumstances.

         For a second, I think maybe this is part of the scavenger hunt. It’s not unusual for Ms Lovelace to dress up in a costume; maybe the blood is fake, and this clue has something to do with Kattrin in Mother Courage. But Dorothy’s face tells me this is real. Ms Lovelace wouldn’t be cruel enough to let a prank go this far.

         Ms Lovelace is wearing leggings and an oversized jumper – her standard apparel. Her hair is in a messy bun – also standard. She often gets mistaken for a student on mufti days.

         Dorothy is far more helpful than I am. She has already run to the body and put her ear next to Ms Lovelace’s face. I guess she is hoping to feel her breath. It didn’t even occur to me that Ms Lovelace might still be alive. She is just so still. I’ve never seen anything so still.

         I am stuck in Lecoq’s seventh level of tension: tragic. Every inch of me is vibrating with energy.

         ‘Hallie!’ Dorothy yells. ‘Get over here and put pressure on this wound.’

         Oh yeah, I’m Hallie, by the way. Hallie Warner.

         I feel like I’ve had three shots of caffeine. I follow Dorothy’s instructions as best I can.4

         The blood is slippery. Dorothy takes her jumper from around her waist and pushes it into my hands. I hold it over where I assume the wound is, but I don’t really know.

         I didn’t know there was this much blood in a person. It makes me feel heavy and sluggish, as though my insides are sloshing around like a smoothie in a blender.

         Who would have thought the old man to have so much blood in him? 

         Dorothy breathes into Ms Lovelace’s mouth and then pounds on her chest with her fingers interlocked. I wish someone else would get here already. Why did we have to be so damn efficient?

         I have no idea how Dorothy knows what to do. Maybe after what happened to her sister Victoria last year, she took a first-aid course.

         I hear a scream and look up to see Penny. She is standing at the top of the stairs, staring at us. Her hand, in a black fingerless glove, is over her mouth, and she’s wearing a spiked collar. Penny is still trying to keep the emo look alive. She drops the coins she’s holding and they go tumbling down the staircase.

         ‘What happened?’ Penny asks. Her hair – one of those goth-side-fringe things – is in her face. I can’t tell you how many times Ms Lovelace has asked her to pull it back while she’s performing. She must have lent her a hundred bobby pins.

         ‘Just call an ambulance, will you?’ Dorothy yells between puffs of air.5

         ‘My mum confiscated my phone again,’ Penny says. Every time Penny’s mother finds a packet of cigarettes in her room she takes her phone away for a week. Thus, she never has her phone.

         The rest of us don’t have mobile phones because our parents can’t afford them. Dimitri does, but he hasn’t arrived yet. I yell out his name in my best chest voice. No response.

         Penny makes a dash for the nearest staffroom. ‘The door is locked!’ I hear her yell desperately from around the corner. This is followed by the sounds of her fists and then her feet bashing against the door.

         ‘Here,’ Dorothy says, ripping the lanyard from around Ms Lovelace’s neck. It has blood on it. ‘Use these.’

         Penny has reappeared, and Dorothy chucks the keys towards her. They fall on the concrete at her feet. Ms Lovelace has covered her lanyard in little homemade badges, including a rainbow pride flag and a feminism symbol. It seems such a shame to scratch them on the concrete. Penny picks up the keys and disappears around the corner again. I can’t seem to concentrate on anything except holding the jumper. My hands are gripping it so tightly they are going into spasms.

         It takes a few seconds for Penny to find the right key, but it feels like hours.

         ‘Hurry up,’ Dorothy is yelling and her voice is shrill and frantic.

         Finally, I hear the sound of the door unlocking and, moments later, Penny’s panicked voice on the phone as she tells the ambulance where to find us.6

         Dimitri and Walter arrive, one after the other. Of course they are last. I doubt they found the Mother Courage question easy when I know for a fact that neither of them have read it yet. The only reason I am beating Dimitri for first place in drama is that he never bothers to do his logbook work or read any of the plays.

         Walter is at my side in an instant. He already has his hoodie off and adds it to the bloody mess in front of us and his hands join mine to press them down.

         ‘Are you okay?’ he asks.

         I don’t have the brain capacity to answer such an absurd question right now. Instead, I look at the others and try to distract myself.

         Dimitri takes Penny’s hand in his. I didn’t realise she was crying. Black mascara cascades down her face. All I can hear is Dorothy pounding away on Ms Lovelace’s lifeless chest.

         But Walter is there with me, and that’s all I need to keep me upright for now.

         The sound of sirens approaching is such a comfort that I almost laugh. Penny and Dimitri have to run out the front of the school and direct them to us. This place is a maze, even at the best of times.

         I don’t think I’ve ever been so relieved as when I see the paramedics in their blue uniforms running up the stairs towards us.

         ‘You’ve done really well,’ they say, which for some reason makes me feel better. ‘We can take it from here.’7

         Dorothy all but collapses next to me. Maybe we should have taken turns doing the CPR.

         I look down at my hands and they are covered in Ms Lovelace’s blood. I rub them on my overalls.

         The paramedics take Ms Lovelace’s pulse and listen for her breath. But I think they know as well as we do that she’s not in there anymore.

         I watch them put Ms Lovelace on a stretcher and carry her away. We are frozen in shocked silence. I stare at the pool of blood on the floor without really being able to compute what it is.

         ‘Stay here,’ one of the paramedics says before they descend the stairs. ‘The police are on their way and they’ll want to speak to you.’

         I lift my head and peer at the others. Dorothy is on the floor beside me, panting. Dimitri is standing with an arm around Penny. They are both quietly sobbing.

         Walter is holding my hand. I want more than anything to get to a tap and wash the blood away.

         Out damned spot; out, I say! 

         We must look like ghosts – all five of us.
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            Chapter 2

         

         A short time later, Sergeant Griffiths arrives with one other police officer, who looks like he just woke up. Sergeant Griffiths is Walter’s dad. He taught me how to ride a bicycle on the oval. He helped me up every single time I fell off and patched the grazes on my knees and elbows.

         Walter puts on a brave face in front of his father, but I can tell that he is falling apart on the inside.

         ‘What happened, son?’ Sergeant Griffiths asks.

         ‘We just found her like that,’ Walter says and his voice cracks. It sounds like something a murder suspect would say on TV.

         It isn’t until this moment that I realise someone did this to her. That someone killed Ms Lovelace today. And what’s even more concerning is that it suddenly occurs to me that we could possibly be suspects. Suspects in a murder investigation. It is all just too surreal.

         ‘Actually, I found her,’ Dorothy says, standing up on shaky legs. ‘I was the first to arrive.’

         The tiniest ping of jealousy.9

         ‘I think you all better come down to the station,’ the sergeant says. He places a hand on my shoulder. I’m sure it’s meant to be comforting, but his hand is cold and the gesture feels more like a threat.

         They have to take two trips to get us all to the police station. Walter, Dorothy and I go first with Sergeant Griffiths. The other policeman stays with Dimitri and Penny. I feel like I’m being driven to the gallows.

         ‘Ice Ice Baby’ is playing on the radio, and it feels eerily accurate.

         
            [image: ]

         

         The only police station nearby is a couple of towns over. Walter, Dorothy and I are squished together in the back seat of the cop car. Nobody felt much like riding up front. Walter holds my hand the whole way.

         We drive past a group of kids hitching a ride to the creek. They are carrying boogie boards and towels. There are couples out walking their dogs. Mums in work-out gear push prams at impressive speeds. It’s bizarre to think that they don’t know. That their mornings have been totally normal.

         Part of me is hoping that maybe Ms Lovelace will be okay. That the doctors can save her. But deep down, I know that she’s not coming back.

         When we pull into the station car park, I feel sick. I hope I don’t throw up.10

         Sergeant Griffiths tells us to sit in the waiting room while he makes some phone calls. The police station is a converted old pioneer cottage. The waiting room is what I presume was once the sitting room as there’s a tacky chandelier still hanging from the ceiling and an unused picture rail. Walter sometimes volunteers here in the afternoons. He does a bit of paperwork and secretarial stuff. Anything to get his foot in the door.

         ‘Hallie,’ Walter says, ‘are you okay? You haven’t spoken a word since—’

         ‘I have to go to the bathroom,’ I say.

         I stand up and walk away from him. In the bathroom, I look in the mirror. For some reason, I thought I would look different, but it’s the same old me who stares back. I douse my palms in soap and wash the blood from my hands. The knees of my overalls are stained too. I hear the door open behind me and hope it isn’t Walter. Not that I don’t love Walter. I just can’t stand his sympathetic face right now, you know?

         I turn around and see Dorothy standing in the doorway. She has blood on her too. Probably even more than I do.

         ‘You did really well back there,’ I say.

         ‘I’ve done a first-aid course.’

         ‘I was useless,’ I say. ‘I just froze.’

         ‘That’s perfectly normal.’

         She washes her hands in the sink next to me.

         Something about having her there makes me feel a little less sick.11

         ‘I haven’t cried yet,’ I say. ‘Is that weird?’

         ‘Me neither.’ She inhales sharply.

         I just want to sit on the cold tiles with her and wait for it all to be over. Dorothy takes my hand and leads me out into the waiting room. The others haven’t arrived yet and Walter looks at me like I’m broken. We sit back on the couch with him and say nothing.

         Penny and Dimitri arrive eventually. Their faces are ashen. Dimitri looks like he just swallowed a bowling ball.

         Once everyone is here, we’re ushered into the interview room, which, as far as I can tell, was once a nursery. It’s far too small for all of us and there aren’t enough chairs, so Dorothy and I stand. Penny is quickly making her way through a whole box of tissues.

         I thought in situations like this they were supposed to interview us separately to see if our stories matched up. But I guess they haven’t had a lot of experience with murder investigations. Our town only has a population of about thirty-six. I can’t remember anyone ever being killed this way before. There’ve been suicides and car accidents, but nothing like this.

         Sergeant Griffiths and the other police officer sit opposite us. The young one is called Caleb. I think he used to go to our school. He has a notebook. They’re recording everything we say, so what is the point of the notebook? Maybe he is jotting down our facial expressions. I try not to look guilty.

         ‘So, why were you kids at the school today?’ the sergeant asks.12

         ‘I told you, Dad,’ says Walter. ‘We were doing a scavenger hunt.’

         ‘I know, son. I just need it on the tape.’

         Walter nods. I can feel him chastising himself for not knowing that.

         ‘Right,’ Sergeant Griffiths continues. ‘So you all arrived together on the bus this morning, is that correct?’

         I think back to when Dorothy, Walter and I caught the bus. We sat across the back seat and sang through the musical the whole way. The rest of the passengers were thrilled. Not. I can’t believe that was only a few hours ago.

         ‘Yes,’ Dorothy says, already on the defensive. ‘And we didn’t do it.’

         ‘Nobody’s accusing you kids of anything here,’ Sergeant Griffiths says.

         ‘I drove,’ Dimitri says. ‘I didn’t come on the bus with the others. I drove. My mum took the car home.’

         Dimitri is on his Ls. He thinks this makes him the bee’s knees, but he did a pretty shocking reverse park in the teacher’s car park this morning. Just saying. Right now, though, he sounds nervous. I’ve never heard him sound nervous before; he normally oozes with confidence.

         ‘But we all saw him arrive,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘I drove too,’ Penny says. ‘My dad dropped me off.’

         ‘Did he wait for you?’ Sergeant Griffiths asks.

         ‘No, he left. He had to go to work. I was going to catch the bus home.’

         ‘And, Dorothy, you were the first to find the body?’ 13Sergeant Griffith looks up at Dorothy and me standing in the corner.

         ‘Yes, I tried to administer first aid. Hallie helped; she arrived pretty much straight after I did. Then, when Penny got there, we sent her to call an ambulance.’

         ‘And did you two see anyone else around before you found the body?’

         ‘No,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Hallie?’

         I shrug.

         ‘For the tape, please, Hal.’

         ‘No,’ I say and my voice sounds shaky. ‘I don’t think so.’

         ‘You’re not sure?’

         ‘Well, I thought I heard someone, maybe following me, and there might have been a shadow.’

         ‘A shadow?’

         ‘I don’t know.’

         ‘Is Ms Lovelace going to be okay?’ Penny asks between intermittent sobs.

         Sergeant Griffiths reaches across the table and pats her hand. ‘I’m afraid not,’ he says. ‘I spoke to the hospital just a moment ago. They said there was nothing they could do; she had already lost too much blood.’

         The room is so quiet I can hear Dorothy’s nose whistle. Even Penny is silent for a moment. Sergeant Griffiths continues asking us questions, but none of us are in much of a state to answer, and eventually he calls an end to the interview.14

         ‘I will get the constable to drive you guys home. I am very sorry about your teacher. I know she meant a lot to you all.’

         They leave us alone. Penny is crying again.

         ‘She was my favourite teacher,’ Dorothy says and the tears start to well in her eyes.

         Before Dorothy took drama in Year Nine she was too shy to even lift her head walking down the corridor. She used to sit by herself at lunch in the library. She didn’t really do much of anything after what happened with her sister. Now she’s a lead in the school musical. Ms Lovelace did a lot to get Dorothy out of her shell. She did a lot for all of us.

         ‘Wait,’ I say suddenly. ‘Sergeant Griffiths!’ My voice is shrill; I would never let this happen on a normal day.

         ‘What is it, Hallie?’ he says, coming back in the door. He must think I have another clue for him, like the tasty titbit about the shadow.

         ‘Ms Lovelace … she has cats, she has three cats,’ I say. ‘Someone has to feed them.’

         ‘We’ve contacted Ms Lovelace’s parents and they will be here tomorrow. Don’t worry, I’m sure they will look after the cats.’

         ‘But what about tonight? They’ll need to be fed and have their litter changed and their water refilled.’

         ‘Don’t worry, Hal – they’ll be fine for one night.’

         He leaves us and I can’t breathe. I feel like my chest is collapsing in on itself. The thought of those cats all alone, 15waiting for Ms Lovelace to come home, is all I can think about.

         Ms Lovelace adored those cats; she talked about them all the time. She has photos of them on the pinboard above her desk. Their names are Gene, Judy and Doris.

         ‘Do you still have Ms Lovelace’s lanyard?’ I ask Penny.

         She nods and hands it to me under the table like she is passing me a note in class.

         It’s awful, but I suddenly think of the musical.

         ‘What’s going to happen with the show?’ I ask no one in particular.

         You would expect the others to judge me, but they understand. This show is my whole life. I have never cared about anything so much.

         ‘Without Ms Lovelace, what will they do?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘Will they cancel the show?’ Penny adds.

         ‘And what about our drama class?’ Dorothy says. ‘She is the only drama teacher in the school. Will we have to choose another elective?’

         ‘Dear god, please don’t make me take engineering,’ I say.

         Sergeant Griffiths comes back in to take all of our fingerprints and DNA swabs before we leave.

         ‘Just for elimination,’ he says, but I am not so sure.
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            Chapter 3

         

         The young police officer, Caleb, drops Dorothy off first. Her house is a ramshackle little place on the rough side of town. It has a white concrete partition in front of the door, which makes it look a lot like a public toilet.

         Dorothy’s dad isn’t in the picture and her mother works two jobs just to pay the bills. Dorothy has a heart of gold and she often bakes cookies for the class. Packet mix, but still.

         She waves goodbye to us before letting herself in. The door is unlocked. I guess you don’t have to worry too much about being robbed when your house looks like that. I’d be more concerned about people wandering in off the street to use the bathroom.

         Caleb drops Walter and me off together in front of our houses – both little weatherboard boxes side by side. Walter is my best friend in the world. We’ve been next-door neighbours our whole lives. From where we stand, we can see the joint tree house our parents built that can be reached from a rope ladder on either side of the fence. We spent a lot of our childhood up there trying to perfect the Dirty Dancing lift and eating soy chips.17

         ‘Want me to come inside with you?’ Walter asks.

         ‘No.’ I mean for it to sound caring but it comes off as hostile. ‘I think I need to be alone for a while.’ I realise after I’ve said it that maybe he wanted to come in for his own sake, not mine. Walter almost says something but closes his mouth. I wonder if he was going to ask if he could join me, but then realised it would be weird. Walter and I used to have sleepovers all the time when we were young. He would sleep on the floor of my room or I would take the bottom bunk in his while his little brother, Ray, was still in the cradle. But somehow, that all stopped. I can’t even remember the last time we did it. It should have been special, that last time, but it all blurs together. I guess our parents figured that once we hit puberty, sharing a room might not be the best idea. But even the thought of seeing Walt as anything other than a friend feels so wrong.

         I watch Walter let himself in. His house looks empty. His mother might have taken Ray to the creek for the day. I think of Walter sitting in his room alone and wish I had let him come in with me.

         I walk up the gravel path to my front door.

         I’m sure you will be shocked to hear that I have big dreams of leaving this dead-end town and heading to the West End or Broadway. I wanted to go to this special performing arts high school in Sydney but my parents couldn’t afford it, or didn’t want to. The school has an actual theatre on campus, with a box office and an orchestra pit and everything. Our orchestra sits on the floor with the audience and drowns 18out the singers on stage. My father is not a huge fan of musicals (big surprise) and doesn’t particularly view acting as a viable career path.

         When I reach the front door, it’s locked. My mum is probably still at work. She works as a nurse at the local hospital. And I don’t care what anyone says, nurses are the most underappreciated people in the world.

         I let myself in and walk through the kitchen and down the hall to my bedroom. I thought Dad might have been out fishing. He and Sergeant Griffiths go fishing together sometimes, but in my whole life I’ve never known them to catch anything. They also play poker together a few nights a week at Walter’s house. But he’d be home by now if that were the case.

         I throw my whole outfit straight into the washing machine and almost overflow the tray with powder. Then I shower until the hot water runs out. Lastly, I put on my pyjamas even though it’s only two in the afternoon.

         Then I lie down on top of the covers and wait for my mum to get home. I still haven’t cried. The thing is, I don’t feel sad; I just feel numb.

         I will myself to sleep but, in all honesty, I don’t think I’ve ever felt more awake. I don’t know if I will ever be able to sleep again. I hear my dad get home a little later, but I don’t call out to him and he doesn’t check on me. Instead, I hear him complain that there’s no hot water left and then the sound of the TV.

         When my mother finally gets home much later, I hear 19her and my father in the kitchen, their voices raised, before she taps on my door.

         ‘Hallie, sweetheart?’ she says.

         ‘Hey, Mum.’

         She comes in with a sandwich from the hospital cafeteria. I nibble at it while Mum says soothing things to me and runs her hand through my hair. ‘I heard what happened,’ she says. ‘I’m so sorry, Hal.’

         ‘I think I just want to sleep,’ I lie.

         She kisses me on the forehead and leaves me alone.

         I listen for the sound of my parents’ bedroom door closing before changing into jeans and a jumper as quickly as I can. I pull on my trainers and climb out the window.

         I slip into Walter’s garden and sneak past the living room window. The house is mostly dark, except for the light from Sergeant Griffiths’ study. I wonder if he is looking at the crime scene photographs right now. I shudder.

         I make my way around the side of the house and tap on Walter’s bedroom window. He appears almost instantly. Somehow, he must have known I would come.

         ‘I need your help,’ I say.

         ‘Anything.’

         He climbs out the window and follows me through the front gate.

         ‘Where are we going?’ he asks.

         ‘Ms Lovelace’s house,’ I say.

         He nods, processing that information. ‘Do you know where she lives?’20

         ‘I saw her coming out her front door once,’ I say. Walter gives me a funny look as if he knows I’m lying. I keep walking.

         I don’t know what to expect when we arrive. I guess I am picturing a squadron of cop cars, sirens, sniffer dogs, helicopters and the whole lot covered in crime scene tape. But the only sign that something is wrong is a cross of police tape over the front door. The two-man police force in this area isn’t exactly the FBI.

         ‘Let’s try the back door,’ Walter says. I follow him around the side of the house. We trip over a pile of plastic flowerpots.

         The backyard is small. Ms Lovelace’s washing is still hanging on the line, rows and rows of colourful leggings and baggy T-shirts.

         I pull the lanyard out of my pocket. I guess this is an important piece of evidence and that keeping it is probably a crime, but I don’t really care right now. We try a couple of keys before we get one to fit and the door swings open to reveal a tiny laundry that leads into a living-room-slash-dining-room-slash-kitchen.

         The cats are onto us in a moment. Gene, the big ginger boy, aggressively headbutts Walter’s legs. The smallest one, a tabby called Doris, cries at the door behind us and the third, Judy, black and white like a Jellicle cat, watches carefully from the bookshelf.

         ‘They were expecting Ms Lovelace,’ I say.

         Walter bends down and scratches Gene behind the ears.21

         ‘She’s not coming home,’ I say to them, and, finally, I burst into tears. ‘She’s not coming home.’

         I collapse to the floor, my tears falling in gallons. Soon I’ll drown in them like Alice.

         Walter wraps his arms around me.

         ‘It’s okay,’ he says. ‘It’s okay.’

         I want to scream at him and shout, ‘NO, IT IS NOT OKAY! IT IS NOT EVEN CLOSE TO BEING OKAY!’ But I can’t speak. All I can do is cry. Eventually, Walter releases me and goes to fill up the food bowls. Each cat has a Tupperware container full of kibble with their name on it. This even brings Judy down from the bookshelf, though she eats with one eye still on us.

         Then Walter empties their water bowl and refills it from the kitchen sink. Ms Lovelace’s kitchen is tidy. The benches are clean and the dish rack is empty. It feels wrong being here. I’ve never seen the inside of one of my teacher’s houses before.

         I am suddenly overwhelmed by the thought that we are trespassing. What if the police come back looking for more clues or something? They’ll find us, the kids who discovered the victim’s dead body, here, snooping around in her house.

         Through the laundry, I can see the living room. There’s a record deck and a whole shelf full of vintage musical records like Oklahoma! and Seven Brides for Seven Brothers. I can picture Ms Lovelace sitting on her couch, a cat on her lap and the sounds of Howard Keel and Gordon MacRae filling the room.22

         ‘Maybe we should have a look around,’ Walter says.

         ‘What?’

         ‘There might be clues.’

         ‘Won’t the police have already searched the house?’

         ‘Maybe they missed something.’

         He heads into the living room.

         ‘Walter,’ I hiss after him. ‘We shouldn’t!’

         Gene is following him. Judy has returned to her perch on the bookshelf, but little Doris has gone back to watching the door. I can’t bear it.

         I follow Walter. He is creeping down the hall towards the bedrooms. ‘Hal, check this out!’ he calls to me.

         The house has two bedrooms. The first I pass is small and filled with what looks like a homemade cat climbing jungle. There are platforms, bridges, tunnels and towers. It’s pretty impressive, to tell the truth.

         I jump at the sound of a branch hitting the window. Every time a car passes by, my body goes cold.

         Gene the cat shows off by jumping from the floor to the top platform.

         The larger bedroom has what I assume is Ms Lovelace’s bed in it, neatly made. The walls are bare. Walter is fishing through her bedside table. I can’t bring myself to look in there. Instead, I slip my hand under her pillow. There’s something there. It feels like a photograph; one side is glossy. I look over at Walter, who is immersed in the contents of her bedside drawers. I slip the photograph out and glance at it quickly before shoving it into the back pocket of my jeans.23

         A car outside slows down and suddenly I remember where we are and what we’re doing, and I want to get out of the house as soon as possible. But at the sound of the car, the cats scurry, their tiny claws scratching the floor as they sprint down the hall. The room is illuminated by bright light. Someone has pulled into the driveway and their headlights are shining straight into the bedroom where Walter and I are standing. Absurdly, we duck down to the floor, even though whoever it is has probably already seen our silhouettes against the curtains. I curse my huge hair for making me so distinctive. If that’s Sergeant Griffiths out there, there’s no way he won’t know it’s us.

         Walter shushes me even though I’ve never been so silent in my life.

         ‘Shouldn’t we get out of here?’ I hiss back.

         He nods and we start to army crawl out the bedroom door and down the hall. The car just sits there, idling with its lights still on. We’re halfway back to the laundry when I hear shoes on the gravel path leading to the front door – a slow crunch of pebbles under boots.

         ‘Who is that?’ Walter asks.

         ‘How the hell would I know?’

         Whoever is outside has reached the front door. They knock. Three times, horrendously loud.

         ‘Dad wouldn’t knock,’ Walter whispers.

         ‘Hanna,’ a voice comes through the door. It’s a man, and he sounds furious. ‘Who’s in there with you? I saw you were with someone!’24

         ‘He thinks I’m Ms Lovelace,’ I say.

         The man jiggles the door handle and it feels like the whole house shakes.

         ‘Come on, let’s go,’ Walter says.

         We reach the laundry. The cats are nowhere in sight.

         ‘What if he tries the back door?’ I say.

         Walter doesn’t leave me time to think about that terrifying prospect before he is up, flinging open the screen door and dragging me down the cement stairs into the garden.

         ‘You can’t get away that easily!’ the man shouts. He obviously heard the screen door slam shut behind us.

         I stop, my fingers fumbling with the keys on Ms Lovelace’s lanyard.

         ‘What are you doing?’ Walter says.

         ‘We have to lock the door again,’ I say. ‘The cats are still in there.’

         Walter rolls his eyes but doesn’t stop me. I hear someone tripping over the stack of flowerpots, and Walter grabs my arm. ‘Come on, Hallie!’

         The key turns in the lock and I hear the satisfying click that tells me the cats are safe from whoever this is.

         We sprint around the other side of the house, but the path is a lot narrower here and we have to negotiate around the wheelie bins.

         Walter pushes me in front of him. ‘Keep going,’ he says. ‘I’ll hold him off.’

         ‘Don’t be ridiculous,’ I say.25

         We reach the front of the house.

         ‘Hey,’ the voice yells behind us. ‘What the hell are you kids doing here?’

         We leg it. The panic I feel when I think he might be chasing after us is brief and is replaced with a mix of relief and fear as I hear the sound of another car approaching and see the flash of blue and red lights in the distance.

         It must be Walter’s dad. I wonder if someone tipped him off that there were trespassers in Ms Lovelace’s house. We pause behind a grevillea and see whoever was following us jump back into his car and speed away before Sergeant Griffiths arrives. We don’t stick around to get arrested for trespassing and slip away down a footpath between two houses.
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         We walk home the long way, side by side, and I’m crying again, but I feel lighter with every step, like every tear that falls to the ground weighs a tonne. The night air is still warm and I can hear the cicadas in the trees and the frogs in the drain. We pass the spot where Walter fell out of a gum tree and dislocated his shoulder when we were seven and I had to run and get his dad, who carried him all the way home. On the left is the house we used to think was haunted because we once saw the door blow open all by itself. Our steps quicken as we walk past, even now. There’s also the bull ant nest that the football boys once kicked at 26me and Walter in Year Seven when I dressed up as Belle for Halloween and made Walter come as the Beast.

         We stop under the streetlight outside our houses.

         I can’t get the words thank you to come out of my mouth, but Walter seems to get the idea.

         ‘Anytime, Hal,’ he says.

         He gives me a leg-up to climb back through my bedroom window before heading around to his own room. It is only now that I again remember seeing that other car at the school this morning.

         Somehow, I fall asleep and my dreams are filled with crying cats and scratched records.
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            Chapter 4

         

         Period one the next day and we get called into a whole-school assembly in the hall. This only happens when someone has died. The last time we did this was for Dorothy’s sister, Victoria. People are already whispering to each other, trying to work out who it is. They are checking to make sure all their friends are at school today. There are frantic whispers flying around in the air.

         ‘Where’s Norma? Norma is never late!’

         ‘She has chickenpox you idiot. She’s been off all week.’

         ‘Has anyone heard from Nick today? He’s not replying to my texts.’

         ‘He’s probably just coming down from last night.’

         ‘I hope it’s my maths teacher. Maybe we’ll get a free period today.’

         ‘You can’t say that.’

         ‘What? You’re thinking the same thing.’

         I try not to listen to them. As a distraction, I focus on counting the freckles on my arm. I get to fifty-seven by the time the teachers finally get everyone to shut up.28

         Dimitri, Walter, Dorothy, Penny and I sit together in the senior section of the hall. Dorothy is holding Penny’s hand so tight that her knuckles are white. She is wearing the same huge grey sweatshirt she wears every day. Dorothy has probably had more uniform detentions than the rest of the school put together. At this point, she just shows up even when nobody has written her up for it.

         The principal, Mr Feather, gets up on the stage. He’s not holding any notes so he hasn’t written a speech, unless he’s learnt it off by heart. Unlikely.

         ‘I have some sad news …’

         I tune out. I don’t need to hear this. Mr Feather’s voice is steady; he doesn’t seem particularly choked up about it. I look around at the faces of the students in the crowd and wonder if any of them are capable of murder. I can tell that most of them have no idea who Ms Lovelace even is. But there are kids here and there, scattered throughout the room, who look like they’ve been hit by a truck. For some of us, drama is the only reason we come to school each day. In a town like this, most of us need an escape.

         All I can think about is that somewhere in this room could be the person who killed her. Another teacher? A student? Each of them seems less likely than the last.

         The assembly lasts less than half an hour. Afterwards they make the drama students stay back and we are all given appointment times to speak to the school counsellor, Addie.
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         29It is period two and we have drama – our first drama lesson without Ms Lovelace. Somebody has cleaned up the floor where she died – there is no blood in sight – and people have started piling up bunches of flowers, cards and drawings next to the drama room door. I use the term ‘drama room’ loosely. It’s actually just two regular classrooms that have been melded together. They removed the joining wall and took out the furniture and called it a ‘performance space’, even though it has mouldy carpet and those horrible old fluorescent lights. Ms Lovelace was hoping the musical would raise enough funds to get us some proper stage lights and a new floor.

         There are at least seven cards with drawings of the Greek comedy and tragedy masks. Shows what they know; Ms Lovelace didn’t even like Greek theatre.

         I notice Dorothy add a small handmade card to the pile. It has a drawing of William Shakespeare on the front. That’s more like it.

         Normally, Ms Lovelace is already in the room waiting for us when we arrive. But not today. Today, the door is locked and we have to stand outside, our socked feet getting dirty on the concrete.

         ‘Maybe no one’s coming,’ Dorothy says after at least ten minutes have passed.

         ‘They wouldn’t just leave us,’ Dimitri says. ‘Don’t they have a duty of care or whatever?’

         Just when we’re thinking we’ll head down to the oval and sit in the sun for the rest of the lesson, a teacher rounds 30the corner and heads towards us. I think he is a substitute. I’ve definitely seen him around the school before. I’m pretty sure he took me for a textiles lesson once. He is wearing a sweater vest and a checked shirt. It is quite an ensemble. He wears glasses and has a little adult acne on his cheeks. Poor guy. He is also about half the height of Dimitri.

         ‘Hi, guys,’ he says, fumbling with his keys. ‘Sorry I’m late. I had no idea where the drama room was, to be honest.’

         Dorothy, Penny, Dimitri, Walter and I exchange looks of dismay.

         The casual teacher finally gets the door open, after I show him the shoulder-barge technique.

         Inside the room, set up on the windowsill, is a basket full of chocolates and one of Ms Lovelace’s homemade badges that reads I’m kind of a big deal on stage. 

         ‘That must be the prize,’ Dorothy says. None of us touch it.

         We instinctively move to sit in a circle on the floor.

         ‘I’m Mr Morton,’ the teacher says, writing his name on the whiteboard, ‘and I will be taking your class for the foreseeable future. I am very sorry about what happened to Ms Lovelace. I know she must have meant a lot to you all.’

         ‘Are you a drama teacher, sir?’ Penny asks. Always so blunt.

         ‘No, I’m actually woodwork trained,’ he says, and a silent groan permeates the room. ‘So, um, I might need you guys to help me out a bit.’

         ‘Aren’t you supposed to be the teacher, sir?’ Penny asks.31

         ‘Just so that I can get up to date, you know, with where your class is at in the syllabus.’

         Mr Morton holds up a book that obviously belonged to Ms Lovelace as it is full of colourful Post-it notes.

         ‘We’re studying epic theatre and Bertolt Brecht,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Epic!’ Mr Morton says.

         This is going to be a long day.

         For the first time ever, drama drags. I lead us in a round of 1-2-1, but our hearts aren’t really in it. Walter is even further off-key than usual, and I don’t think Penny even sings at all.

         Mr Morton suggests we play Stuck in the Mud. We oblige, under silent protest. I feel ridiculous standing with my legs apart waiting for someone to crawl between them. Who even invented this ludicrous game?

         Then Mr Morton tries to open the windows, but we have to close them all again because of the wasp nests outside.

         Normally, when the bell goes for the end of the period, we can’t believe it’s been an hour already. Today, the five of us periodically check the clock, waiting for the chance to get out of this room. Everything about it is making me feel trapped. The matte black walls, which once seemed so cool and classy, now look like a tomb. The dusty smell of the carpet, which was once so comforting, now fills my senses so I can hardly see.

         We have never rushed out of the drama room as quickly as we do today. None of us thank Mr Morton for the lesson.32
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         When Walter and I get off the bus that afternoon, we casually walk by Ms Lovelace’s house. I’m totally prepared to break in again if her cats need feeding, psycho killer or no psycho killer. But there are a bunch of cars in the driveway and lots of people around. I can see through the living room window that there’s an older couple sitting on the couch and people are handing them cups of tea and sandwiches cut into triangles. Ms Lovelace’s family must have arrived.

         I linger, looking in the window a bit longer than I probably should. Judy is still on her perch on the bookshelf, watching the people below with a look that translates as, What are all these strangers doing in my house? Gene is sharing the love and headbutting anyone he can find. I can’t see little Doris anywhere and I hope it’s not because she is still sitting at the back door waiting for Ms Lovelace to come home.

         The thought makes tears spring behind my eyes and I turn away.

         ‘We should go,’ Walter says.

         I nod and follow him back to our places.

         ‘The cats will be okay,’ he says. ‘They’ll take care of them.’

         I’m afraid if I try to speak I’ll start crying again, so I just nod.
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            Chapter 5

         

         ‘Hanna was a remarkable and passionate young woman.’

         ‘I didn’t even know her name was Hanna,’ Dorothy says. She’s already been through seven tissues and counting.

         It’s Tuesday and we are sitting in the back row of Ms Lovelace’s memorial service. It’s not technically a funeral since her body hasn’t been released by the police yet. All the drama students got to take the day off school to come.

         Ms Lovelace’s family is up the front. Parents, siblings, aunts, uncles, cousins, grandparents. It never occurred to me that teachers would still have grandparents. But I guess Ms Lovelace wasn’t that much older than us.

         Seeing her parents is what gets to me. They are full to the brim. If you were to bump into them, streams of grief would come pouring out.

         Dimitri is crying too, which breaks me in half. He looks like he’s twelve years old again, on the day I found him all alone in the playground and decided to be his friend. Dimitri Chbosky is my only real competition for first place in the class. He is from a Russian family and is drop-­dead 34gorgeous. He is also incredibly talented. He and I are equally invested in the show, and he is starring opposite me as the lead male role, Frank Butler.

         I spot Mr Morton up the back standing with some of the other teachers, including the creative and performing arts head teacher, Ms Johnson, who looks bored out of her skull, the principal, Mr Feather, who checks his watch a total of seventeen times, the music teacher, Mrs Berrycloth and Addie, the school counsellor. Mr Morton seems the most upset and I wonder if they were friends.

         As people file out into the foyer for food, they play Ms Lovelace’s favourite song, ‘I’d Do Anything’ from Oliver. She was a woman after my own heart. Addie is flitting about like a cicada, handing out tissues like calling cards.

         The five of us manage to slip out the back and we sit around in the churchyard under one of the wattle trees. Yellow flowers litter the ground around us. Walter’s family have lived in this town since it was founded. Several generations of Griffiths are buried in these graves.

         ‘I think we need to talk about what happened,’ Walter says.

         ‘If someone tells me I have to talk to that counsellor one more time I will scream,’ Penny says. She has lit a cigarette and it fits perfectly between her black-painted fingernails.

         ‘I don’t mean that,’ Walter continues. ‘I mean, about who we think did it.’

         It’s something I’m sure we’ve all been thinking but up 35until now, none of us have said it.

         ‘I don’t know if her funeral is the right place to be talking about this,’ Dimitri says as he hands Dorothy another tissue. His pockets must be bottomless.

         ‘Do the police know anything?’ I say.

         ‘I want us to talk about what we know,’ Walter says.

         I feel like slapping him.

         ‘Who are the suspects?’ he continues, ignoring my glare. ‘Who would have wanted Ms Lovelace dead?’

         We sit in silence. I can’t think of anyone.

         ‘Who didn’t like Ms Lovelace?’ I say, more to myself than anybody else.

         ‘Ms Johnson?’ Dimitri suggests. ‘Maybe she did her in so she wouldn’t have to deal with the musical anymore.’

         Ms Johnson and Ms Lovelace certainly did not get along. Ms Lovelace was constantly trying to get permission to put on performances for the public and Ms Johnson would stomp them out at every opportunity. Ms Johnson seems to think that parents don’t want to have to come to school in the evenings to watch their children perform. Truth is, I think she’s the one who doesn’t like coming in the evenings.

         ‘And who else would have known that Ms Lovelace would even be at school that day?’ I say. ‘Someone would had to have approved the scavenger hunt, right?’

         ‘I doubt that Ms Johnson could have dragged her seven chins up the staircase to the drama room,’ Penny says.

         Dimitri gives her a severe look. Penny doesn’t have a lot of time for body positivity. I shift self-consciously in my 36dress that digs uncomfortably into my stomach.

         ‘Unless she was just in the wrong place at the wrong time,’ Dorothy adds. ‘It could have been an—’

         ‘That’s good,’ Walter says, cutting her off. ‘Who else?’ He looks like he should be taking notes in a leather-bound book and smoking a cigar.

         ‘What about Mrs Berrycloth?’ I say. ‘You saw them in rehearsals. Mrs Berrycloth could be pretty critical of Ms Lovelace’s directorial decisions.’

         ‘Yeah, I don’t know if I’ve ever met someone who has quite the handle on passive aggression as Mrs Berrycloth does,’ Penny says. ‘I envy her sometimes.’

         ‘I don’t think Mrs Berrycloth is the killer,’ Dorothy says. ‘She’s a hundred and seven years old. She probably couldn’t even lift a knife.’

         ‘I dunno, she brandishes her baton pretty violently at the orchestra,’ I say.

         ‘But surely she wouldn’t have wanted them to cancel Annie Get Your Gun,’ Dimitri says. ‘I’ve seen her in rehearsals – she tries to hide it, but she secretly loves doing the show. There’s no way she’d kill the director over a few artistic differences.’

         ‘How about one of the kids who didn’t get the part they wanted in the musical?’ Penny says. ‘I know there were a lot of girls disappointed that they didn’t get to be Annie.’ She looks pointedly at me, as if to say, not that I was one of them, when we all know she was.

         ‘They’d kill Hallie then, not Ms Lovelace,’ Dimitri says.37

         ‘Gee, thanks,’ I say.

         ‘What about Tim?’ Dorothy says.

         Everyone is silent. If anyone on our list of suspects would be wandering around with a knife on them, it would be Tim – although I find it difficult to believe that he would willingly come to school on a weekend. Timothy Bacigalupo used to be in our drama class, but last year he transferred to engineering. After what happened, no one in the class has spoken to him since. Tim lives with his foster family in one of the housing commission places near the school. His parents lost custody when he was a toddler and he was bounced around from one foster home to another for a long time.

         ‘Maybe it was suicide,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘As if,’ I say.

         ‘No one commits suicide by stabbing themselves,’ Penny says.

         ‘Juliet did,’ I say. ‘So did Mark Antony. And she was a drama teacher after all.’

         ‘Oh, for god’s sake. Why didn’t she send for an asp while she was at it?’ Penny says.

         ‘If it was suicide, then where was the knife?’ Walter says. This option has obviously already occurred to him.

         ‘Dorothy was the first one there,’ Dimitri says.

         We all look at her. It is a beautiful ensemble moment. I can suddenly picture it. Dorothy arriving on the scene, hiding the knife so that no one would need to know it was suicide, saving Ms Lovelace’s family from that extra pain. If anyone would do it, Dorothy would.38

         ‘There was no knife,’ she says, and I believe her.

         ‘What do we know about Ms Lovelace before she moved here?’ Walter says. ‘She’s only been at the school for three years. Maybe she was in witness protection or she’s on the run or something.’

         I can tell from the carefully restrained excitement in his tone that this is what Walter has been wanting to say all along. He was just waiting for the big build-up. His inner son-of-a-cop is coming through.

         ‘Lovelace does sound like a made-up name, now that you mention it,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘More importantly,’ Penny says as she stubs out her cigarette on a nearby gravestone, ‘Ms Lovelace sounds like a name that she would make up.’

         We all nod. That sounds very plausible. At the memorial they only called her ‘Hanna’, they didn’t mention her last name at all.

         ‘Did any of you notice anything unusual at the crime scene?’ Walter says.

         ‘Yes,’ I say, suddenly remembering. ‘When we arrived, did anyone else notice there was an extra car in the staff car park? It was a sky-blue Honda Jazz with red P-plates and at least one missing hubcap. I totally forgot about until the other night.’

         ‘That sounds like the Tolentinos’ car,’ Walter says.

         ‘Why would Adam Tolentino be at school on a Sunday?’

         ‘Maybe one of us should speak to him,’ Dorothy says. ‘Find out if he saw something.’

         There is silence. No one much fancies spending an 39afternoon with Adam Tolentino. Chances are they’d come away with a black eye or an egg in their hair. The footy lads and the drama kids are natural rivals because we represent everything they hate. Creativity. Acceptance. Diversity. Adam isn’t necessarily the ringleader but he is the most popular member of their band. The Tolentino family is a bit of a cautionary tale around here. I’m pretty sure Adam’s older brother is in jail. Adam is in our music class. He plays the guitar and sings a bit too.

         ‘I’ll do it,’ I say finally, when it seems no one else is going to.

         ‘Maybe we should tell the police,’ Dorothy says, ‘and let them ask him.’

         ‘I’ll let my dad know,’ Walter says.

         We move to the park and run through ‘There’s No Business Like Show Business’ to make ourselves feel better. We even practise the lift that Walter and Dorothy have never quite been able to nail. Well, I say Dorothy and Walter, but we all know it’s Walt who’s finding it a challenge.

         Eventually, Walter and I walk home together. His presence beside me is comforting.

         ‘Who do you think did it?’ he says.

         My black dress is soaking up the sunlight and making me sweat.

         ‘I don’t know, Walter.’

         I can feel the skin on my arms burning. I speed up a little to get inside as quickly as possible. I hope Walter doesn’t think I’m running away because I’m guilty.
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            Chapter 6

         

         Wednesday’s drama lesson is slightly better than the last because Dimitri takes over and runs a game of Houses for us. For the record, Mr Morton suggested we play Duck, Duck, Goose, and Dimitri almost threw a shoe at his head.

         Then we sit around a piece of butcher’s paper with a tub full of markers and try to come up with ideas for our Bertolt Brecht performance.

         None of us can focus on the task. All we can think about is that this afternoon is our first musical rehearsal since it happened and there is every possibility that they will cancel the show. Dorothy draws some flowers in the corner of the paper and Walter tries to throw the markers that don’t work into the bin across the room with varying success. Penny spends the lesson picking off her nail polish and flicking it onto the carpet.

         Mr Morton doesn’t move from the teacher’s desk all lesson. He is reading through what I can only assume are Ms Lovelace’s programs and assessment tasks. He doesn’t look like he is really grasping them.41
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         That afternoon, the entire cast, crew and orchestra are sitting in the school hall waiting for someone to tell us what is happening with the show. I’d just like to point out that the snobby orchestra kids have chosen to ostracise themselves from the rest of us by sitting on the other side of the room.

         Finally, we hear the front doors open and a procession of teachers files in: Mr Feather, Addie the school counsellor, Mrs Berrycloth, Ms Johnson and Mr Morton. They stand in front of us in a straight line. You can tell they’re not drama people. There is not a level in sight.

         ‘We understand this is a very difficult time for you all,’ Mr Feather starts, ‘and the counsellor is here if any of you need to talk about it.’

         I have a feeling he’s forgotten her name.

         ‘I’m sure you must all be anxious to know what’s going to happen with the show,’ he continues. I’m pretty sure I’ve stopped breathing. If the show gets cancelled, I don’t think I will be able to go on. ‘And the good news is, the play is going ahead as planned.’

         The room lets out a collective sigh of relief. The orchestra kids actually look happy. Nobody even corrects him for calling it a play instead of a musical. Several kids cheer and most of us clap.

         Ms Johnson, however, does not look pleased. I think this show getting cancelled would have made her year. 42She is supposed to have been supervising rehearsals with Ms Lovelace, but we haven’t seen her since the first week. I think she likes to bunk off early on a Wednesday afternoon so she can start drinking just that little bit sooner. But you didn’t hear that from me.

         ‘And,’ Mr Feather continues, ‘Mr Morton here will be taking over as director.’

         He pats Mr Morton on the back with just a little too much power, a gesture that very clearly says: You better not screw this up. 

         Mr Morton waves at us awkwardly.

         ‘Now, I’m sure you have a lot of work to do,’ Mr Feather finishes, ‘so, I’ll leave you to it.’

         He walks out with Ms Johnson in his wake. It looks like Addie wanted to say something too but didn’t get a chance. She gives us a sad smile as she walks away, floating out of the hall, silent as snow. Ms Johnson, on the other hand, couldn’t seem to get out of the hall fast enough.

         The grilling starts as soon as the front doors close and we have Mr Morton all to ourselves.

         ‘Sir, have you ever directed a musical before?’

         ‘No, but—’

         ‘Have you ever been in a musical before?’

         ‘Not exactly—’

         ‘Have you ever even seen a musical before?’

         ‘Well, yes, in primary school, they put on a show called Peter Pantomime and …’

         The whole room shudders. This isn’t good.43

         Mr Morton holds up a hand to silence us. ‘Look, I know I’m not your first choice, but I’m all you’ve got right now, so if you want this show to be a success, we’d better get started.’

         ‘Yes, sir,’ I say, trying to be supportive. Someone has to be. He smiles gratefully at me and I feel as though I have made an ally.

         ‘Now,’ he says, literally rubbing his hands together, ‘what’s the show called again?’

         It’s going to be a long day.

         ‘Shall we start from the beginning?’ Mr Morton says.

         Now I know what a drowning man looks like.

         ‘From the top!’ someone from the cast yells. ‘We take it from the top!’

         While the orchestra is tuning up, I decide to run the vocal warm-up since nobody else is going to. Then the two dance captains run a physical warm-up and get us to stretch.

         Mr Morton physically winces when he sees us doing the splits. This is the moment when Mrs Berrycloth decides to take over. Thank god. She claps her hands and asks us to get into our places on the stage for ‘Who Do You Love, I Hope?’. Dorothy is playing Winnie Tate in the musical. This is her one good song in the show, and she has to sing it with Walter, who is as flat as a tack.

         I’m pretty sure Walter’s only taking drama because I am, since he can’t act to save his life. Ms Lovelace gave him the role of Tommy Keeler, and even that is a struggle. It’s kind of like watching a pot plant try to act.44

         I’m sure Mrs Berrycloth chose this song to show off to Mr Morton how amazing it is. I’m just a little bit offended that she didn’t choose any of my eight solos. But as soon as Dorothy starts singing, I forget all about it. She has a voice as pure as a perfect pearl being dropped into a bowl of fresh cream. She sings as a star would, or a sapphire. And she’s never even had a singing lesson. Not one. I must have had hundreds.

         Everyone perks up after Dorothy sings her song, and even Walter doesn’t sound too tragic. Mr Morton has set himself up at one of the folding exam desks with a copy of the script in front of him. I realise that it’s Ms Lovelace’s copy. It’s covered in Post-it notes and highlighting. I can’t help feeling a little sick at the thought that he is using her script. It was her treasure. I saw her carrying it out to her car in the afternoons and back again in the mornings. She must have slept with that thing.

         We run the whole show from the top and it is a bit of a disaster. Mr Morton sits in silence the whole time just watching us. He doesn’t even write anything down. At the end he claps.

         ‘At least he knows how to do that,’ Penny says.

         The cast instinctively sits along the edge of the stage waiting for feedback. Mr Morton stands and walks towards us like he might a pack of ravenous wolves.

         ‘That was great,’ he says. We wait for elaboration but there is none forthcoming.45

         Mrs Berrycloth rolls her eyes and while she begins pointing out to the orchestra the total of seventy-eight flaws she noticed, Walter beckons the rest of us to the side.

         ‘I think we should look through Ms Lovelace’s desk,’ he says. ‘There might be clues in there.’

         ‘I’ll go,’ Dorothy says. ‘If anyone asks, I’ll say Mr Morton told me to get something from his desk for rehearsals.’

         A good plan, but I don’t suppose any of the other teachers in the school even know where the music staffroom is, so the chances she will be disturbed are slim. I don’t know if the cleaners even go in there.

         ‘Good idea,’ Walter says, ‘but somebody should go with you and keep a lookout.’

         ‘I’ll go,’ I say.

         ‘The rest of us can distract Mr Morton,’ Walter says.

         ‘How exactly do you plan to do that?’ I ask.

         ‘I’ll improvise,’ Walter says, winking.

         The day Walter improvises anything half decent I will eat my tap shoes, but Dorothy and I sneak out the back door of the hall and run across the car park towards the stairs anyway.

         The music staffroom is as far away from the hall as it is possible to be.

         We take the stairs two at a time. The school is almost deserted now, and the metal benches cast long shadows across the concrete. We pass one of the cleaners, with their vacuum-cleaner backpack, and there are a few kids still sitting in the library.46

         The staffroom door is unlocked and we do a quick check of the hallway before sneaking in and locking the door behind us. I turn to survey the room.

         ‘Good god,’ I say.

         Ms Lovelace’s desk looks totally different from the last time I saw it. She used to have fairy lights around her pinboard and dried flowers in a stone vase on her desk. Now it’s a shambles. There is crap everywhere. Pieces of paper, logbooks, used forks, coffee mugs and crumpled plastic sleeves.

         It hurts more than it should to see her desk like this.

         The worst part is that Ms Lovelace’s things are still there, buried. The photos of her cats are still on the pinboard, but they are hidden behind report-writing schedules and playground-duty rosters. Her flowers have been knocked over and lie broken and bent on the carpet next to the desk.

         ‘I’ll do the drawers,’ Dorothy says. ‘You check the shelf.’

         Above the desk is a shelf full of plays, including the complete works of William Shakespeare.

         Something on the pinboard catches my eye and I move aside a parent–teacher-night schedule. Beneath it is a polaroid photograph, taken in the photo booth at Harmony Day on the last day of term one. In the photo are Ms Lovelace and Mr Morton. They are sitting together in the booth, beaming at the camera in their bright orange shirts. I remember getting a similar photo with the drama gang. I pull the photo off the pinboard and study it. Mr Morton has his arm around Ms Lovelace’s shoulders and she is squished into his side.47

         ‘This was a lot easier last time,’ Dorothy says as she tosses a banana peel in the bin but I’m not really listening to her. There’s a stack of papers on the desk with a green pen sitting on top of them. I brush my fingers over the pile and lightly sift through the pages.

         ‘Hal, check this out!’ Dorothy says and it makes me jump. I grab the top paper, fold it in half and stuff it into the back of my leggings. I suddenly hear a noise outside.

         My first thought is that it’s Mr Morton, but it’s probably just a cleaner. Even so, I’d rather not get busted rifling through a teacher’s desk.

         ‘Dorothy,’ I hiss. ‘There’s someone at the door.’

         She looks up at me, wide-eyed, and drops the piece of paper in her hand back into the drawer. As I slip the polaroid back beneath the schedule, I wonder if it was Ms Lovelace or Mr Morton who put it up.

         We quickly leave via the door to the adjoining music room as we hear someone turn their key in the lock.

         Just as we disappear through the door, I catch a glimpse of blue poncho.

         ‘Did you see who it was?’ Dorothy whispers.

         ‘I think it was Ms Johnson,’ I say.

         ‘What’s she doing here at this time in the afternoon?’

         I risk peeking through the gap in the door.

         ‘What’s she doing?’ Dorothy asks, leaning over to peer through the gap too.

         ‘Same as us,’ I say. ‘She’s looking through Ms Lovelace’s stuff. Why would she be doing that?’48

         Dorothy shrugs.

         We watch as the creative and performing arts head teacher empties the entire contents of Ms Lovelace’s desk drawer onto the floor and then finally seems to find what she is looking for. She holds up a piece of paper and reads it closely, before shoving it into her handbag and then tossing everything back into the drawer. It won’t close properly now but she doesn’t seem to care and leaves the way she came.

         ‘What do you suppose that was?’ I ask.

         Dorothy frowns. ‘I think I know.’

         
            [image: ]

         

         When we return to the hall, the orchestra kids are in a flurry and Mr Morton and Mrs Berrycloth are frantically mopping up a huge puddle of water on the floor.

         ‘What happened?’ I ask.

         ‘Well, when Walter’s plan inevitably failed,’ Penny starts and Walter glowers at her, ‘Dimitri stepped in and turned over the urn.’

         There is an urn of boiling water on a table at the back of the hall. They use it for making coffee and tea on parent–teacher nights, but we commandeered it for the show. We singers need our lemon, ginger and honey tea for our tired throats.

         ‘Yeah, Walt was going on about syntax and phrasing – things he knows very little about – but Mr Morton was, 49obviously, not interested,’ Penny says. ‘So Dimitri knocked over the urn.’

         Mrs Berrycloth announces that rehearsals are finished for the day and we head out to the car park where we sit together on the sandstone wall. We watch Mrs Berrycloth lock up the hall and drive away.

         Penny smokes half a cigarette she saved from earlier. Dimitri and I are still stretching. ‘You know those things are terrible for your voice,’ Dimitri says, trying to move upwind of the smoke coils.

         ‘I don’t think a career as a singer is really for me,’ Penny says.

         ‘We couldn’t find many clues,’ Dorothy says, once we know we’re alone. ‘Ms Lovelace’s desk is such a mess – there are piles of paper everywhere …’

         ‘But we did find a photo of Ms Lovelace and Mr Morton,’ I say. ‘I think they were friends. We could ask him if he knows anything.’

         ‘And there was something else,’ Dorothy says.

         We tell them about the appearance of Ms Johnson.

         ‘And I think I know what she stole,’ Dorothy says. ‘When I was looking through the drawer, I found something that Ms Lovelace had written. It was an official complaint about Ms Johnson. There was a list of grievances, including things like that time Ms Johnson told Ms Lovelace to shut up in front of us at rehearsals, remember? And how she fosters a toxic work environment. Stuff like that.’50

         ‘Seems like a motive,’ Walter says. ‘Maybe she killed Ms Lovelace because she thought this complaint might get her fired. I’ll talk to my dad about it.’
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            Chapter 7

         

         It’s Monday lunchtime and we are sitting together in the shade. Even Penny is with us for once. She normally sits with the derros behind the demountables.

         ‘I spoke to Dad about the complaint against Ms Johnson,’ Walter says. ‘But she has an alibi. Apparently, she was in Sydney that whole weekend at some art exhibition.’

         ‘That’s it then,’ Penny says. ‘A dead end.’

         ‘Hey, guys,’ Dorothy says when the bell rings for fifth period. She hasn’t eaten her lunch. A sad peanut butter sandwich sits untouched in her lap. She scrunches it up and tosses it into the bin. ‘Wanna get out of here?’

         I don’t think I’ve ever heard a better idea in my entire life.

         The others look at me as if I will be the one to object. I don’t know where I got this ‘good girl’ image from. Just because I get good marks and the teachers like me and I’m the lead in the school musical.

         Wow. Maybe I am a good girl.

         ‘Absolutely,’ I say, and Penny looks shocked.

         We sneak out of school as everyone is moving to their next class, even though I’m supposed to be in the music room to 52rehearse ‘Moonshine Lullaby’ with Mrs Berrycloth. Now who’s the good girl?

         There is a line of trees along the oval and an old stump where you can get a leg-up and climb over the fence. Penny seems to know exactly what she’s doing. I probably don’t have to tell you that I am not in the habit of wagging classes.

         We catch the public bus to the creek from the stop on the corner. We sit across the back seat together. We don’t sing this time. Out the window, I watch the trees, leaves bright green over black trunks from the last back-burning as I cover myself in suncream.

         We get off the bus at the closest stop, but it’s still a fair walk to the creek. Sweat pools on my back underneath my school bag. There are a few cars parked along the road, including one that looks very familiar. Tiny fairy-wrens flit around in the undergrowth. All we can see is that flash of blue. When we get to the water, I can hear that there are other kids here too. We mustn’t be the only ones who wagged fifth period today.

         The bush crackles under our feet like a fireplace as we approach the water, snatches of conversation interspersed with splashes filtering towards us through the trees.

         ‘It’s a shame. She was pretty hot.’

         ‘At least she’ll stop putting up those fucking anti-discrimination-zone posters. If I see one more rainbow, I’ll puke.’

         ‘It’s gnarly if you ask me.’53

         We stand along the rock and peer over the edge. Eucalyptus trees surround us on all sides and it feels slightly cooler here in their shade. The boys in the water are some of the rugby lads from our year, including Adam Tolentino.

         ‘Maybe we should go,’ Walter whispers.

         ‘What, are you chicken?’ I say.

         ‘Maybe they did it,’ Walter says.

         ‘Did what?’ I say.

         ‘Maybe they killed Ms Lovelace. Maybe they didn’t like the fact that she had pride flags up or that she called people out on using gay as an insult.’

         ‘I don’t think those idiots would have the brain capacity to plan a murder and get away with it,’ Dimitri says, sneaking another look over the edge of the rock.

         ‘Adam Tolentino would,’ Walter says. ‘Maybe he was the lookout or something. Remember, Hallie saw his car in the car park.’

         ‘You think they planned the whole thing and came into the school to stab her in broad daylight when they knew we were running around?’ I say.

         ‘Maybe they didn’t know we were there,’ Walter says. ‘Maybe they were vandalising the school. Maybe they were going to spray-paint something on the drama room door and she caught them in the act.’

         ‘That’s a lot of maybes,’ I say.

         ‘I can believe that,’ Dimitri says. ‘Remember in Year Nine when they beat me up and tied me to the goal post, covered in tomato sauce?’ He looks pained at the memory.54

         ‘And the time they put flour on the fans in Ms Johnson’s art room because she confiscated their football during assembly,’ Dorothy adds.

         ‘Well, that one was pretty funny,’ Penny says.

         ‘I’m just saying,’ Walter continues, ‘they seem like the kind of people who like to punish someone when they’ve done something they don’t like.’

         A voice floats up from below. ‘Too bad for you, Adam, you always fancied her.’

         ‘Shut up.’ This is the first time we’ve heard Adam Tolentino’s voice.

         ‘They haven’t buried her yet; you could still be in with a chance.’

         ‘They are disgusting,’ Dorothy says.

         Last time we ran into these dickheads outside of school, we were in town, and one of them dumped a milkshake on Walter’s head. He stank like sour milk for days afterwards. They tend to pick on Walter the most because he’s short and hasn’t quite stretched out yet. Also, because Dimitri is now taller than any of them.

         Dimitri is eyeing the pile of school clothes and shoes by our feet. ‘Are you guys thinking what I am?’ he says.

         Dorothy grins wickedly.

         ‘Hey!’ one of the boys yells. ‘Who’s up there?’

         From the water, it’s difficult to see who is up on the rock ledge unless they’re leaning over the edge.

         ‘Quick,’ Penny says, grabbing the nearest bundle. I do the same and the others follow suit.55

         ‘Now what?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘What are you doing? Leave our shit alone,’ one of the boys yells.

         ‘Drop it,’ another says.

         ‘If you say so,’ Penny says and she flings her bundle over the edge of the rock.

         Walter stares at her in disbelief. He is the only one of us who didn’t pick up any clothes.

         Dorothy, Dimitri and I throw ours over the edge as well. They sail down through the air and into the water.

         ‘You guys are so dead,’ a voice yells, echoing off the surrounding rock faces, and I see that half the boys are frantically swimming to the water’s edge while the others are trying to gather their things before they sink to the bottom.

         ‘And now what, Einstein?’ Walter asks. ‘For all we know, you just pissed off a group of killers.’

         The boys are making their way up the path to the rock where we are still standing. They are in their boxer shorts. It’s infuriating that they’re all so attractive.

         ‘Run for it,’ Dimitri says and we do. It doesn’t occur to me until now that we caught the bus here and there is literally nowhere for us to go.

         We run along the rocky bush path back towards the road. There’s no way a group of theatre geeks like us can outrun an entire rugby team.

         ‘Maybe we should hide,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘We can take ’em,’ Penny says, punching her palm.56

         ‘Into the bush,’ Dimitri says, grabbing her by the shoulder, and we pour off the road and into the trees like ants. We each crouch behind a tree or a bush and wait.

         I can hear the footsteps of the rugby lads as they reach the road.

         ‘Where’d they go?’ one of them says.

         ‘Must have driven off,’ says another.

         ‘I didn’t hear their car.’

         ‘Maybe they scampered into the woods like a bunch of girls.’

         I see out of the corner of my eye that Dimitri is restraining Penny.

         The boys spread out across the road and peer into the tree line trying to spot us. I stay deathly still. I don’t think they are really the killers. They’d never have been able to keep their mouths shut about it for this long. One of them would have blabbed in the change rooms and that would have been it.

         I watch as Adam Tolentino approaches the bush I am hiding behind. He pauses and his gaze lingers briefly on the bush. From this close, I can see the flash of his eyes, like a blue raspberry slushie. The game is up. There’s no way he can’t see me; my hair alone is enough of a giveaway. Adam spent a good amount of time in primary school teasing me for my sheer volume of hair. His go-to nickname for me was Pudding Head

         ‘They’re not here,’ he says suddenly, and it makes me jump. ‘Come on, they’ll dry quick in the sun.’57

         ‘This isn’t over!’ one of the boys yells to nobody in particular.

         They head back down the track to the creek, but none of us stir for at least five minutes after their footsteps recede.

         ‘Jesus, Hallie, I thought we were caught for sure. He was right there, I was positive he would see you,’ Dimitri says, finally emerging from his hiding spot.

         ‘That was one of the stupidest things we have ever done,’ Walter says.

         ‘I dunno,’ I say. ‘Remember when we did The Mikado for—’

         ‘We swore we’d never speak of that again,’ Dimitri cuts me off.

         Back on the bus and we’re even hotter than we were before. We sit in silence, and my thoughts inevitably turn to the musical and the previous week’s terrible rehearsal.

         ‘What the hell are we going to do about Annie Get Your Gun?’ I say.

         Everyone sighs.

         ‘Mr Morton is an absolute mudak,’ Dimitri says. ‘He doesn’t know the first thing about directing a show.’

         ‘Morton, more like Moron, am I right?’ Walter says. I’m the only one who laughs and it’s mostly out of pity.

         ‘Maybe one of us should take over,’ I say, secretly hoping they will elect me. ‘We could volunteer to be the assistant director, and then slowly take charge.’58

         ‘There’s no slowly about it, Hal. Morton just sits there staring at the script; it won’t be hard to organise a mutiny,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Maybe Dorothy should be the assistant director,’ Penny says. ‘She only has a small part in the show.’

         Traitor. 

         ‘But I’ve never directed anything before,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Neither has Mr Morton,’ Dimitri says.

         Dorothy smiles. ‘That’s true. Okay, well, I’ll give it a go.’

         ‘Good, that’s decided. We’ll let the rest of the cast know we’re overthrowing Mr Morton at the next rehearsal. Let’s get him to paint sets or something,’ Dimitri says.

         
            [image: ]

         

         When Walter and I walk home together from the bus stop, it smells like rain.

         ‘Want to come over for dinner?’ he asks.

         Walter’s mother is currently on a new health kick where she cooks everything in coconut oil. She calls it the ‘Polynesian Diet’. It also involves eating nothing but sweet potatoes every second Wednesday. Her favourite saying when she cooks something new and weird is that ‘it’s an acquired taste’. But this just means that if you eat enough of it your tastebuds will all eventually commit suicide and therefore you can’t taste it anymore.

         ‘Okay.’59

         When we get inside, Mrs Griffiths is singing along to her Elton John Spotify playlist and chopping up some sort of leafy vegetables.

         Walter’s brother Ray is sitting on the living room floor watching Adventure Time and eating the Jaffas that Walter bought him for his birthday. His fingers are stained red.

         Walter plops down next to him and grabs a handful from the bag. We used to have competitions to see who could fit the most Jaffas in their mouth. Ray holds the record at forty-seven.

         Dinner at the Griffiths is always a lot more animated than at my place. Having two boys at the table certainly makes it a more colourful experience, and the food always keeps me guessing. At home, it’s usually just me on the couch with my plate on my lap watching TV. If Dad does happen to be there, he’ll ask if I’ve looked into any uni degrees yet.

         Ray sets the table and we eat the kale casserole together. Mrs Griffiths also likes to make alliterative food. Last week we had spinach stroganoff and before that it was radish ratatouille.

         After dinner, Mr Griffiths calls us into his office, a tiny third bedroom with a desk and lots of filing cabinets. He sits at the desk and we have nowhere to sit so we stand there awkwardly.

         ‘Shut the door, Walt,’ he says.

         I am starting to sweat. What is he going to ask us? Or is he going to tell us something? Has there been another victim? Have they caught the killer?60

         ‘Do either of you want to explain to me why your fingerprints were found all over Ms Lovelace’s house?’

         I am relieved for a moment before the dread sinks in again.

         ‘Mr Griffiths, I—’ I start.

         ‘It was my fault, Dad,’ Walter says. ‘We just went to check on her cats.’

         ‘Do you have any idea how stupid that was? Not only have you contaminated any evidence that forensics have found there, but do you know how this looks? You two were at the scene of the crime and now you’ve been snooping around the victim’s house.’

         I bow my head in shame.

         ‘Are we suspects?’ Walter asks.

         Mr Griffiths leans back in his chair and folds his arms. ‘Not currently,’ he says finally. ‘But if you do anything else stupid, I’m going to have to bring you back in for questioning.’

         He dismisses us and I feel like I’ve just come out of the principal’s office. We head down the hall to Walter and Ray’s room. The bookshelf above their desk is full of Sherlock Holmes and Agatha Christie novels. My room is mostly decorated with musical posters. Surprise! Bet you didn’t see that one coming. On my bookshelf are the programs I’ve got from every show I’ve ever been to.

         I sit on the rug in the middle of the floor. It’s one of those racetrack ones. Walter sits beside me.

         ‘Thank you,’ I say. ‘You didn’t have to do that.’61

         ‘It’s all good.’

         ‘He’s harder on you than me. He’d forgive me anything.’

         Walter nods. Then he gives me a long look. ‘How are you?’ he asks.

         ‘I don’t know,’ I say after a moment. And I really don’t. The violence of it still hasn’t really hit me. The fact that there is possibly someone we know who had the capacity to do such a thing, it’s just unthinkable.

         ‘You miss her?’

         ‘Yeah,’ I say and the word comes out sounding heavy.

         ‘You still have me,’ he says, putting his arm around my shoulders.

         ‘Yeah, I’ll always have you,’ I say, leaning into him.

         Ray pokes his head out from his bunk bed and pretends to vomit. ‘Can you guys get a room?’

         ‘We’re in a room,’ Walter says, chucking a pillow at him.

         Ray dodges it expertly. ‘Well, keep the kissing to a minimum,’ he says. ‘Remember, there’s a child in the room.’

         I laugh but I’m the only one who does. Walter just removes his arm from my shoulders.

         ‘I better get going anyway,’ I say, standing.

         Walter walks me to the front door.

         ‘Sorry about Ray,’ he says. ‘He can be such an idiot.’

         ‘All good,’ I say. ‘See you tomorrow.’

         I feel like he wants to say something else but can’t find the words.

         I head next door to my house and notice that Walter waits on his verandah until I’m safely inside. What a guy.
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            Chapter 8

         

         I am set the task of finding a reason to meet up with Adam Tolentino to ask him if he is a murderer. Should be easy, right? Except that drama nerds like me don’t tend to approach sporty guys like him.

         Adam’s family are from the Philippines and they run the only take-away shop in town. Adam has a full-on beard. I don’t know any other boys our age with the ability to grow a beard. It doesn’t protrude from his face or anything; it’s just a neat coating of hair on his jaw. Walter was very excited when he got his first facial hair. That was a year ago and he’s still waiting for the second one. And if Dimitri does have any facial hair, he shaves it off before it has a chance to come through.

         Adam Tolentino and I don’t have a whole lot in common. Like I said, I think he plays rugby, or maybe it’s football. Or are they the same thing? How would I know? The gang of boys he hangs around with think wolf-whistling is the best way to gain a woman’s attention.

         Adam and I only share one class, which is music. I could ask if he wants to rehearse a piece together for the 63upcoming assessment, but Dimitri might kill me if I’m in a group with anyone other than him and Penny. The only other class I know Adam takes is PDHPE, which runs when I have dance by correspondence. Yes, that’s right, I take dance by correspondence. There’s no dance program at our school, but that is a rant for another day.

         Dimitri is doing it too. We’ve been in the same ballet class since his family moved here when we were in Year Eight. Before that, he studied ballet at The Bolshoi Ballet Academy in Russia and therefore his fouettés are far superior to mine. His record is currently thirty-six and mine is only twenty-two.

         The senior courtyard is the perfect place to do our pliés. Not. Those rugby lads like to cover the railings with mustard or mayonnaise so that we get it all over our hands. Once they legit let off a stink bomb in here. They’re not super inventive.

         Ms Lovelace used to let us rehearse our dance numbers in the drama room before school, but Mr Morton was not as keen on getting in an hour early when I asked him about it yesterday. A note about Mr Morton: he has to park his Jeep on the grassy verge outside the school gates because by the time he arrives at school there are no spaces left in the teachers’ car park.

         Since we have a free period five, Dimitri has already left. He has a driving lesson, but I stick around and run through my choreo four times. Then I pack up my jazz shoes early and sneak out of the senior courtyard. There is 64one deputy who occasionally patrols the school to ensure that the Year Twelves are where they’re supposed to be in their free periods, but I don’t see any sign of her. I head towards the boys’ change rooms, and then hang around outside, constantly checking over my shoulder for a glimpse of the deputy’s lacquered hair and chained glasses. It is only slightly creepy.

         Finally, the bell rings and Adam Tolentino comes out of the change room surrounded by a cloud of testosterone. The whole lot of them walk straight past me as if I’m invisible.

         ‘Adam?’ I squeak. Yes, it is a squeak. In fact, it is so much of a squeak that he doesn’t hear me. ‘Adam,’ I try again. This time I use my diaphragm.

         He turns around. You know, if it weren’t for the Tolentino boys and Dimitri, I wouldn’t think it was possible for someone to be this attractive in real life.

         ‘Pudding Head?’

         Okay, so sometimes he still calls me that. His friends turn around too. Six sun-tanned faces stare at me.

         ‘Could I maybe talk to you for a—’

         ‘Hey, aren’t you that girl who sang the national anthem at assembly that time?’ one of his friends says. I don’t know, nor do I have any desire to know, any of their names.

         Actually, I’ve sung the national anthem at approximately thirty-seven school assemblies, but I don’t bother to point that out.

         ‘What’s wrong?’ another says. ‘Do you need Adam to polish your glasses?’65

         The boys erupt with laughter. I don’t even wear glasses. But whatever.

         ‘Hey, guys, I’ll catch up with you, okay?’ Adam says, giving the boy who made the glasses comment a good shove towards the bus bay. I notice he is the only one who didn’t laugh.

         Adam’s friends look back at him with what can only be described as befuddlement before they walk down the hill. They are probably wondering why on earth he is speaking to a befreckled, red-headed drama nerd like me.

         ‘Yes,’ I say. ‘Look …’ oh boy, this is it, ‘I was wondering, if you’re not doing anything, would you maybe like to hang out sometime?’

         I suddenly realise that it sounds like I’m asking him on a date. Why did this not occur to me sooner? He blinks at me in shock.

         ‘As friends,’ I add.

         ‘Friends?’ he asks.

         ‘I mean, colleagues. Music colleagues.’

         ‘Well, I have to work this afternoon, colleague.’

         ‘Oh, right. Where do you work?’

         ‘Total Take-Away.’

         I already knew that. I wonder if he knows that I already knew that.

         ‘Maybe I’ll see you there,’ I say.

         He laughs. I laugh too, but it is slightly delayed. Come on, Hallie, you got an A in the improv unit, you can do this.66

         I follow Adam Tolentino down the hill to the bus bay and we board the bus together. He and I catch the same bus home. We actually live quite close to one another – his stop is only one before mine – and he, like me, has not saved up enough coin to buy himself a car yet. Walter pats the seat beside him as I walk down the aisle and I sit next to him. Adam joins the testosterone cloud up the back of the bus. I don’t eavesdrop on their conversation … much.

         ‘Want to rehearse this afternoon?’ Walter asks.

         ‘I can’t,’ I say. ‘I’m on a reconnaissance mission.’ I subtly nod in the direction of Adam and his friends.

         Walter winks at me conspiratorially, and taps his nose for good measure. He gets off the bus without me and I wave to him through the window. He looks like a lost child standing there by himself.

         I risk a glance over my shoulder at the boys up the back. Most of them have left by now and Adam is in a hushed conversation with a tall blond boy. I wonder if they’re talking about me. The unpleasant thought suddenly occurs to me that perhaps this is all a big joke. Is the whole group going to jump me and dunk my head in a toilet or something as payback for the incident at the creek? Have they worked out it was us? Adam looks my way and gives me a coy smile that I’m not sure how to interpret. When the bus reaches the centre of town Adam stands up and I follow him out the door.

         The loosely named ‘town’ consists of one strip of shops along a main road that is made up of more potholes than 67actual asphalt. Three of the shops are closed, boarded up and covered in graffiti; there’s a grocery store; then there’s the church hall, a bakery with world-famous finger buns (according to the window display), a pub, a newsagents-slash-post-office-slash-chemist, and the Tolentino family’s take-away shop, which does charcoal chicken, fish and chips, kebabs and burgers, covering all available greasy bases.

         Adam heads through the plastic-flap curtains of Total Take-Away and I follow a few steps behind, feeling like a stalker. I haven’t set foot in here since I was a kid and I didn’t know where meat came from. That was a nasty surprise, I can tell you. I look around to make sure I’m not about to get jumped by the rugby lads, but the only other people in the store are frazzled fathers picking up bags of chips for the family, or kids buying bottles of Coke and lolly bags.

         The man behind the counter is a slightly taller and slightly wider version of Adam. He has the same dark scraggly hair, but his is streaked with grey and tied back in a messy bun under a hair net. He has on an old white apron with god-knows-what stains all over it.

         ‘Hey, Dad,’ Adam says, dumping his duffle bag behind the counter and helping himself to a lollypop from the glass jar. He doesn’t offer me one. It’s fine. They have gelatine in them anyway.

         His father eyes me with interest. I wonder if he thinks I’m Adam’s girlfriend. That will be the day.68

         ‘How was school?’

         ‘Same old.’

         ‘Fancy a burger, love?’ his father asks me.

         I have been scouring the laminated menu on the counter trying to find a semblance of something vegetarian.

         ‘The kebabs are something else,’ Adam says.

         ‘Maybe just some chips.’

         Adam heads behind the counter and puts an apron on while I take a seat.

         I feel ridiculous sitting by myself on a plastic chair.

         Adam brings me a plate of chips but he doesn’t sit with me. The phone rings constantly and the counter bell doesn’t stop pinging. They must do pretty good business as the only restaurant in town.

         A boy comes in on a busted-up old scooter. He looks familiar but I can’t quite place him. He has two missing teeth.

         Adam hands him a burger and he eats it leaning against the countertop. ‘Felix,’ Adam’s dad says from the kitchen, ‘can you refill the napkin holders?’

         Felix. That must be Adam’s little brother.

         I can’t seem to find the right moment to bring up the topic of Ms Lovelace’s death. Every time I’m about to, a customer walks in or Adam’s father needs help opening another huge bag of frozen chips.

         Finally, the ebb of customers seems to thin and Adam sits down at the table with me. He has a tea towel over his shoulder. I almost ask him, but I don’t know how to word 69it without it sounding like I’m accusing him of murder. Hey, Adam, any chance you stabbed my drama teacher in cold blood? 

         ‘How did you do in the music assessment?’ he asks.

         ‘Oh, uh, I got 100 per cent,’ I say. There’s no way to say that without sounding full of myself. I performed ‘My House’ from Matilda the Musical. Dimitri and Penny did the back-up parts for me.

         ‘Shit. That’s great,’ he says.

         ‘You?’

         ‘Oh yeah, I did okay. Didn’t really rehearse enough. I don’t have a guitar at home so, you know, anyway.’

         A note about Adam Tolentino: he’s actually a decent singer. He’s just very untrained.

         ‘I guess I’d better head home,’ I say eventually. I have been staring at the same chip for seven years. Adam’s father gives him the eye.

         ‘I can walk with you,’ Adam says.

         ‘You don’t have to do that.’

         ‘Haven’t you heard?’ his father says. ‘There’s a killer on the loose.’

         Yeah, I think, and there’s every chance it’s your son. 

         ‘Okay,’ I say, and Adam hangs his apron on the counter and we walk out the door.

         This is the moment – an easy segue into asking him about that day – but I don’t. We exit the shop without saying anything. I get the feeling that Adam is on the brink of asking me a question.70

         The streets are empty as we walk. Everyone is inside in front of their fans, drinking warm beer and trying not to think about the heat. The silence between us is beyond awkward.

         ‘So, it was you,’ he says. ‘At the creek.’

         Oh god, is this when they jump me? Are they waiting in the bushes to pounce? Why did I take ballet instead of self-defence?

         ‘What makes you think that?’ I say, trying to be coy, but I am ready to bolt.

         ‘Well, you’re pretty distinctive.’

         ‘What’s that supposed to mean?’

         ‘I just mean, your hair and everything … it’s not like you’re easy to miss.’

         ‘Fuck you, Adam Tolentino.’

         ‘Oh, come on – don’t be so sensitive.’

         We have reached my house and I can see Walter through the kitchen window, setting the table for dinner. Dad is sitting at the table, looking at his phone. I storm away from Adam towards the front door.

         ‘I’ll see you in class,’ he says casually. I don’t look back. I slam the door and fight the urge to peek out the window and watch him walk away.

         Walt makes eyes at me across the table all through dinner. Dad has cooked us jacket potatoes with spring onions and grated cheddar cheese. Mum is working the night shift all week.71

         As we eat, Dad has a funny secretive twinkle in his eyes. It reminds me of when I was a kid, when my parents used to laugh together and we’d have picnics in the backyard under the paperbark tree. It’s been a long time since we did anything as a family. I can’t even remember the last time we got the picnic blanket out.

         ‘What’s up with you?’ I ask.

         ‘Well, I’ve had a word with your dad, Walter, and we decided, what with everything that’s been going on, to give you guys a little present.’

         Walter looks at me excitedly. I wonder what he’s hoping it will be.

         Dad stands up and opens the bottom drawer in the kitchen, then takes out two small boxes.

         ‘A little better than the walkie-talkies you used to have,’ he says, handing one to each of us.

         They are phones. Nokia phones that still have a keypad, but phones nonetheless.

         ‘Wow, thanks, Mr Warner!’ Walter says, tearing his box open.

         ‘Don’t thank me, son. It was your dad who managed to wangle them from his work. And we’ve even got you on a plan where you can call and text each other for free.’

         ‘Thank you, Dad,’ I say, giving him an awkward hug. I know it can’t have been easy for him to accept charity from the Griffiths.

         Walter and I head off to the tree house as soon as the dishes are cleaned and put away. Dad sets himself up on 72the couch with the latest Stephen King novel and a bowl of pistachios.

         Walter walks with purpose. Why can’t he ever walk like that when he’s on stage? He’s the king of aimless wandering. Ms Lovelace used to joke about nailing his feet to the floor.

         We pull the ladder up behind us. I take the phone out of its box and start setting up my new SIM card.

         ‘So,’ Walter says, ‘what did you find out?’

         ‘Huh? Oh, nothing,’ I say, already choosing my ringtone.

         ‘He didn’t see anything?’ Walter asks.

         I’ll have to find out Dimitri and Penny’s numbers so I can text them too.

         ‘No,’ I say. ‘I didn’t get a chance to ask him.’

         Walter blinks. ‘You can’t be serious,’ he says, taking the phone from my hands and putting it on the floor behind him as if he is a teacher confiscating it from me in class. ‘You were with him for hours. I was thinking of calling reinforcements to pull you out of there. I thought maybe he’d killed you too to cover his tracks. What were you two even doing all that time?’ He laughs.

         ‘We didn’t have a minute to ourselves. His dad was around the whole time and then his little brother showed up. I just couldn’t find the right moment.’

         I don’t mention that Adam walked me home and I had ample opportunity to ask him then.

         ‘Maybe I should give it a go,’ Walter says. ‘I could try to chat to him on the bus tomorrow.’73

         ‘No, it’s okay,’ I say, a little too quickly. The thought of Walter trying to sit with those lads at the back of the bus gives me anxiety. ‘I’ll try again.’ I reach around behind him and pick the phone up. ‘What’s your number?’

         He takes his phone out of his pocket. ‘How the hell should I know?’

         I punch him playfully on the arm but with a little more force than is necessary and lie down on my back. I can smell the wattle tree underneath us, the sweet honey scent filling the tree house. Walter lies beside me and we run our lines for the second act of the show. We often use the tree house as our rehearsal space. Walter’s younger brother Ray is in Year Six and he is not big into musical theatre. He and his mate like to chuck waterbombs at us when we’re rehearsing so we’ve taken to pulling the rope ladder up after ourselves on their side of the fence.

         I do everyone else’s parts; Walter barely manages his own. I have to prompt him a couple of times. You’d think that after all the shows we’ve done together he’d be able to remember a couple of measly lines. He rests his head on my shoulder and I inhale the clean soapy smell of his hair.

         It’s long past dark when we finally say goodnight and climb down our respective sides of the tree house. The metallic, sort of crispy, cool smell of impending rain permeates the garden.

         I pull my windows closed and fall asleep thinking about burgers, chips and freckles as raindrops pummel our tin roof.
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            Chapter 9

         

         ‘I have to tell you guys something,’ Dorothy says.

         The five of us are sitting in the girls’ dressing room after rehearsals. Dorothy is staring at herself in the grimy mirrors.

         The dressing rooms in our school hall are disgusting. Paint is peeling off the ceilings and falls down in clumps. Every single time, I think it’s a spider landing on my head. There’s no ventilation, and I’m sorry to say this about my fellow female leads, but it absolutely stinks in here.

         At rehearsals today, we told Mr Morton that Dorothy had volunteered to help him out as assistant director. He looked so relieved I thought he might burst into tears. Dorothy wasted no time organising the cast and getting things back on track. It was the best rehearsal we’ve had since, well, since Ms Lovelace was here. Mr Morton sat at his desk happily sipping his coffee and tapping his feet. Out of time, I might add.

         ‘What is it, Dorothy?’ Penny asks. She is reapplying her smoky goth eyes after wiping off the Buffalo Bill make-up.75

         ‘It’s about the scavenger hunt,’ Dorothy says.

         The air in the room goes still. I wonder if anyone else is expecting her to confess to the murder like I am. It’s always the quiet ones, right? Because you never know when they’re going to snap. And after everything she’s been through, she must be pretty close.

         ‘I cheated,’ she says.

         ‘What?’ Dimitri says, sounding genuinely shocked. What a sweet kid. I, however, am not surprised in the very least. Of course Dorothy cheated. I’d be shocked if she didn’t cheat. Last year in our history exam, Dorothy pre-wrote her essay and snuck it into the room inside her jacket. She swapped it with the blank pages on her desk when the teacher wasn’t looking. She still only got a C, so nobody bothered to turn her in.

         ‘That’s okay, Dorothy,’ Penny says, patting her on the arm. ‘It’s not like it matters anymore.’

         ‘It’s not that,’ she says, pulling her knees to her chest and hugging them. ‘I snuck into the music staffroom at the end of the day on the Friday before the scavenger hunt and I looked through Ms Lovelace’s desk to try to find the answers. But I found something else instead.’

         ‘What was it?’ I say.

         ‘I found a letter addressed to her. I know I shouldn’t have read it, but I thought maybe it was a love letter from one of the other teachers or something. But it wasn’t anything like that. It was really awful. They called her a stupid slut, I’m watching you, death threats and all that.’76

         ‘Oh my god,’ Penny says.

         ‘Who was it from?’ Walter asks.

         ‘I guessed it was from an ex-boyfriend. It was just signed “G”.’

         ‘Maybe he did it,’ Penny says. ‘Maybe that’s who she was hiding from here.’

         ‘Could be the guy who tried to get into her house when we were there,’ Walter says to me.

         ‘Why didn’t you say anything earlier?’ I ask Dorothy.

         ‘I didn’t want you guys to know that I cheated.’

         ‘Oh, for god’s sake, Dorothy, we all knew that you cheated,’ I say and Penny pinches my leg.

         ‘What did you do with the letter?’ Penny says.

         ‘I put it back in the drawer. But the words are branded into my brain. I can’t unsee them.’

         ‘Shouldn’t we show it to the police or something?’ Penny says.

         ‘The police might have already found it. But we could go and search the desk again. Maybe it’s still there,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Hallie and I searched the whole desk,’ Dorothy says. ‘It was gone.’

         ‘Any ideas on who the “G” might be?’ Penny says.

         ‘Mr Feather, the principal, isn’t his name Garry?’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Mr Morton might know,’ I say. ‘If he and Ms Lovelace were friends, she might have told him.’

         ‘Great, let’s ask him tomorrow,’ Walter says.77

         We jump on the bus after Penny gets picked up.

         There’s one more “G” I can think of, and I don’t want to. Griffiths. Sergeant Griffiths. And, for that matter, Walter Griffiths.

         
            [image: ]

         

         Dimitri and I have ballet this evening. I’ll be honest – I don’t feel much like doing a hundred sit-ups tonight.

         I’m distracted because I keep thinking about our music lesson today when we had to make posters for the cabaret night next term. Adam somehow ended up at my table. He nudged me in the side.

         ‘Borrow your glue stick, Pudding Head?’ he asked.

         I ignored him. He nudged me again.

         ‘I have a name, you know.’

         ‘Come on, Warner, the glue stick.’

         I handed it over and his fingers brushed mine. He not only failed to thank me but also forgot to return it and left it lying on his desk at the end of the period. Typical.

         ‘Eyes up, Hallie,’ Berlioz snaps at me. Berlioz owns the dance school in town. He used to be in the Australian cast of Cats. He is my hero.

         I try to focus on my muscles, flexing, stretching, extending. I let my mind go blank so that all I can think about is where my legs and arms should be.

         Berlioz drills us in jetés for the whole second half of the lesson until my legs feel like they’ve been grated.78

         When class finishes, Dimitri and I all but collapse on the floor. One of my legs is on his hip and one of his arms is flopped across my face.

         ‘I’ll pay you fifty dollars to carry me to the bus stop,’ he says.

         Berlioz kicks us out once he’s put the barres away and shut all the blinds.

         We waddle past the take-away shop on our way to the bus stop and I try to catch a glimpse of Adam through the window. Dimitri is leaning on my shoulder and I’m supporting a lot of his weight.

         Adam is wiping down the tables as we pass. He pops his head out the door. ‘Have you guys been in a fight or something?’

         ‘Just jetés,’ I say, shifting my duffle bag further up my shoulder.

         ‘Hardcore,’ he says. The sarcasm is paramount.

         When we finally collapse onto the bus stop bench, Dimitri smiles at me.

         ‘Any chance it’s me he’s interested in and not you?’

         ‘I don’t think he is interested in either of us,’ I say. ‘I think he was just making conversation.’

         ‘Sure, because rugby lads are always “just making conversation” with nerdy ballerinas.’
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            Chapter 10

         

         In our next drama lesson, we rope Mr Morton into a game of Psychiatrist. In a nutshell, the game involves one person as the psychiatrist asking everyone else questions and trying to work out what the secret tick is we’re all doing. Dimitri volunteers to be the psychiatrist and we somehow convince Mr Morton to play with us.

         Dimitri starts slowly, asking about our favourite colours and foods. Then he turns to Mr Morton, sitting awkwardly between Walter and me with his shoes still on.

         ‘Were you friends with Ms Lovelace?’

         He blinks. ‘Yes, I was.’

         Another round of questions goes by. I can’t even remember what the tick is I’m supposed to be doing.

         ‘Did she have a boyfriend?’

         This time Mr Morton pauses. He’s caught on to the fact that his questions are totally different from ours. Every one of his words is measured, like he’s pouring them onto kitchen scales. ‘No, and I don’t think we should really be discussing this.’80

         Dimitri sits down. ‘We just … we feel like we didn’t get to know her well enough. We have so many unanswered questions.’

         He’s a bloody good actor. Even I’m buying into it.

         ‘Ms Lovelace cared about you all a lot,’ Mr Morton says. ‘She didn’t want to leave you before your final year.’

         ‘Why would she leave us?’ Walter says.

         ‘Well, she … look, I really don’t think—’

         ‘Was it because of the letter?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘She told you about that?’

         ‘She was scared,’ Dimitri says, and I can even see a tear welling in the corner of his eye.

         Mr Morton leans back in his chair. ‘I told her to take them to the police, but she didn’t want to move again. She wanted to see the year through with you. She wanted to finish the show.’

         ‘Who were they from?’ I ask, scared that any second now, the tension will break, and he’ll clam up again.

         ‘Her ex-boyfriend. Gus, I think his name was. She didn’t talk about him much.’

         ‘But he found her,’ Walter says. ‘She came here to get away from him, but he found her.’

         Mr Morton just nods. He suddenly looks very young. He can’t be all that much older than we are. ‘Anyway,’ he says, ‘better get back to work.’ He returns to the desk and opens up his laptop.

         We gather together in a circle near the back of the room.81

         ‘Well, that settles it then,’ Walter says. ‘Gus must be the “G” from the letters, and he must be the killer.’

         ‘But how do we prove it?’ I say. ‘We’ve only got Dorothy’s word for it that Ms Lovelace received those death threats.’

         ‘Not necessarily,’ Walter says, his inner detective coming through. I wish he were as good at improvising as he is at detecting.

         ‘What do you mean?’ I say.

         ‘Well, if Gus said he was watching her, and he was dropping off threatening letters, he must have been staying nearby, right?’

         ‘Right.’

         ‘So, if we work out where he was staying, then we can search his room and see if we can find any evidence. And as far as I know, there’s only one motel close to our school. If death-threat-G is staying anywhere nearby, he’s probably staying there.’

         ‘You’re insane,’ Penny says.

         ‘Why would he even still be there?’ I ask. ‘Surely he would have left town by now.’

         ‘Shouldn’t we tell the police?’ Dorothy says.

         ‘They won’t be able to search his room without a warrant,’ Walter says.

         ‘But won’t the evidence be inadmissible in court or something?’ I ask.

         ‘Not if we tell the police that we found it at school.’

         ‘This is all very complicated,’ Dimitri says.82

         ‘What if he catches us searching his room and kills us too?’ Penny says.

         ‘We’ll be careful,’ Walter says.

         Shockingly, that doesn’t make me feel any better.

         ‘When will we do it?’ I ask.

         ‘Tomorrow, after rehearsals,’ Walter says.

         ‘I don’t know about you,’ Dimitri whispers to me, ‘but I’m bringing my pepper spray.’

         ‘You carry pepper spray?’

         ‘You don’t?’

         ‘Never thought I’d be breaking into a murderer’s motel room.’
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         At lunch, I have my meeting with Addie the counsellor. I’ve never been in her office before and it smells like chamomile tea and her lavender diffuser.

         I take a seat on the couch, and she gives me one of those tight-lipped smiles.

         ‘Just so you know, Hallie, anything you tell me in this session is strictly confidential.’

         ‘Okay.’ I wonder if she thinks I’m going to confess to the murder.

         ‘Do you want to tell me a little bit about how you’re feeling this week?’

         ‘I’m okay.’

         ‘And how are you coping with the loss of Ms Lovelace?’83

         I wonder if I might cry, but I just feel very quiet and soft. I tell Addie that I miss her, but I am enjoying rehearsals for the show and still staying on top of my schoolwork.

         ‘And are you engaging in any risk-taking behaviours?’

         ‘Risk-taking behaviours? Like skydiving?’

         ‘Like substance abuse.’

         ‘Oh, no, definitely not. I’m a nerd.’

         We talk for about fifteen minutes, and I assure her that I am not a danger to myself or others. She asks again about drug taking, then I leave her office feeling like I’ve just been interrogated again.
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            Chapter 11

         

         When Walter said there was only one motel close to our school, ‘close’ was a bit of an overstatement. It’s all the way out on the highway, and a pretty dodgy place by all accounts. I’m fairly sure they rent rooms by the hour.

         After another full day of rehearsals in the hall, the five of us are sitting around the front gate trying to make a decision.

         Penny gets out a pack of cigarettes and lights one up, the smoke rising into the late afternoon. ‘How on earth are we going to get there?’ she says. ‘No buses even go that far out.’

         ‘We could get a taxi,’ Walter suggests.

         ‘Yeah, right. I haven’t seen a taxi around here in twenty years,’ Penny says.

         ‘You haven’t even been alive for twenty years,’ Walter says.

         ‘If we wait until next week, I’ll have my Ps and I can drive us all out there,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘If you pass,’ Penny says and Dimitri holds a hand to his heart as if she has stabbed him in the chest.85

         ‘We can’t wait that long,’ Walter says. ‘What if he leaves town?’

         ‘If he hasn’t already,’ I say. I still don’t know if this is a good idea, but I’m taking the risk for Ms Lovelace.

         ‘We could catch the bus most of the way and then walk the rest,’ Dorothy says.

         Eventually we decide that this is the best option. Dimitri looks up the route on his phone and the 38 bus gets us the closest to where we want to be.

         Once we get off the bus, we have to walk along the ditch next to the highway and I see more dead animals than I ever needed to in a lifetime. On either side of the highway is dry farmland sprinkled with dead crops and sad-looking sheep.

         The motel comes into sight and it’s a real dive. It has a flickering ‘vacancy’ sign and peeling paint on the ‘Sky TV in every room’ announcement. It’s almost too run-down, as though it’s trying too hard, like the movie set of a horror film. It’s sitting in a ditch beside the highway and there’s a ridge behind the car park that seems like a real safety hazard for anyone returning drunk from a night on the town.

         We send Dimitri into the lobby since he looks the oldest and the most intimidating. I can see Walter is about to protest but obviously thinks better of it.

         Dimitri returns with a room number.

         ‘There’s a guy called Gus staying in room four. Apparently, he’s been here for months. Bloke said he’s the longest staying customer he’s ever had.’86

         ‘How’d you get him to talk? Don’t they have client confidentiality or whatever?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘I have my ways,’ Dimitri says, slipping his wallet back into his pocket.

         ‘What now?’ Penny asks.

         ‘Now we wait,’ Walter says.

         So, we sit in the car park and watch the door of number four. Dimitri and I do some Swan Lake choreo to pass the time.

         Eventually, Gus emerges. From where I’m sitting, I can see that he is tall, unshaven and wearing a baseball cap. I don’t know how someone like that ended up with Ms Lovelace. I’m just saying: he is actively ugly. He gets into his car – a flashy red number that looks totally out of place among the sketchy white vans and dusty utes taking up the other car spaces.

         ‘Walter,’ I hiss, ‘that’s the car from Ms Lovelace’s house that night.’

         He nods.

         We watch him turn onto the freeway. He doesn’t even indicate. What a dickhead.

         We approach the motel room door. The slightly torn ‘Do Not Disturb’ sign is hanging from the doorknob.

         ‘How do we get in?’ Dorothy asks.

         Penny inspects the door. ‘I could try and pick the lock,’ she says.

         ‘Since when do you know how to pick locks?’ Dimitri asks.87

         ‘None of your business.’

         ‘Look here,’ Walter says. He is standing at the window. The flyscreen is starting to come away from the frame. He manages to slip his finger in and slide it along the seam. The flyscreen comes away like peeling wallpaper.

         A look passes between us that I think we all know means that we’re doing this for Ms Lovelace, then Walter climbs in and the rest of us follow. He fits the flyscreen back on, but it doesn’t quite sit right now.

         The room is small, dark and messy, with a bed in one corner. The curtains are closed and it smells like cigarettes and sweat.

         There are a few items of clothing, mostly hoodies and jeans, in piles on the floor. There are several empty beer bottles and chip packets, which I assume are from the motel lobby vending machine, on the unmade bed.

         ‘Lovely,’ Penny says.

         ‘Spread out and search everywhere,’ Walter says. ‘And take these.’ He hands out pairs of blue latex gloves. ‘Penny: you and Dorothy look in the bathroom. Check inside the toilet cistern, and see if there are any loose tiles that might have something hidden behind them.’

         ‘The bathroom? Are you serious?’ Penny says. She wrinkles her nose, her hands held up like she’s trying not to touch anything.

         Walter ignores her. ‘Dimitri: you search through the clothes on the floor, including the pockets. See if you can find anything tucked into a sleeve or a rolled cuff.’88

         ‘Aye aye, sir!’ Dimitri says, saluting him. I laugh, but Walter is not impressed.

         ‘I’ll search the bed area, under the covers, under the mattress.’

         ‘What’s my job?’ I ask.

         ‘You’re the lookout. Keep watch through the window and let us know if you see him coming back.’

         ‘And what do I do if I see him? There’s only one way out of here.’

         ‘Penny,’ Walter says. ‘Is there any way we can squeeze out the bathroom window?’

         I can hear the sound of her eyes rolling from here, I swear.

         ‘Actually, I think we could,’ Dorothy’s voice floats in from the bathroom. ‘Looks like a few people have done it in the past. The flyscreen pops out super easy.’

         ‘This place really should invest in some new flyscreens,’ I say, but nobody responds.

         We each set about our tasks.

         ‘Nothing in the cistern,’ Penny says. ‘But I’m so glad to have got to see the inside of a motel toilet in my lifetime.’

         ‘Keep looking,’ Walter says from under the bed. ‘This guy is disgusting.’

         ‘I found something!’ Dimitri says, waving his arm in the air.

         ‘What is it?’ Walter says, dropping the T-shirt he was holding.

         Penny and Dorothy emerge from the bathroom as Dimitri spreads a handful of letters on the bed.89

         Walter picks one up and reads it.

         ‘Listen to this,’ he says. ‘I’m still here. I’m not going anywhere. And neither are you.’

         ‘What about this one?’ Penny says, picking up another. ‘You thought you could destroy what we had? Think again.’

         ‘He’s certainly not winning any prizes for originality,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Look, let’s just get out of here,’ Dorothy says. ‘We’ve found what we were looking for, so let’s go.’

         ‘Is the coast clear, Hal?’ Walter says.

         I realise that I haven’t been watching the window and I peer out between the cigarette-smoke-stained curtains, just in time to see Gus’s car pull into the motel car park.

         I freeze. In that moment, I learn that it is in fact possible to become paralysed with fear.

         ‘What is it, Hallie?’ Dorothy says.

         I manage to wave my hand in the direction of the bathroom.

         ‘He’s back,’ I choke out, and then suddenly I find my voice. ‘He’s back. He’s back. He’s back.’

         Walter has to put his hand over my mouth. I can’t seem to stop saying it.

         He drags me into the bathroom with the others. My legs feel like they’re made of string cheese. We close the door behind us and all squish together in the tiny space. I put my ear against the wood and listen for the sound of the key turning in the lock.

         ‘Come on,’ Penny says. ‘Out the window.’90

         She gives Dorothy a boost from the toilet and she is the first one out. The window is pretty small. I don’t know if we’re all going to fit. Of course tiny Dorothy did.

         Dimitri takes over and helps Penny out next. Just as he holds out his hand to me, there’s a sound in the room. The door has opened and Gus is moving around inside. I think I hear the hiss of a beer can opening, then the sound of the wall-mounted TV turning on. Then the creak of the bed. Thank Jesus he didn’t need to go to the bathroom.

         Dimitri helps me to the window. It’s a squeeze, I won’t lie. My boobs and hips are both obstacles in my progress, much like they are in my pursuit of classical ballet.

         Next is Walter. He takes the longest to manoeuvre himself through the window.

         ‘No rush,’ Dimitri says. ‘I’m just standing on the toilet of a murderer.’

         Walter finally drops down beside us, but he’s scraped some of the skin off his stomach on the way through.

         Now is the hard part. Poor Dimitri has nobody to help him up. And on top of that, he has really big shoulders. It’s one of the many things that make him an outstanding base for lifts.

         I don’t think he’s going to make it.

         I am right.

         We reach up and try to pull him from the outside, but there is no way he can fit his torso through that window. Not without breaking the glass and slicing himself open. 91Besides the fact that the noise it would make would bring Gus running into the bathroom.

         ‘What do we do?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘Wait until he falls asleep and sneak out?’ Penny says.

         ‘Are you serious?’ Dimitri hisses. ‘What if he comes in here for a piss and sees me?’

         ‘I reckon you could take him,’ Penny says.

         Dimitri does not seem to agree. I’ve never seen him look so scared before and I hope I never do again. The sky above us has gone dark.

         ‘I have an idea,’ I say, ‘but I’ll need your help.’

         We sneak out to the front of the motel, leaving behind Dimitri’s terrified face in the window. We gather around Gus’s red car. It looks shiny and expensive. A breeze whips up around us. It feels like it’s going to storm any minute.

         ‘Smash the passenger window,’ I say to Walter.

         ‘I beg your pardon?’

         ‘Smash the window. Use a rock or something.’

         He looks at me like I’ve lost my mind.

         Dorothy picks up a hunk of concrete that was being used as a garden edger and brings it down on the window as hard as she can. It takes her a couple of tries but eventually the glass shatters. At least somebody is being useful. Walter watches her in shock. I look at the motel room door, wondering if Gus heard the smash, but he doesn’t appear. He must be used to this kind of noise around here. Maybe he thinks it was just a beer bottle being broken over someone’s head.92

         ‘What now?’ Penny says.

         I reach in and unlock the door. I sit in the passenger seat and grab hold of the handbrake.

         ‘I need you guys to push the car over to the other side of the car park and try to get it over the hill. Then get out of the way and hide as quick as you can.’

         Penny grins. I think she is starting to catch on to the plan.

         ‘Now!’ I release the handbrake and jump out. The four of them start to push and the car rolls across the car park.

         I head to Gus’s door.

         I look back over my shoulder and see the car teetering on the edge of the ridge. One more push and it will fall.

         I knock just as the car tips over the edge, and I see the others rush for cover in the bushes. It is starting to sprinkle with rain.

         Gus doesn’t answer.

         I knock again. This time I don’t stop until I hear his voice from inside.

         ‘I’m coming, I’m coming. For god’s sake, stop that fucking racket.’ His voice is thick and familiar. This is definitely the guy who came to Ms Lovelace’s house the night Walter and I broke in.

         He flings open the door. Up close, he looks even worse. His face is unshaven, and he is either twice Ms Lovelace’s age or he has aged prematurely from all the cigarettes. He stinks of beer, smoke and BO.

         ‘Good evening, sir,’ I say. ‘I am collecting money for a local—’93

         I don’t even have time to finish my speech because his eyes practically bulge out of his head when he notices that his car is no longer in its spot but instead is peeking up out of a ravine.

         He shoves me aside and runs across the car park swearing his head off.

         I stick my head in the door and gesture for Dimitri to get the hell out. He crosses the motel room in a few bounds and is out the door in seconds. He grabs my hand and we sprint for it. The others join us from their hiding spot and we don’t look back.

         We run along the freeway until we reach the bus stop. My heart is beating so fast I think I might collapse.

         ‘Should we really stand out here in the open?’ Penny says. She’s bent over, breathing hard. ‘What if he comes looking for us?’

         ‘Surely he’s too busy trying to fish his car out of the ditch,’ Dimitri says, giving me a high five.

         We decide to take it in turns to stand at the bus stop and watch for the 38 – everyone except me, since I’m the only one Gus actually saw. Dorothy helps me tuck all my red hair under my hood and everyone crouches around me in the ditch beside the highway. Water drips from my hair down the back of my neck, making me shiver.

         ‘What was Ms Lovelace doing with a creep like that?’ Dorothy asks, her teeth chattering.

         Nobody seems to be able to think of a reason.94

         Whenever a car approaches, I hold my breath and listen for the sound of it slowing down, but every time it speeds straight past.

         When the bus finally comes trundling along it is a welcome sight, I can tell you. We climb on board and sit together up the back.

         We get off outside the police station. It’s late – I don’t know if there will even be anyone there – but luckily that new young cop is still typing up case files at the front desk.

         ‘Some new evidence has come to light regarding the Lovelace case,’ Walter says as we approach the desk. I try to mask my snort as a cough.

         ‘We found these letters in Ms Lovelace’s desk at school,’ Walter continues. ‘We believe they point to her killer.’

         He throws the handful of letters down dramatically on the table in front of Caleb.

         ‘She was hiding here from her ex-boyfriend Gus, and he is staying in the motel.’

         ‘What time is it?’ the cop asks, glancing at his watch. ‘Why are you kids out at this time of night? Don’t you know we’re in the middle of a murder investigation?’

         ‘Just look at the letters,’ Walter says impatiently.

         Caleb picks one up and reads it through. I wonder if he should be wearing gloves. His eyes light up. ‘This is very interesting.’ he says. ‘I better call the sergeant.’

         ‘Thank you,’ Walter says.

         ‘But first, you lot need to go home and stay there.’

         We nod. I’m suddenly overwhelmed by how tired I am.95

         ‘Do you want me to give you guys a lift?’ he says. ‘It’s bucketing down out there.’

         We decline and wait outside for the next bus back to town. Dimitri has given Dorothy his jacket, but she is still shivering.

         Walter wraps his arms around me and pulls me into a hug. I rest my head on his chest and try to feel warm. I notice out of the corner of my eye that Dimitri is giving us a strange look.

         Dimitri and Penny’s bus comes first and they wave to us out the back window.

         I think I might freeze to death waiting for this bus to arrive. It is twenty minutes later that we see it rounding the corner. My fingers are so numb, I can hardly get my card out. The bus isn’t warm, but at least it’s dry. Dorothy gets off first, then it’s Walter and me. We all but leap out when it reaches our stop.

         We yell a very brief ‘bye’ at each other before rushing to our own front doors.

         I run inside, fling my drenched clothes onto the floor and get straight under my blankets, but I can’t seem to warm up. I probably should have had a bath but I can’t stand the thought of getting wet again.

         I must doze off at some point because I wake to the sound of raised voices, but they’re not coming from inside the house. I look out the window and see that the light is on in Sergeant Griffith’s study.

         I grab my dressing gown and slip my Ugg boots on before gently opening the window and slipping outside. 96It’s stopped raining, and I can hear the voices a lot more clearly. They’re coming from Walter’s house.

         I climb over the fence and creep up to the study window, which is slightly ajar, and catch the end of Sergeant Griffith’s sentence.

         ‘… tampering with evidence, not to mention the fact that you could have been killed. This guy is serious bad news, Walter.’

         ‘I was just trying to help.’ It’s Walter’s voice, and it sounds like chipped porcelain.

         ‘That’s not your job. Your job is to keep yourself and your friends safe, not to go breaking into potential crime scenes.’

         ‘Sorry, Dad.’

         ‘Now get to bed before you can do any more damage to this case.’

         I sneak around to Walter’s window and wait until I hear the soft click of the door. I tap on the glass.

         He takes a while to appear – so long, in fact, that I wonder whether he heard me – but then I see his face at the window. He looks ten years younger than he is, his round cheeks pinker than usual.

         He slides the window open and climbs out. We sit side by side in the dirt with our backs against the wall.

         ‘You could have told him going to the motel was my idea,’ I say.

         ‘It wouldn’t have made any difference. I screwed up.’

         ‘We screwed up. It wasn’t all your fault.’97

         ‘Might as well have been.’

         ‘You’re too hard on yourself.’

         ‘Dad’s right; I acted like an idiot. What was I thinking breaking into that motel room?’

         I put my hand on his shoulder and wait for the tears, but he has spent years learning to hide them.
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            Chapter 12

         

         The next day, I sleep in till ten. This is unheard of; I’m normally a very early riser. My mum must have come in at some point and collected my wet clothes off the floor because they are gone when I finally get up. I head down the hall, still in my pyjamas, for breakfast and Walter is there, sitting with my mum at the kitchen bench eating Vegemite on toast. They are doing the newspaper crossword puzzle together.

         ‘Breed of dog, six letters,’ Mum says.

         ‘Lassie?’ I don’t feel too bad interrupting them. ‘Morning, you lot.’

         ‘Hallie, guess what?’ Walter says, pulling me into the living room.

         ‘Can’t I have breakfast first?’

         Mum gets up to put the kettle on.

         ‘Dad is interrogating Gus today,’ Walter says, clearly trying to keep the excitement out of his voice. ‘They’ve arrested him on suspicion of murder.’

         ‘So that’s it? It’s over?’

         ‘Well, not quite. The letters are only circumstantial evidence that Gus murdered Ms Lovelace, but they have 99enough to hold him and interview him. Dad is hoping for a confession today.’

         I nod. I can’t seem to process all this information. My mum puts a cup of tea and a slice of Vegemite toast in front of me.

         ‘What are you two conspiring about?’ she says.

         When neither of us respond, she takes the hint and heads back to her bedroom where she will probably sleep for the rest of the day.

         ‘I’ve already texted the others,’ Walter says. ‘I thought we could sit outside the window and listen in on the interview today. What do you think?’

         Walter has been listening in on interviews since we were kids. Usually, they are just with drug dealers, drunk drivers or perpetrators of domestic violence. I used to sit with him when we were little, but it all got too real for me. I stopped after they let a guy go because his wife wouldn’t press charges.

         ‘I’m still in my pyjamas,’ I say.

         I can think of a few things I would rather do on my Sunday afternoon than listen in on a police interview, but this is the first time I’ve seen Walter so happy in weeks, and he is so desperate to get back into his dad’s good books that I make an exception.

         I scoff down my toast and tea, and we head out. We catch the bus to the police station, where the others are already waiting for us.

         The interrogation room is at the back of the police station, so we position ourselves under the window and 100listen. I am squished between Dimitri and Walter. There are ants crawling around our feet.

         The voices of Gus and Sergeant Griffiths drift through the window. It’s always been surprisingly easy to hear them. I wonder if I should let them know.

         ‘Hello again, Gus.’

         ‘Always a pleasure, Griffiths.’

         There is the sound of chairs moving inside.

         ‘They must have already spoken to him,’ I say.

         ‘Maybe when they found him at her house that night,’ Walter says.

         ‘Why on earth would I stick around if I was the one who killed her?’ Gus is saying. His voice is grainy.

         ‘You tell me.’

         ‘Because I was trying to find the bastard what did it.’

         ‘Why’s that?’

         ‘Because she was my fucking girlfriend, that’s why, and somebody bloody killed her!’

         ‘If you were her boyfriend, then why did she move to the other side of the country to get away from you?’

         ‘We had a rough patch, that’s all.’

         There’s a pause, then Sergeant Griffith says, ‘For the benefit of the tape, I am showing the suspect item 35C. Can you tell me what this is, Gus?’

         ‘No comment.’

         ‘These are Hanna’s medical records from the Royal Perth Hospital.’

         Silence.101

         ‘January 12: black eye, bruised lip and concussion. August 5: three broken ribs. September 20: broken arm and two teeth knocked out. Shall I continue?’

         ‘I don’t need to listen to this,’ Dorothy says. ‘Let’s go for a walk.’

         Dimitri, Penny and I follow Dorothy, leaving Walter to his eavesdropping, and head to the churchyard. Ms Lovelace’s plaque is still shiny. It just says ‘Hanna’, no last name. There’s a fresh bunch of lavender in a small pottery vase that looks handmade.

         We sit in front of the grave. Dorothy starts to pull out the dandelions and clover.

         ‘I miss her,’ she says.

         ‘I know,’ Penny says.

         ‘It’s not fair.’

         ‘I know.’

         Dorothy, out of all of us, seems to have taken Ms Lovelace’s death the hardest, maybe because she’s already lost so many people. First her father, then her sister, and now her favourite teacher. I put my hand on her shoulder.

         ‘We’re here, Dorothy, if you need to talk,’ I say.

         She gives me a sad smile. I wish there were something I could do, wish I could climb inside her brain and convince her that she is beautiful, that she has so much to offer, that there is more to life than school, and that one day she will get out of this town and find her place in the world. But it’s a pipe dream. I can’t see Dorothy abandoning her mother. It’s just not fair.102
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         Walter finds us later.

         ‘You will not believe this,’ he says.

         ‘We probably will,’ Penny says.

         ‘We were right. Lovelace wasn’t her real name,’ he says, pretending he didn’t hear her. ‘She changed it when she tried to get a restraining order against Gus and, when she couldn’t, she moved interstate to get away from him. I guess she managed to stay hidden for a couple of years but he finally caught up with her. Apparently, he was already on their list of suspects and they’ve just been trying to find some evidence to prove that he had made contact with her. They’re hoping it’s enough to pin it on him.’ Walter looks at us like he has just told a great joke and none of us have understood the punchline. ‘He’s guilty,’ he says. ‘It has to be him.’

         I don’t know what reaction he is expecting but none of us give it to him. I just feel incredibly sad. Poor Ms Lovelace having to upheave her entire life, move away from her friends and family, to this dodge of a town only to be killed by the very man she was running away from.

         ‘Did he confess?’ Penny asks.

         ‘No, but they’ve left him to stew for a while. He’s demanding a lawyer, and a crane to lift his car out of the ditch. I think he’s more concerned about the crane than the lawyer, to be honest.’103

         ‘But if it was him,’ I say, ‘then why is he still here? Surely he would have legged it once it was done. Why stick around waiting to get caught?’

         ‘Maybe he thought it would look too suspicious if he left as soon as she died,’ Walter says.

         ‘But why would he show up at her house that night if he killed her?’ I say, and this has been bugging me since I saw his car parked outside the motel. ‘He thought I was her, remember, when he saw us through the window.’

         Walter is silent, clearly thinking it over.

         ‘Did your dad work out that it was us who pushed his car?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘I doubt it,’ Dimitri says. ‘He’d hardly expect a group of drama nerds like us to be the type to hang around seedy motels pushing cars into ditches.’

         ‘Yeah, we’re smarter than that,’ Penny says, giving Walter a look that could stop a train.

         But Walter doesn’t say anything.
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            Chapter 13

         

         ‘We have to talk,’ Walter says. ‘Can everyone stay back after rehearsals tonight?’

         ‘I have to work,’ Dorothy says. She is changing out of her Winnie Tate costume and into her work gear as we speak. She works at the petrol station on the edge of town. They only have one petrol pump and yet there is never a queue. I’m pretty sure she works every single night these days.

         ‘This is important,’ Walter says.

         ‘So is being able to afford food.’

         ‘Dimitri and I have ballet tonight,’ I say.

         ‘We can’t all drop everything in our lives to—’ Dorothy starts.

         ‘It’s about the case,’ Walter cuts her off.

         ‘What about the case?’ Penny says. ‘It was Gus. They arrested him. It’s over. Can’t we just forget about it now and move on?’

         ‘But that’s just the thing—’

         ‘Walt, buddy, you’ve gotta get over this thing,’ Dimitri chimes in. He is wiping off his stage make-up with these 105fancy wipes for sensitive skin that he has. The rest of us just use the tissues and coconut oil Ms Lovelace bought for each dressing room, though our supply is running low. I don’t suppose Mr Morton will be replenishing them anytime soon. Walter and Dimitri are supposed to be in the boys’ dressing room with the couple of other boys in the show but they always end up over here with us.

         ‘They found the knife,’ Walter says.

         ‘What?’ I ask.

         ‘In Gus’s motel room,’ Walter says. ‘They found the knife that killed Ms Lovelace. It was some kind of switchblade.’

         ‘But where was it?’ I say. ‘We searched everywhere.’

         ‘According to my dad, it was under the bed. It still had Ms Lovelace’s blood on it and everything.’

         ‘So what?’ Penny says. ‘That just proves he’s guilty. Case closed.’

         ‘But you searched under the bed yourself,’ Dorothy says, ‘You even checked under the mattress, I saw you.’

         Walt nods. ‘There was definitely no knife there. The only stuff under that bed other than dust were some porno magazines and empty beer cans.’

         ‘So, what are you saying?’ Dimitri asks. ‘Someone planted it?’

         ‘Maybe Gus was framed,’ I say.

         ‘Who would do that?’ Dimitri says.

         ‘I don’t know.’ Walter shrugs. ‘The real killer, I guess. They must have heard he’d been arrested, and planted the knife to seal the deal.’106

         I don’t find that hard to believe. The entire school was buzzing about Gus’s arrest on Monday. There are already rumours flying around the school that he’s a serial killer.

         ‘Did you tell your dad that the knife wasn’t there before?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘What, and let him know we were sneaking around in a murder suspect’s motel room? Yeah, right.’ He avoids my gaze.

         ‘But an innocent man is in jail because of us,’ Penny says suddenly.

         ‘Was he really all that innocent?’ Dorothy says. ‘I mean, Ms Lovelace did have to get a restraining order against the guy; he wasn’t exactly a saint.’

         ‘Yeah, but if he didn’t kill her, then who did?’ Penny says, leaving the words to float around us like clouds.

         Just when I thought this was all over.
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         We arrange to meet up at Penny’s house after Dimitri and I finish ballet, and Dorothy says she’ll try to get off work early. Penny’s mum and dad are away at the moment and we each agree to tell our parents that we’re sleeping over.

         ‘On a school night?’ I say.

         Penny rolls her eyes. I am starting to see why everyone thinks I am a good girl.

         Walter says he’ll talk to my parents and collect some pyjamas for me so I can head straight to Penny’s after 107dancing. I don’t know what he thinks we’re going to talk about tonight. I feel like we have exhausted every possible scenario, and I’m beginning to think we should leave the investigating to the police.

         Dimitri passed his Ps test with flying colours and his parents surprised him with a second-hand Mazda when he got home, so he gives me a lift to ballet. The rest of us were only a little bit resentful.

         We are so distracted all lesson that Berlioz keeps us back after class and tells us we need to decide what our priorities are. Dimitri drives us to Penny’s house afterwards.

         ‘So,’ he asks as soon as I close the car door, ‘what’s happening with you and Walter?’

         ‘What do you mean?’

         ‘Well, you guys have that whole best-friends-forever, girl-next-door, meant-to-be vibe. Like Katniss and Gale in The Hunger Games.’

         ‘Yeah, well, things didn’t really work out between them, did they?’

         ‘Is there someone else then? Do you have a Peeta Mellark?’

         Adam Tolentino’s name is on the tip of my tongue for some reason. But that’s ridiculous.

         I shake my head. ‘What about you then?’ I ask.

         ‘What about me?’

         ‘Who is your Peeta Mellark?’

         ‘I’m not sure if you’ve noticed, but there’s not an awful lot going on in the gay scene around here.’108

         ‘You’re not interested in anyone?’

         ‘I can’t really afford to be interested in anyone, Hal,’ he says. ‘They’re never going to be interested in me back.’

         ‘You don’t know that. Statistically, you can’t be the only gay guy at our school.’

         ‘Sometimes it feels like I am,’ he says and I see in his face how lonely he must feel. ‘I just have to wait until we graduate, then I can move to Sydney, get the role of Link Larkin in Hairspray, and start a whole new life.’

         I am silent for a moment. All of a sudden, the future seems a lot closer than I thought it was.

         ‘What about me?’ I ask.

         ‘Well, I’m expecting you’ll be there with me, of course. You’ll be playing Penny Pingleton and shacking up with me in a shitty apartment near Chinatown, right?’

         I smile. It never occurred to me that Dimitri would be planning our future together.

         ‘That’s why I asked you about Walter,’ he says. ‘Seems like he’s the settling-down kind. I don’t suppose he’ll ever leave this town. He’ll probably go to police school and end up working under his father in the police station, with a wife at home and seven kids.’

         I can’t think of much worse than staying here with a bunch of kids and a mortgage.

         Dimitri continues. ‘I just don’t want to see you throw away your future for a boy.’ I feel as though he may have rehearsed this speech. It has the variations in tone and pitch that he uses when delivering a monologue.109

         ‘Did Walter say something to you?’ I ask, but he doesn’t answer.

         We stop at Dimitri’s house so he can run in and change out of his tights. They have a huge jacaranda tree out the front. The purple is stunning.

         He returns to the car in his matching silk pyjamas from Peter Alexander and Newsies sweatshirt. I have the same one – Dimitri’s older sister sent them back from New York for us. She is living the dream, volunteering as a dresser backstage for Beautiful.

         When we arrive at Penny’s, Walter is already there. Penny’s house is huge: there are probably seven bedrooms and three bathrooms. Her parents are both doctors, and they have a double garage for their matching his-and-hers Porsches.

         We head up the stairs to Penny’s bedroom. Her room is twice the size of mine – she even has a couch in there. Her walls have been painted to resemble a blackboard and she has song lyrics and drawings all over them. The most recent additions are from Heathers, ‘My teen angst bullshit now has a body count’, and Pet Sematary, ‘Sometimes, dead is better.’ Cheery stuff.

         ‘So—’ Walter starts.

         ‘Did you bring my pyjamas?’ I ask.

         He chucks a tote bag at me.

         ‘We need to—’ he says.

         ‘What did you tell my parents?’ I ask.

         ‘I told them we were doing team building for the musical.’110

         ‘Have you got any snacks?’ I ask. ‘I haven’t had time to eat since lunch.’

         ‘I think Mum made some Anzac biscuits,’ Penny says. She’s sitting on the bed under the covers. Her mother is very keen on embracing Australian cuisine in her cooking. She had a go at meat pies and sausage rolls at Penny’s last birthday party. They were quite a hit. ‘I’ll get them,’ Penny says, heading downstairs.

         ‘Guys,’ Walter tries again. ‘I’m serious. What are we going to do about this knife being planted?’

         I lie down on the couch with my head on Dimitri’s lap. I’m so tired I could fall asleep right here, no problem.

         ‘Can someone help me change into my pyjamas?’ I say. ‘I don’t think I can manage it.’

         Dimitri pulls my pyjamas out of the bag and drapes them across me. ‘There, did I do it?’

         ‘Good job.’

         ‘Can you guys be serious for five minutes?’ Walter says.

         Penny appears at the door with a Tupperware container full of biscuits. She puts it on the bed and climbs back under the covers.

         ‘I’ll give you a dollar if you pass me a cookie, Penny,’ I say, holding my hand out limply. She chucks one at my head.

         ‘We need to talk about who the killer is!’ Walter snaps.

         ‘Well, who do you think it was, Walt?’ Penny says. ‘You’re obviously itching to tell us.’111

         The Anzac biscuits are soft and chewy, and I roll off the couch and crawl across the floor to the bed to grab a handful.

         ‘I think it was one of us,’ Walter says. He’s standing at the window in front of Penny’s black gossamer curtains, which gives him a sort of Wicked Witch of the West vibe.

         We all go silent and turn to look at him.

         ‘We’re the only ones who we know for sure were at the school,’ Walter says. ‘We had the perfect opportunity. Everyone’s thinking it, I’m just saying it.’

         I must admit that the possibility had crossed my mind, but the concept is so ridiculous I can barely fathom it.

         ‘We all loved Ms Lovelace,’ Penny says finally. ‘Why would any of us hurt her?’

         Walter shrugs. ‘Who knows? Maybe someone had a grudge, maybe she said something someone didn’t like, maybe it was an accident.’

         Dimitri gives me a look that says: I know it wasn’t you. I return the look. If there’s one person who I’m sure didn’t do it, it’s Dimitri. He loves the show as much as I do and he never would have done anything that might have resulted in it being cancelled. That just leaves the other three.

         But as I look around at my friends, most of whom I’ve known almost my entire life, the idea that one of them could be a killer is absurd.

         I would love to know about the thoughts running through their minds, what motives they are concocting for each of us. Walter breaks my reverie.112

         ‘It’s been obvious all along. Who else knew where Gus was staying? Who else knew that he’d been arrested? Who else could have planted that knife?’

         ‘The whole town knew he’d been arrested,’ I say. ‘Word travels fast around here.’

         ‘And there’s only one motel anywhere near here, so that wasn’t exactly a revolutionary deduction,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘The question is,’ Walter continues, ‘which one of us did it? Now, I know it wasn’t me, so that leaves the three of you and Dorothy.’

         I wonder if he even needs us here. It seems like no matter what we say he won’t change his course.

         ‘And let me guess, you think it’s me, right?’ Penny says.

         ‘How do we know it wasn’t you?’ Dimitri says to Walter, brushing the crumbs off my face for me. ‘What even is an Anzac biscuit?’

         ‘No,’ Walter says. ‘I think it was Dorothy.’

         ‘Don’t be ridiculous,’ I say.

         ‘Think about it. Who found the body? She was the first one on the scene. Who knows how long she was there before you showed up, Hal? She said herself that she cheated; she might have gone straight to the drama room while the rest of us were running around the school chasing down clues. She would have had ample time to stab Ms Lovelace and then stash the knife somewhere.’

         ‘I mean, if I had to pick one of us, I guess I would say Dorothy,’ Dimitri says. ‘She has a dark side.’113

         Penny looks slightly offended that he doesn’t think that she has a dark side.

         ‘We know Dorothy,’ I say. ‘She could never do something like that.’ But I suddenly feel as if I’m the only one who is defending her.

         ‘Do we really know her?’ Walter says. ‘She’s not exactly forthcoming about herself. I’ve been friends with her for years and I’ve never even seen the inside of her house.’

         ‘That’s because she’s too embarrassed to have people over,’ I say.

         I can sense there’s something Walter is hiding. He’s holding something back. Before I can ask him what it is, there’s a noise outside and we all gather around the window to see Dorothy walking up the front path, still in her work gear.

         ‘Don’t you dare say a word, Walter,’ I say.

         Penny heads downstairs to let her in. The room is full of suspicious faces.

         ‘I just want to ask her a few questions,’ Walter says.

         Dorothy comes in with Penny behind her. She looks as tired as I feel. She collapses face first across the foot of the bed.

         ‘If anyone wants to massage my feet,’ she says, ‘I’d be okay with that.’

         ‘So, Dorothy, tell us about your sister,’ Walter says. He is still standing at the window.

         ‘Walter, shut up,’ Penny says.

         ‘What about her?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘About how she died,’ he says.114

         ‘Walter,’ Penny says. ‘Shut the fuck up.’

         ‘You know how she died,’ Dorothy says, sitting up.

         ‘Just remind me.’ There’s something in Walter’s tone that makes him sound like he’s holding a gun to her head. Dorothy has noticed it too. She is suddenly defensive.

         ‘She killed herself.’

         ‘Really? That’s interesting. And how did she do that?’

         ‘For fuck’s sake, Walter,’ Penny says.

         ‘She … There was a knife and she … You know what she did.’

         Walter is relentless. ‘That’s right – she used a knife. And who found the body, Dorothy?’

         ‘I did.’

         ‘And do you or do you not have a juvie record?’

         If I were writing about this moment in a drama essay, I would describe the tension in the room as palpable.

         ‘What?’ Dimitri says.

         Dorothy stares at Walter. ‘How do you know about that?’

         ‘Just answer the question, Dorothy.’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘What for?’

         ‘It’s none of your business.’

         ‘Holy shit,’ Penny says. She actually looks impressed. Classic Penny to suddenly find you interesting if you have a criminal record.

         ‘How do you know all this, Walter?’ I ask.

         ‘I may have made a few calls from the station pretending to be Constable Caleb.’115

         ‘Walt,’ Dimitri says, ‘that’s illegal.’

         ‘Not as illegal as murder.’ Walter crosses his hands behind his back. ‘Tell me I’m wrong, Dorothy.’

         ‘There was an incident—’ she starts.

         ‘Is that what you call it?’ Walter says.

         ‘Will you just fucking let me talk?’ Dorothy snaps. I’ve never heard her swear before. ‘Yes, okay, I was arrested for assault. Is that what you want me to say?’

         ‘What happened?’ Penny asks gently.

         ‘Look, my dad was a real piece of work, okay? He used to hit them – my mum and Victoria. He’d smack them around when we lost the State of Origin, or when he blew all his money on the pokies and Mum wanted cash to spend on groceries.’

         ‘Jesus,’ I say.

         ‘Anyway, this one night, it was late … Victoria and I were in bed and we heard him yelling. We snuck down the hallway and watched from the kitchen door. Mum was on the floor. She looked so small, and he was standing over her, kicking her and yelling at her. I just … I snapped. I took a knife from the table and … well … it went clean through his hand.’

         ‘Holy shit,’ Dimitri says, sounding more impressed than shocked.

         ‘Mum called an ambulance, and he went to hospital. He had to have twelve stitches. He never came home again after that.’116

         ‘So, you’re prone to violence, and you were the first one on the scene the day of the scavenger hunt. You see where I’m going with this?’ Walter says.

         ‘You think I killed Ms Lovelace?’

         ‘I’m just pointing out that a lot of people seem to have run-ins with knives around you.’

         ‘You think I killed my own sister?’

         ‘That’s way out of line, Walt,’ Dimitri chimes in.

         ‘The police said it was suicide,’ Dorothy says. ‘Your dad ruled it a suicide.’

         ‘I’m not thinking anything. I just want to know what happened to Ms Lovelace.’

         ‘Why the hell would I kill Ms Lovelace?’ Dorothy’s wide blue eyes look even bigger than usual in her pale face.

         ‘You tell us.’

         ‘I don’t have to listen to this.’

         She stands up to leave.

         ‘Dorothy’s right,’ I say. ‘She doesn’t have a motive.’

         It’s enough to get her back down on the bed.

         ‘Thanks,’ she says.

         The room is quiet. I can feel that Walter is building up to a new line of attack, so I break the tension.

         ‘Look, let’s just forget about this. Maybe we should rehearse,’ I say. ‘“My Defenses are Down”, maybe?’

         Dimitri does not look like he is in the mood to sing right now, but he does anyway.

         I chose this song because it never fails to make us laugh 117every time he sings the line about having his way with so many girls.

         Hearing Dimitri sing can make most people forget what they were doing. But not Walter; he watches Dorothy for the rest of the night until we go to bed.

         Penny’s house has two spare bedrooms. When we’ve stayed over in the past, her parents have insisted that the boys share to avoid any hanky-panky. Nobody bothered to point out that Dimitri is far more likely to engage in hanky­-panky with Walter than he is with any of us. Normally, I have a room to myself and Dorothy shares with Penny, but tonight I ask Dorothy to join me.

         ‘I’m sorry about Walter,’ I say when we are alone.

         ‘Whatever,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘He’s seeing suspects and clues everywhere. He desperately wants his father’s approval. It’s a boy thing, I think.’

         ‘It’s just,’ she says, ‘I always felt like you lot welcomed me in with open arms after, you know, and I was one of the gang straight away. I never felt like I was the outsider in the group before. Well, until today anyway.’

         ‘And you’re not,’ I say. ‘He’ll probably be accusing me next.’

         ‘Sure. I’ll believe that when I see it.’

         She is quiet for a moment and I think maybe she’s asleep, then she says, ‘You know who else knew Ms Lovelace would be at school that day?’

         ‘Who?’118

         ‘All of our parents. They all signed the permission notes. Any one of them could be the killer.’

         I lie awake all night thinking about the awful day when Victoria died. I was in the tree house, waiting for Walter to show up for a rehearsal, when my mum poked her head in and told me the news. I’ll never forget how it felt to fully realise that someone young and healthy could die, just like that. Alive one minute. Dead the next.
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            Chapter 14

         

         ‘Guys, can I talk to you?’

         Tim Bacigalupo has come up to Dimitri and me as we walk towards the drama room at recess on Monday. He slinks out of the shadows like a stray cat.

         ‘We have nothing to say to you,’ I say, turning away from him.

         ‘Just listen then, will you?’

         ‘Tim, just leave us alone, all right?’ I say.

         He grabs my arm. ‘But I have to tell you something.’

         ‘Let go of me,’ I say, trying to yank my arm away from his hand but he is stronger than he looks.

         I look to Dimitri for help, but he doesn’t move. He is looking at Tim in confusion, almost as if he can’t remember who he is. I hear a voice behind us.

         ‘She said let go, mate.’ Adam Tolentino has appeared at the top of the stairs. Tim lets go of my arm. ‘That’s better. I guess you missed the lesson about consent, hey, buddy?’ Adam says.

         Dimitri and I climb the stairs, leaving Tim standing alone at the bottom.120

         ‘Thanks for the back-up, Dimitri,’ I say.

         ‘Sorry,’ he says.

         ‘Are you okay?’ Adam asks.

         ‘Yeah, fine, thanks,’ I say, awkwardly avoiding eye contact with him. It’s been over a week since we’ve spoken, when he asked to borrow my glue stick in class, and I still haven’t worked out a way to find out what he knows about Ms Lovelace’s murder.

         ‘What did that loser even want?’

         ‘Who knows? He’s probably off his face on drugs,’ I say.

         The reason we all hate Tim now is because last year when we were rehearsing a scene from Angels in America, Dimitri and Tim were on the stage and Dimitri tried to hold Tim’s hand. Tim yanked his arm away from him and yelled, ‘Don’t touch me, you fucking fag.’

         The room went so still and quiet you could hear everyone’s breath. It was so out of the blue that no one knew what to say. This was a drama class after all: we had all done far more than just hold each other’s hands before for the sake of a scene.

         Ms Lovelace was the one to break the silence. Her eyes were crystal shards. She folded the air between them like paper and sent Tim outside with a voice coated in flames. I went to Dimitri and asked if he was okay. He seemed more shocked than anything.

         After that, we all swore we would never speak to Tim again. It was a shame because we were all quite fond of him until then. He was such a goof. He used to climb into this 121big crate at the back of the room and get us to sit on top and see how long it would take for Ms Lovelace to realise that he was missing. The record was thirty-six minutes.

         Adam leaves and I punch Dimitri’s arm playfully.

         ‘That was the sexiest thing I have ever seen,’ he says, watching Adam walk away.
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         After rehearsing the blocking for ‘Anything You Can Do’ at recess, Dimitri and I head to music next door. Walter shows up and he looks worried.

         ‘I have to tell you guys something,’ he says.

         I still haven’t forgiven him for how he spoke to Dorothy, but the look in his eyes makes me feel like this might be important.

         ‘They’ve let Gus go,’ Walter says. ‘They didn’t have enough evidence to hold him.’

         ‘Shit,’ Dimitri says. ‘What if he comes after us for pushing his car in that ditch?’

         ‘Well, that’s why I needed to tell you. Hal, he knows what you look like. And worse than that, he knows the evidence was planted in his room and he probably thinks that was us too.’

         ‘But he doesn’t know I pushed his car in the ditch, he just knows I was there.’

         Walter and Dimitri look at each other. ‘I think we need to assign you a bodyguard,’ Dimitri says.122

         ‘Don’t be ridiculous,’ I say.

         The thought of death-threat-Gus actually having the brain capacity to put two and two together like that seems a little far-fetched to me.

         Walter leaves and Dimitri and I enter the music classroom. Penny is already there, rehearsing her new Chopin piece. Oh yeah, did I not mention? Penny is a piano prodigy. Her parents have been paying for piano lessons basically her entire life. She claims to loathe it, but I know the truth. When she plays, it’s like she’s, well, it’s like she’s happy. And that is unusual for Penny. She gets so in the zone that a bomb could fall on the building and she would just keep playing. Mrs Berrycloth was very disappointed that Penny did not apply to be in the orchestra for the show.

         Adam is already there too, but he isn’t sitting where he normally does up the back. Instead, he’s in the front row where I sit with Penny and Dimitri.

         Dimitri gives me a sly look out of the corner of his eye.

         I grab the seat next to Adam before Dimitri can snatch it from me.

         ‘Warner,’ Adam whispers, moving his books out of the way for me to get mine out. ‘You got any plans this Sunday?’

         ‘No,’ I whisper back. Dimitri is distracted by Mrs Berrycloth, who is asking for our homework. He has definitely not done it but is making a big show of searching through his bag for it.123

         ‘To pay me back for saving your life, wanna come to watch the rugby match? It’s us versus some prissy private school.’

         I don’t have a chance to answer before Mrs Berrycloth snaps us to attention by smacking her ruler on the desk. I hand her my homework and she softens a little.

         ‘And why on earth would I want to do that?’ I say to Adam, once her back is turned.

         ‘Bring the whole gang if you want,’ Adam whispers. ‘Or, do you guys, like, not go outside?’

         I wonder what he’s thinking. Maybe he’s just looking for more supporters at the game. Or have his stupid friends finally worked out that we were the ones who chucked their clothes in the creek and they’re out for revenge?

         It’s a theory lesson and we don’t get another chance to talk, but Dimitri keeps looking over at us suspiciously and Adam’s hand keeps bumping into mine as we write our notes. He’s left-handed. I don’t know why, but somehow that makes him even more attractive. Don’t ask me how.
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         When we get to our spot at lunch, Dorothy is sitting alone.

         ‘Where’s Dimitri?’ Walter asks. ‘He only left class a minute or so before us.’

         ‘I don’t know,’ she says shortly. ‘I don’t need babysitting twenty-four seven.’

         ‘I didn’t mean it like that.’124

         Dimitri’s bag is here, but he’s nowhere to be seen.

         ‘He probably just went to the bathroom,’ I say.

         We sit together until the bell goes but there’s still no sign of Dimitri.

         ‘Should I take his bag to English?’ I say.

         ‘Nah, leave it,’ Dorothy says. ‘He might come looking for it.’

         The others wander off but I stay, hovering halfway between where we sit and the stairs. I am suddenly worried. What if something happened to Dimitri? Maybe the murderer has struck again. And then I see him. He is sneaking out from behind the water tanks down near the cricket nets, like he doesn’t want to be seen. He hasn’t noticed me, and I wonder if I should confront him. What could he possibly be doing slinking around the water tanks at lunch?

         I decide to leave and ask him about it later. I have to run so that I’m not too late for English.

         Dimitri comes in a minute after I do. He looks sheepish. Since we’re doing a practice exam paper, I can’t find a moment to ask him about it.

         He shoots out the door at the end of the lesson before I can catch him.
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         After school on Mondays, Dorothy and I sometimes stay back to work on the costumes for Annie Get Your Gun 125in the textiles room. Ms Lovelace used to organise these sewing bees but now it’s down to us. I’ve been bribing the cast with homemade cookies in return for helping out, but we still only have five people here.

         I’ve got a couple of girls from the ensemble frantically cutting out fringes for me to sew onto skirts and sleeves. Dorothy is cuffing pants and taking in waistlines.

         At our last sewing bee, we had a sing-a-long and got through the entire soundtrack of Les Mis. But today everyone is tired and irritable. Dorothy is so out of it that she sewed through the edge of her finger earlier. She just wrapped it in bandaids and kept going. One of the ensemble girls accidently sliced a hole in her own school skirt because she was cutting fabric on her lap rather than on the table, and another spilled lime cordial all over Buffalo Bill’s hat. It hasn’t been a good day.

         We don’t leave until the cleaners tell us they are locking the doors.

         Dorothy and I catch the bus home together.

         ‘Want to come over tonight?’ she asks.

         ‘I can’t think of anything I would rather do.’

         We head straight to her backyard, without going inside the house. Dorothy says her mum is sleeping and she doesn’t want to wake her, but I get the feeling she is too ashamed to let me see inside.

         They have some old plastic lawn chairs, which we sit on.

         ‘So, what’s been happening with you and Adam?’ she asks.126

         ‘What do you mean?’

         ‘Oh, just something I’ve noticed.’

         ‘Last week in music he asked if he could borrow my glue stick,’ I say.

         ‘In some cultures, that’s a proposal of marriage.’

         ‘What about you? Are you interested in anyone at school?’

         She doesn’t answer straight away. ‘I guess not.’

         ‘You guess?’

         ‘Sometimes things don’t work out the way you think they will.’

         ‘That’s far too cryptic for my brain to handle at this time of night,’ I say.

         She sighs and tilts her head back to look at the stars.

         That’s one thing I’ll miss when I leave this town and head for the city: the stars. The couple of times I’ve been to Sydney to see a show with Dimitri and his family and we stayed the night I couldn’t believe it. It’s like the city is under a huge dome that blocks out everything.

         ‘You busy this Sunday?’ I ask.

         ‘Nope.’

         ‘Reckon you could help me convince the gang to come and watch a rugby match?’

         ‘What? The drama kids at a sporting event? I dunno, Hal – worlds might collide.’

         ‘Come on, how bad could it be?’

         ‘And why, pray tell, do you want us to go to a rugby match?’127

         ‘Adam Tolentino invited me.’

         ‘Oh, now I see.’

         ‘Shut up.’

         ‘Why can’t you just go by yourself?’ she asks.

         ‘He said to bring the gang, and if I show up alone I might look desperate.’

         ‘But you are desperate.’

         I snort. ‘Yeah, but he doesn’t need to know that.’

         ‘I guess we could convince Walter if we say we’re investigating the case.’ She narrows her eyes. ‘That seems to be all he cares about at the moment. And Dimitri and Penny might come if you mention Adam will be there. I’ve seen them checking him out a few times.’

         ‘You’re a genius.’ I stand up. ‘I better get going,’ I say. I’m starting to get a little chilly, and it’s well and truly dark now.

         ‘You sure you want to walk home by yourself? Why don’t you stay over and sleep on the couch?’ She says it warmly, but I get the feeling she still really doesn’t want me to go inside.

         ‘No, I’m okay.’ I’ll be honest: the thought of sleeping on the couch in that house makes my skin crawl.

         Anyway, I kind of want some time to think. It doesn’t occur to me to be afraid until I’m alone on the street.

         I consider going back to Dorothy’s place and sleeping on the couch after all, but I feel like such a wimp. I take my phone out, thinking I’ll call my dad and get him to swing by and get me, but there’s never any reception in 128this stupid town and he’s probably out at his stupid poker game anyway. I decide to just get it over with as quickly as I can and power-walk down the street, trying not to look behind me. Every sound makes me jump and every time a car drives past, I get an irrational urge to leap behind the nearest bush. The thought of Gus coming after me seemed totally unrealistic in the safety of the school today, but now I’m not so sure. I have the strangest feeling that somebody is following me.

         I’m almost halfway home when another car pulls into the street and drives up behind me. I can’t help checking the driver’s window as it goes past but I can’t see who’s inside because the window is covered in duct tape. I wish suddenly that I had put a hood over my expanse of hair. Luckily, the car keeps driving. No reason to panic. Plenty of people have their driver’s-side window smashed in, right? The car reaches the intersection up ahead and does a full three-point turn so that it’s facing me again. That’s perfectly normal, right? Now that it’s under the streetlight up ahead, I see that the car is red and the front is all dented in. Shit. It’s Gus. It has to be. He must have recognised me from my hair.

         The car is sitting perfectly still, its headlights shining towards me. I stop in my tracks. Is he going to try to run me over? I am sweating from every pore on my body. The car is directly in my path to get home. Right now, I have two choices: I can turn around and sprint back to Dorothy’s house, though there’s no way I could outrun 129a car all that way; or I can keep walking and hope that death-threat-Gus doesn’t try to kill me as I pass. Maybe he just wants to yell at me, or demand money for the damage to his car. But this is the man who Ms Lovelace travelled all the way across Australia to get away from. He may not be the one who killed her, but who knows what he’s capable of?

         I hear the engine turn off, then the car door opens. Gus steps out onto the street. He is less than a hundred metres away from me. I can feel my heart beating in every inch of my body. I look around desperately for something to use as a weapon. Then it occurs to me that there’s a third option. If I cut across the road and head down the little footpath between those two houses, I will come out at the reserve, which is only a couple of houses down from Adam Tolentino’s place.

         ‘Hey, kid,’ Gus shouts. I think he is trying to sound non-threatening, like he just wants to chat. Perhaps he isn’t positive that it’s me yet, but the closer he gets, the sooner he will realise that I’m the person responsible for the fact that his car looks like it went twelve rounds with a cement truck. He starts to walk towards me. He’s not running. Not yet, anyway.

         There’s nothing else for it. I leg it across the road and down the footpath. It’s not super clear where the footpath is from the street. My hope is that he won’t see it straight away. Maybe he’ll think I’ve gone around the back of one of the houses.130

         ‘You little bitch!’ I hear him yell from behind me and then, more terrifying than that, the sound of his feet pounding along the tarmac behind me.

         The footpath is narrow and overgrown with lantana. My dad and I used to do bush regeneration in the nature reserve behind the school when I was a kid, clearing out as much lantana and blackberry as we could, but they always came back. We could never keep on top of it.

         I emerge from the path onto Adam’s street. I can see his house from here.

         ‘Where did you go, you little bitch?’ Gus shouts from behind me. I don’t think he’s found the footpath yet. I’ve bought myself thirty seconds maybe. ‘You’re gonna pay for what you did to my car.’

         There’s a light on in Adam’s house. I know it’s his place because I’ve seen him coming out the door before when he’s missed the bus in the mornings, running to try to catch up before we reach the next stop, a piece of toast in his mouth and one of his shoes still in his hand.

         I sprint across the road to his front door. I have never run so fast in my entire life. My old PE teacher would never believe it.

         I can hear Gus coming down the path now. He sounds furious. His voice comes through the trees in bursts like cannon fire.

         I pound on Adam’s door and yell his name in a voice that can reach the back of a crowded theatre. I don’t care if I wake the whole street.131

         I look back and Gus has appeared from the footpath. He looks straight at me. He is five houses away. I keep pounding on the door with both fists. I’m so frantic that when Adam opens the door I fall straight through into his arms.

         ‘Hallie? What the fuck?’

         ‘Close the door!’ I yell.

         Adam slams it behind me and I back further into the room until I collide with a wall and slide down onto the floor. I watch Adam turn the lock, then he peers out the window.

         ‘Who the hell is that?’ he asks.

         ‘Come away from the window,’ I say, trying to catch my breath.

         He crosses the room and kneels by my side. ‘Are you okay?’ he asks.

         His brother Felix’s face appears around the corner. ‘What’s going on?’ he says. He doesn’t sound scared, more excited.

         ‘Nothing, buddy. Just get Hallie a glass of water, will you?’

         He disappears again.

         ‘You can’t stay in there forever,’ Gus yells through the door and he gives it a kick for good measure.

         ‘Listen, you psycho,’ Adam yells back, in a voice like gravel. ‘We’re calling the police, so if you have even one brain cell left you’ll get the fuck off my verandah.’

         It goes quiet outside. Felix returns from the kitchen with a glass of water. He hands it to me and sits by my side as 132Adam makes the call to the police from their landline. I try to take a sip but my hands are shaking too much to get the cup to my lips.

         Then Adam sits on my other side and puts his arm around me.

         ‘Can you go back to bed, Felix?’ he says.

         ‘Seriously?’

         ‘Now.’

         Felix stands reluctantly and walks back down the hall.

         ‘Thanks for the water,’ I manage to say before he disappears.

         ‘Hallie,’ Adam says. ‘What the hell is going on? Who is that guy? What are you mixed up in?’

         I look up at him and notice for the first time that he is only wearing boxer shorts. It is a nice distraction from the sheer terror that is icing my veins. His chest is hairier than I’d imagined and freckled. Not that I’m looking.

         ‘It’s a long story,’ I say.

         ‘Knowing the police force in this town, we’ve got a bit of time,’ he says.

         So I tell him about the threatening letters and us searching Gus’s motel room for the evidence, about pushing his car into the ditch to save Dimitri, and about the knife the police found under his bed.

         ‘Shit,’ Adam says, shaking his head in disbelief. ‘You drama kids are crazy.’

         ‘I know.’

         ‘And now he’s trying to kill you?’133

         ‘Seems to be,’ I say. ‘Is he still out there?’

         Adam stands and looks through the window. ‘Can’t see him. I reckon he buggered off when he realised the police were coming. Maybe he’s not as stupid as I thought.’

         I try not to think about what might have happened if Adam hadn’t opened the door in time.

         He turns back to me. ‘And what were you doing walking the streets alone at this time of night?’

         ‘I don’t know,’ I say and I feel my eyes start to fill with tears. How humiliating.

         He sits back down beside me and puts his arm around my shoulders again.

         ‘It’s okay,’ he says. ‘You’re safe now. I won’t let him hurt you.’

         We sit there on the floor for at least twenty minutes before we hear sirens approaching and then the entranceway fills with blue and red flashing lights. Adam opens the door to Sergeant Griffiths, who looks him up and down suspiciously before helping me up off the floor.

         ‘What is going on, Hal?’ he asks.

         I explain what happened with Gus. I can see him trying to work out why on earth I was walking home alone.

         ‘It was my idea to push his car into the ditch,’ I say. ‘And I’m the one he saw at the motel. It wasn’t Walter’s fault.’

         ‘I’ll give you a lift home,’ he says after taking my statement. ‘Thanks, son,’ he says to Adam, shaking his hand. ‘I owe you one.’134

         I smile at Adam as Caleb ushers me into the police car. I can’t help scanning the street as I wait in the back seat, but there’s no sign of Gus.

         When my dad answers the door in his pyjamas, Sergeant Griffiths explains to him what happened. Once the police leave, Dad asks if I’m okay, which seems like a ridiculous question, so I just tell him I’m fine and go to my room. I double-check that my window is locked before getting under the covers. It’s absurd, but I felt safer sitting on the floor with Adam than I do in my own bed.

         My mobile phone rings. It’s Walter.

         ‘Are you okay?’ he says as soon as I pick up.

         ‘I’m fine.’

         ‘What were you thinking going out alone? I told you Gus was out. You could have been killed!’

         ‘I know.’

         ‘Do you want me to come over?’

         ‘No, I’m fine, really.’

         ‘Dad says they’re going to drive him out of town and make sure he knows not to come back.’

         ‘Great.’

         ‘I think I should come over.’

         ‘No. Honestly, I’m fine. I’ll see you at school tomorrow.’

         I hang up and try my best to get my heartbeat back to a normal rate as I fall asleep. I’m not sure if it’s pounding because of the near-death experience or from seeing Adam Tolentino in his boxer shorts.
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            Chapter 15

         

         The rest of the week passes in a flash, and I’m starting to realise that I spend far too much of my free time at school. I was there all day yesterday for musical rehearsals, and now here I am again. Our rehearsal actually went well. I hate to admit it, but Dorothy is doing a pretty good job as the assistant director. She’s the perfect combination of firm but kind, like Mary Poppins. When she walks around the hall, it’s as if the air moves out of the way for her to pass through unimpeded. We managed to run through the whole show from the top without making too many mistakes. I even nailed my high note in ‘Anything You Can Do’, which is a struggle, I can tell you.

         The drama gang and I are sitting under a gum tree by the school oval watching Adam’s rugby match. Dorothy felt so guilty about what happened with Gus and for letting me walk home alone that she single-handedly convinced everyone to come along to the game. Even Penny is here. She has a black lace parasol and is wearing black lace gloves. Dorothy did promise to buy them all sausage sandwiches and slushies as well.136

         The five of us stand out like sore thumbs with our sunnies and our long sleeves. Dorothy is wearing a huge wide-brimmed hat that I’m pretty sure she took from the drama room. Us theatre folk don’t do well in the sun.

         The private school kids’ uniforms are all slick and match perfectly. Our team looks like they chucked theirs together from the lost property bins. Adam’s is far too small for him. Not that I’m looking, of course.

         Adam spots me in the crowd while they’re warming up and waves at me. I try to stop my cheeks from flushing. Stupid. Dimitri and Penny both wave back before realising he isn’t looking at either of them.

         Mr Feather is here, but it’s pretty obvious he would rather be literally anywhere else. I catch him checking his phone at least twenty times. Addie is here too, taking photos on the school camera. It’s the same one we’ve used to take photos for the Annie Get Your Gun program.

         I don’t know an awful lot about team sports, to be totally honest with you. But, from what I can deduce, it looks as though Adam’s team is winning. He does a lot of running and dodging and tackling. He seems to be pretty good at it. I assume this because the other members of his team hug him and pat him on the back quite a lot throughout the game. He can run awfully fast too; nobody else seems to be able to keep up with him.

         At half-time, Dorothy takes Dimitri and Walter for their sausage sandwiches at the barbecue fundraiser stall. Penny and I stay behind as the token vegetarians.137

         ‘Hey, did you see that?’ Penny says suddenly, her eyes flicking past me to the school.

         ‘What?’

         ‘I’m sure I just saw someone slinking around up there.’

         ‘It’s probably just someone’s kids playing hide and seek.’

         ‘Come on, let’s check it out,’ she says, standing up and closing her parasol. ‘It won’t take a minute.’

         I don’t much fancy wandering off into the school – it gives me the creeps when it’s deserted like this – but I follow her up the hill. I try to catch Walter’s eye to let him know where we’re going, but he’s too busy saucing his sausage sandwich.

         Penny is quick up the stairs and I follow her black lace skirts as they disappear around the corner.

         ‘Wait up,’ I say, jogging to keep up with her. ‘You better not be about to kill me.’ I laugh, but only a little. She turns her wing-tipped eyes to me and smiles.

         ‘Trust me, Warner, if I wanted you dead, you’d already be in the ground.’

         I catch up to her and look out across the quad. ‘There’s no one here,’ I say. But all of a sudden, we hear a noise above us, like there’s someone on the stairs. The stairs that lead to the drama room.

         Penny is already running up them before I have a chance to suggest getting the others first. She is surprisingly quiet in her combat boots. I feel as though every step I take echoes around the school like a snare drum beat.

         We reach the top of the first flight of stairs, the science block. I grab hold of Penny’s hand so she can’t run off 138without me again. Her fingers are cold and tipped with blue-black nail polish. She puts a finger to her lips, as if I needed to be told to keep quiet. A moment passes, then we hear the soft click of a door closing above us. Penny is off again, dragging me behind her. As we reach the top of the stairs, at first I think there’s no one here. But I have the eerie feeling that there’s somebody standing just around the corner, in front of the music staffroom. Penny’s hand grips mine a little tighter and I’m sure she is thinking the same thing. We are standing on the very spot where Ms Lovelace died. 

         We flatten ourselves against the wall and slowly edge towards the corner. I am almost too frightened to look around it. What if the killer is right there, waiting with their knife poised, ready to take another victim? Maybe they just hate the theatre and want to kill as many drama geeks as possible. Penny taps me on the shoulder and motions for me to look. I swallow and poke my head past the edge. There’s a figure standing outside the storeroom door. They have their back to us but I’m sure they know we’re here. They are wearing a black hoodie with the hood up.

         ‘I know you’re there,’ the figure says. It’s clearly a male voice, and one I recognise but can’t quite place. ‘Just turn around and go back down the stairs and no one has to get hurt.’

         ‘He’s bluffing,’ Penny whispers.

         Without warning, he makes a break for it, sprinting along the corridor towards the front office.139

         Penny dashes after him in an instant, dropping my hand. I think about it for less than a second before following them. I can’t leave Penny to chase a murderer alone. Even if she does have a black belt.

         Whoever he is, he sure is fast. He flies down the hall, down one flight of stairs, through the front office and out the front entrance with Penny and me trying in vain to keep up. I lose sight of him as he sprints across the car park and into the crowd of people watching the game.

         ‘We’ll never find him now,’ Penny says, bending over to catch her breath.

         ‘What do you think he was doing?’ I ask.

         ‘Who knows. Let’s go back the way we came,’ Penny says. ‘Maybe he dropped something.’

         On our way, we pass by Addie’s office. One of the blinds is open a crack and we peer through the window.

         ‘Let’s break in,’ Penny says.

         ‘I beg your pardon?’

         ‘The counsellor’s office – let’s break in. I bet she has something in her files that would be useful. If the killer is someone at our school, maybe they’ve been coming to counselling sessions with her.’

         ‘That is wrong on so many levels,’ I say.

         ‘Don’t be such a wuss, Hallie.’

         I watch as she tries the handle, then the lock with a bobby pin, then barges her shoulder into the door. Nothing.

         ‘Well, you’re a great help,’ she says.

         ‘Try this,’ I say, and I hand her Ms Lovelace’s lanyard.140

         ‘You still have her keys?’

         ‘I thought they might come in handy.’

         ‘And you didn’t think to mention this before I dislocated my shoulder?’

         ‘I didn’t want to steal your moment.’

         There are several keys on the lanyard and the third one Penny tries turns in the lock.

         The door swings open. Penny makes a beeline for the filing cabinet behind the desk but I stand still at the door. The room smells of Addie’s lavender diffuser and chamomile tea. Being in here again is making me feel strange.

         ‘Penny,’ I say, ‘I think we should get out of here.’ I cross the room and look over her shoulder to see that she is flicking through the ‘K’ section. I turn my attention to the desk. I wonder if Addie and Ms Lovelace were friends. They must have been around the same age, but I don’t remember ever seeing them together. But there are no photos to hint at her family or friends. The desk is pristine, with nothing but hand sanitiser and her computer on its surface. I turn back to Penny, who is pulling out a manila folder with the word ‘Keating’ on the top.

         ‘What are you doing?’ I ask.

         ‘Nothing,’ she says, shoving it in her bag. ‘Let’s go.’

         ‘Is that Dorothy’s file?’ I ask, chasing after her. ‘You can’t read that!’

         But Penny is off and I have to almost jog to keep up with her. We make it back to the oval in time to catch the 141end of the match. Our school ends up winning and Addie takes a photo of the whole team with their coach. Adam is front and centre, holding the ball with a huge grin on his face.

         I notice that Felix and his dad aren’t in the crowd. I guess they had to work at the shop today. Penny and I fill the others in on the stranger, and no one can come up with a logical reason for him to be there.

         Nowthat the game is over, most of the crowd dissipates. Mums load up their four-wheel drives with half a dozen kids and head to town for icy poles; several beat-up P-plate cars zoom off together towards the creek; and, for some unknown reason, Adam Tolentino jogs up the hill to our picnic blanket. He plonks himself down on the ground next to me.

         ‘Thanks for coming, guys,’ he says, wiping the sweat from his forehead. His legs are covered in smears of dried mud. I don’t know why, but I can’t look away.

         ‘Great game,’ Walter says. It only sounds slightly sarcastic. Penny rolls her eyes. If eye-rolling were an Olympic sport, then Penny would get the gold medal.

         ‘Can we go yet?’ she asks. ‘I think I’m getting burnt.’

         Her skin actually looks even paler than it did when we arrived, if that’s possible. Not to mention the fact that the clouds are rolling in and it looks like we’re in for another summer storm.

         ‘The lads and I are heading to the creek,’ Adam says. ‘You guys wanna come with?’142

         Before Walter or Penny has the chance to refuse, Dorothy blurts out, ‘Yeah of course!’

         That girl has got my back.

         ‘I’ve borrowed my dad’s ride,’ Adam says. ‘Who’s game?’ He gets up and holds out a hand to pull me to my feet.

         ‘I’m down,’ Walter says, which is a phrase he has never used before in his life.

         Penny follows us too, leaving Dorothy to come in Dimitri’s car. Dimitri only looks slightly disappointed that he couldn’t think of a way to get himself into Adam’s car too.

         As we approach the road, Walter yells ‘Shotty!’ just a little too enthusiastically. Penny and I share another eye-roll.

         The car is, by definition, a shit-box. There’s no air-con and the back right-hand window doesn’t open. The seats are starting to wear through, and there’s also enough sand on the floor to fill a kid’s sandpit.

         It’s just starting to sprinkle with rain and the wipers thud across the windscreen in a staccato rhythm. There’s nothing but a dirt road leading to the creek, and there’s already a line of cars parked along the verge. Adam pulls in behind Dimitri’s Mazda, which looks ludicrously out of place among the beat-up utes and Toyota Corollas.

         The four of us pile out of the car and start walking along the little bushwalk trail that goes to the rock platform. Tiny rain droplets gather in my hair.

         Several groups of people are scattered about, including a bunch of other lads from the rugby team, who are already in the water.143

         ‘You guys going in?’ Adam asks.

         ‘I don’t do water,’ Penny says.

         I hear a splash behind me and realise Dorothy has jumped in. Her dress and sandshoes are in a neat pile on the rocks beside us. Adam cheers.

         ‘That’s the spirit!’ he says.

         Walter and Dimitri exchange an emasculated look.

         Dimitri pulls off his shirt in one fluid motion and takes a running jump. He disappears over the edge.

         Penny has put up her parasol and is settling down with her book under the shelter of a tree nearby. She’s reading Coraline for about the twentieth time.

         Walter slips his shirt off in a far less graceful way than Dimitri did, getting stuck halfway. I cringe in embarrassment for him as he quickly follows Dimitri into the water.

         I am suddenly left alone with Adam.

         ‘Wanna walk?’ he says.

         I am uneasy. This could be my chance to ask him what he was doing at the school the day of the scavenger hunt, but I don’t know how I feel about walking into the secluded bush with him.

         I glance at Penny, who gives me a look that seems to say if-you-don’t-go-with-him-I-will. 

         ‘Okay,’ I say, finally.

         I take off my sandshoes and socks and leave them with Penny, then we head down the hill to where the younger kids usually swim with their parents. There are none here 144now; they must have been scared off by the threat of the summer storm.

         We walk along the wet sand.

         ‘Thanks for coming to my game,’ Adam says. ‘It was nice to know there was someone out there cheering for me. I’m sure you were bored to death.’

         I shove him playfully towards the water. ‘There were plenty of people cheering for you,’ I say.

         ‘Don’t start something you can’t finish, Warner,’ he says, shoving me back. ‘Shall we go in?’

         ‘I don’t have my cossie,’ I say.

         ‘Neither do I,’ he says, pulling his football jersey over his head.

         ‘You’re not seriously suggesting we skinny-dip, are you?’

         ‘Well, I was going to leave my shorts on,’ he says, ‘but if you want to, I’m not going to stop you.’

         He winks at me and I shove him again. He runs into the water.

         ‘Come on, Warner,’ he says. ‘Don’t be a chicken.’

         He’s already in up to his waist. I wish I could remember what underpants I wore today. I hope they are cute ones and not the old beige Cottontails that I really should throw away.

         I consider leaving my T-shirt on, but it’s my favourite Let Your Freak Flag Fly shirt, from when I saw Shrek the Musical with Dimitri. I also consider just sitting on the rock and waiting for Adam to come back, but I really want to go out there.145

         I slip the T-shirt off over my head. Great, skin-colour bra. How very sexy of you, Hallie Warner. I unbutton my shorts and pull them off too. Luckily, I’m wearing relatively new underpants, and they’re black too, so they won’t go see-through. I guess that’s a bonus.

         I walk towards the edge of the water and try my best not to look as self-conscious as I feel. It’s a bit of an effort.

         I make my way out to where Adam is treading water. The creek gets pretty deep in the middle.

         ‘I was beginning to think you weren’t coming,’ Adam says.

         I splash him and he smiles. Then his expression turns serious.

         ‘Are you okay, Warner? I mean, after the other night, you must have been pretty shaken up.’

         ‘Well, it’s not every day you get chased through the streets by a psychopath.’

         ‘Seriously.’

         ‘I was pretty scared,’ I admit.

         ‘Me too.’

         ‘You were?’

         ‘Don’t tell anyone.’

         ‘Was Felix all right?’ I say. ‘I hope it didn’t scare him too much.’

         Adam laughs. ‘That kid thinks you’re a superhero. He’s been telling all his friends about that night, like it was something out of The Fast and the Furious.’

         I look at Adam and wonder, not for the first time, why on earth I am hanging out with him. This is the guy who 146made fun of me for years in primary school. Who threw water bombs at my house on Halloween. His eyes are blue – the kind of blue that you only see on TV – and his hair looks even darker when it’s wet. He has tiny drops of water on his eyelashes and it might just be the sexiest thing I’ve ever seen. Come on, Hallie. Pull yourself together. This is Adam Tolentino we’re talking about. He has a couple of tattoos I’ve never noticed before. He catches me looking at them.

         ‘I did them myself in class a couple of years ago,’ he says.

         ‘How?’

         ‘I used a needle and pen ink,’ he says. ‘Pretty stupid, huh?’

         ‘What are they?’

         ‘This one,’ he says, pointing to his left bicep, ‘was supposed to be a football, and this one,’ he points to his right shoulder, ‘is Felix the Cat. You know, from the cartoon?’

         ‘For your brother Felix?’

         ‘That was the idea, but turns out he didn’t even know there was a Felix the Cat. Kind of ruined the gesture. I’m still trying to figure out something to get for Cris – other than a set of handcuffs.’ He laughs.

         ‘So, Cris is your—’ I start.

         ‘My brother, yeah. Crisanto is his full name, but no one ever calls him that. You probably saw the story on the news.’

         The entire town knows the story of Crisanto Tolentino. 147About a year ago, he was drunk driving and hit an old lady who was out walking her dog. She died in hospital the next day. Her grandkids go to our school.

         ‘So, tell me about your family.’ Adam says, changing the subject. ‘Are they as colourful as mine?’

         ‘I’m an only child. My parents are still together.’

         ‘So that’s a hard no then.’

         I splash him again.

         ‘My mum works all the time, so I hardly ever see her, and even when she is at home she’s usually sleeping. And my dad thinks my dreams are stupid and wants me to become an accountant or something.’

         ‘Shit.’

         ‘It’s cool you work with your dad,’ I say. ‘Or maybe not?’ I add, seeing the look on his face.

         ‘No, it’s all right,’ he says. ‘I like being able to keep an eye on him. Especially now that Felix is helping out too.’

         ‘What about your mum?’

         I regret asking as soon as the words are out of my mouth. A shadow passes over his face.

         ‘She, uh … she left,’ he says, running a hand over his face to wipe the water off. ‘She and my dad had a lot of problems. She threatened to leave plenty of times. We never thought she’d actually do it. Then one day, she packed a suitcase and got on the bus out of town. She said she’d send for me, Felix and Cris once she was settled. That was seven years ago.’

         ‘I’m so sorry.’148

         ‘Just wish she’d write once in a while, you know? Would be nice for Felix.’

         I don’t know what to say to that. The rain is falling more heavily now and thunder rolls in the distance.

         ‘I don’t even know if she’s alive,’ Adam says, looking up at the clouds and letting the rain fall onto his upturned face. I somehow have the courage to find his hand under the water and take it in mine.

         ‘Dad was pretty messed up for a long time, but what happened with Cris was a bit of a wake-up call for him and, well, he’s a lot better than he was anyway.’

         He turns to face me. He is close enough that I can see each individual freckle. My teeth start to chatter.

         ‘Oh, shit,’ Adam says, letting go of my hand. ‘You’re freezing. Let’s get out.’

         Neither of us have a towel and I try to wipe the water off my arms and legs with my hands. I am shivering.

         ‘Here.’ Adam holds out his hoodie. It looks warm and fluffy. I slip it on over my flimsy T-shirt, which is already soaked through.

         ‘We’d better see what the others are doing,’ I say. I picture them all huddled under Penny’s lace parasol with the rain dripping through the holes. I hope they’ve already left.

         We climb back up the hill to the rock. A few of the footy lads are still in the water, but even they seem ready to give it up and head in.

         The only person on the rock is Walter. He is standing 149in the rain, absolutely drenched. It looks like he jumped in the water fully clothed.

         ‘Where the hell have you guys been?’ he asks.

         ‘Where are the others?’ I say, ignoring his absurd parental tone.

         ‘Dimitri drove the girls home half an hour ago.’

         ‘Shit, man,’ Adam says. ‘You didn’t have to wait for us.’

         ‘Let’s just go,’ he says.

         Walter takes the front seat again and I wrap Adam’s hoodie around me as I shiver in the back.

         ‘Sorry, I don’t have heating,’ Adam says.

         ‘Of course you don’t,’ Walter says.

         It’s on the tip of my tongue to mention that Walter doesn’t even have a car in which to put a heater, but I keep my mouth shut.

         Adam drops us off outside our houses. I walk around to the driver’s window and start to unzip his hoodie.

         ‘No, keep it,’ Adam says, reaching out of the car to zip it back up again. ‘It looks better on you anyway.’

         ‘I find that very hard to believe,’ I say.

         Walter sneezes aggressively.

         ‘I’d better get inside,’ I say.

         Walter walks with me. I notice that Adam hasn’t driven off yet. He is watching us through the window.

         ‘What?’ I say to Walter.

         ‘What was all that about anyway?’ he says. ‘Why are we suddenly friends with Adam Tolentino? And since when do you enjoy rugby?’150

         ‘It’s not suddenly,’ I say, even though it totally is. ‘Adam does music with Dimitri, Penny and me. He invited us, I said yes. That’s all there is to it.’

         He follows me onto the verandah.

         ‘What are you doing, Walt?’

         ‘I thought we could hang out,’ he says.

         ‘Walter, go home and have a shower. You’ve probably got pneumonia.’

         ‘I could shower at your place.’

         ‘I will be showering at my place.’

         I can see his brain ticking. I open the door before he can think of something else to say and close it behind me, leaving him standing on the verandah.

         I hear Adam’s car drive off and watch through the kitchen window as it disappears around the corner.
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            Chapter 16

         

         ‘Mr Morton?’

         It’s Dorothy who speaks. Sometimes I forget Mr Morton is even in here during drama lessons. Besides marking the roll at the start of each lesson, he has started to fade into the backdrop a little bit. Today he’s wearing a paisley shirt that I’m positive his mother bought for him. There is no other reason to wear it in public.

         ‘Yes?’ It is quite apparent that he does not know Dorothy’s name. In a class of five, you would think he could remember our names.

         ‘Last term we handed in an essay as part of our assessment. Do you have them? Or do you know what marks we got?’

         ‘I uh, well, I’ve not seen them anywhere on Ms Lovelace’s desk. Perhaps they were at her house?’

         My heart sinks a little bit as I think back to that night when we fed her cats. I wonder what happened to them.

         ‘Will we just get an estimate mark then?’ Dimitri asks. I’m sure he would love to get an estimate mark.

         ‘I’ll look into it,’ Mr Morton says, but I highly doubt he will.152

         I realise I have been holding my breath and breathe out slowly.

         We get back to work, but I can’t seem to focus today. I stuff up my part in the song and I’m out of time in all the unison moments.

         I am glad when the bell goes and we head outside.

         We all sit together at recess, on the grass near the hall. The sunlight is just disappearing behind the clouds.

         ‘Want to run lines after school?’ Walter asks.

         I don’t suppose I need to tell you that I have no need to run lines, but I’m sure that Walter does.

         ‘I have to work,’ I say. I teach ballet to the tiny ones at Berlioz Dance School one afternoon a week.

         ‘After that?’ he asks.

         I agree reluctantly and look at Penny, who keeps her head down. She’s working on her essay for English. She has great handwriting; it looks like it was written by an old typewriter.

         ‘Want to run lines with us, Dorothy?’ I ask.

         ‘I have to work until late.’

         Looks like it’s just Walter and me then.

         
            [image: ]

         

         As we’re lining up to board the bus home, there’s a bit of a punch-up because some punk in Year Seven tried to cut in line. One of Adam’s mates literally kicked him in the butt and sent him packing.153

         Walter and I sit together in the middle of the bus with Dorothy in the seat in front of us. I sneak a glance at Adam, but he has his back to me. He and his friends are playing Shoot, Shag or Marry. Charming. I am grateful I never hear my name mentioned.

         ‘I’ll meet you in the tree house after dinner,’ I say as Walter dismounts. I’m taking the bus into town for baby ballet.

         I peek at the back seat again. Adam’s mate is looking positively smug, even though the Year Seven kid he kicked is clearly crying up the front of the bus. Adam catches me looking his way and smiles at me. I turn back to the front to hide my blush.

         Adam and I get off at the same stop in town. He must be working this afternoon too.

         ‘What are you up to, Warner?’ he asks me.

         ‘I’ve got work,’ I say. I hope he doesn’t think I’m stalking him. ‘Baby ballet.’

         He laughs. ‘Sounds dangerous.’

         ‘Nah, it’s all right.’

         ‘Want to stop by the shop after? I could shout you a cheeseburger.’

         ‘I have plans, sorry.’ Stupid Walter. Why on earth did I say I’d rehearse with him tonight? ‘Also, I’m a vegetarian.’

         I don’t mean for it to sound quite so snarky, but it does, all the same.

         Adam scratches the back of his head. ‘No worries.’154

         He goes through the door to the take-away shop, and I’m left standing on the street wishing I had a good reason to follow him inside.
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         The little kids are distracted today by the rain. Their battements are all over the place and not one of them can remember their arm positions. It has started bucketing down outside. We take a break from our barre exercises to stand and watch it cascading down the windows. The church hall is the very definition of a multi-purpose building. It’s weird to think that not that long ago I was in this room for Ms Lovelace’s memorial service and that later tonight there will be a circle of chairs for an AA meeting.

         When the class is over, I leave the keys in the lockbox for Berlioz to get tomorrow afternoon and I run past the take-away shop on my way to the bus stop. I stop to look through the window even though I’m getting soaked. I can see Adam behind the counter in his apron. He is serving a woman with four kids hanging off her. I wave at him but he is distracted by one of the kids knocking over a box full of salt sachets.

         I stand at the bus stop for a full minute in the rain before I duck inside Total Take-Away. Of course, we don’t have a bus shelter in this town.

         ‘Warner,’ Adam yells from behind the counter, ‘you’re creating a slipping hazard.’155

         Water drips from my hair and my clothes onto the floor. Adam shakes his head and tosses me the tea towel he has over his shoulder.

         ‘You want that cheeseburger? I can replace the patty with extra lettuce.’

         ‘No, thanks. I have to be somewhere – just waiting on my bus.’

         There are a few customers sitting around waiting for their orders, reading faded magazines with peeling corners.

         ‘Got more foetus foxtrot?’ Adam says as he follows behind me with a cloth under his foot, wiping up the puddles.

         ‘Baby ballet. And no, I’m meeting someone.’

         ‘You got a hot date?’ He laughs.

         ‘Why? Is that so difficult to imagine? That someone would be interested in a girl like me?’

         ‘Well, it does seem highly unlikely.’

         He gives me a crooked grin and I can’t tell if he’s joking or not.

         I take out my phone to check the time. Only one minute until the bus is due. I should probably head back outside, but the rain is coming down so hard there’s a river flowing along the gutter. They weren’t lying about that La Niña thing.

         ‘Offer her a lift home, you idiot,’ Adam’s father says from behind the counter. I hear the bus coming down the road.

         ‘Seriously?’ Adam says.

         ‘You can take your break now.’156

         Adam shrugs at me and I hardly even hear the bus pulling away from the stop as I follow him through the kitchen and out the screen door.

         His father’s car is parked out the back in a little side street.

         ‘You have a curfew?’ he asks.

         ‘Nah, my dad is at his poker match tonight and Mum is working late.’

         He starts the engine and music pours out of the speakers. Some whiny rock from the 2000s.

         ‘You are so predictable,’ I say.

         ‘I’m sorry, were you expecting Beethoven? I’m sure your Spotify Wrapped is all show tunes and Glee.’

         He’s got me there.

         ‘Just drive,’ I say.

         He crunches into gear and we round the corner onto the main road, hitting at least three potholes. One of our neighbours has taken to spray-painting circles around them so that they are easier to see at night, especially when the streetlights conk out.

         ‘Who are you trying to impress, driving like a hoodlum?’ I say.

         ‘I thought you were in a hurry to get to your hot date.’

         ‘I’d rather get there in one piece.’

         He slows down to a laughable pace. We are moving so slowly that I can see the dandelions poking through the cracks in the bitumen, their yellow flowers leaning under the weight of the rain.

         The windscreen wipers stutter their way back and forth.157

         Adam turns the music down.

         ‘So, who’s the guy?’ he says.

         ‘What?’

         ‘The hot date. Who’s the guy?’

         ‘Oh, it’s not a date. I’ve just got to rehearse with Walter for the show.’

         ‘Got time for a detour?’

         I think about Walter waiting for me in the tree house. I’m sure he won’t mind if I’m a tad late.

         ‘What did you have in mind?’

         Adam spins the car into a three-point turn, and we head back towards town. He pulls into a side street and parks behind one of the boarded-up shops.

         ‘I wasn’t sure about showing you this, but now that I know how you drama geeks like breaking into places, I think you can handle it.’

         I follow him around a skip bin to the back door of the old shop. There are cigarette butts and beer cans all over the ground.

         ‘Is this where you bring all the girls?’ I ask.

         ‘Just wait.’

         He pulls aside one of the boards from a back window and climbs inside, disappearing into the darkness. His hand appears to help me in. I take a moment to wonder whether this is a good idea before I follow him through the window.

         Inside, it’s dim and musty. It smells like wet cardboard and mould. There are tables all along the walls and they look like they are covered with magazines.158

         ‘What is this place?’

         The lights flick on above me and the space illuminates in a dull orange glow. The floor is fuzzy and brown, the walls are plastered in orange, and surrounding us on every side are shelves and shelves full of records.

         ‘Used to be an LP store,’ Adam says. ‘Whoever owns it clearly left in a hurry. They’re obviously still paying the power bills though.’ He gestures to the vintage pendant lights hanging from the ceiling.

         I feel like Belle when she is given the library.

         ‘Wanna listen to one?’ he says.

         I head straight to the shelf labelled ‘Musicals and Soundtracks’ because, let’s be real, is there any point having other genres?

         It takes me less than a minute to find the one I’m looking for.

         I slide the record out of its brightly coloured sleeve and carefully pass it to Adam, who places it on the turntable. I watch as he expertly lowers the needle. He’s a natural at it. I wonder how many other girls he has brought here. The album crackles to life like a fireplace. It reminds me of the days when I used to sit on the floor at my grandparents’ house with the record deck playing and my grandpa wearing his story-book face.

         Adam has started on Side B, but it doesn’t really matter.

         ‘What the fuck is this?’ he asks, reaching for the cover in my hands.

         ‘A classic by Meredith Wilson.’159

         ‘Who the hell is she?’

         ‘He was a musical composer in the 1950s.’

         ‘Jesus Christ, Hallie Warner, you are such a dork.’

         ‘Shut up, Adam Tolentino. You can’t expect me to believe you actually like that wimpy rock you had on in the car.’

         ‘Blink-182 are very underrated.’

         ‘Right.’

         He steps forward and hands the record cover back to me.

         ‘It’s The Music Man,’ I say, trying to fill the space between us with words so he can’t get any closer. It feels awfully tight in here. But it’s not like he’s a murderer or anything, right?

         I realise that nobody knows where I am, and I think I left my phone in Adam’s car. This is that moment in the horror film where you say, How could she be so stupid? How could she follow this guy she hardly knows into an abandoned building when there’s a killer on the loose? 

         I wonder if I should scream, and even if I did, whether anyone would hear me.

         Adam sits down on a beanbag behind me and a burst of dust erupts around him.

         I wonder if Walt is already waiting for me in the tree house. Surely, he won’t stay in there with it raining like this. That roof leaks like anything.

         ‘This was my grandpa’s favourite musical,’ I say.

         ‘He was a theatre geek like you then?’

         ‘He was the one who introduced me to the world of musical theatre when I was young. We used to visit my 160grandparents in the school holidays and we’d listen to his old musical records and eat my grandmother’s lamingtons.’

         ‘Cute,’ Adam says, and though I am expecting him to sound sarcastic, he doesn’t. I think he is as surprised as I am.

         My grandfather was the only one who thought I could make it on the stage. The last conversation we had was about me moving to New York to star in a Broadway revival of Seven Brides for Seven Brothers. I remember sitting with him, holding onto his hand, his skin papery.

         Adam is standing beside me. I didn’t notice him get up.

         ‘Hey, isn’t this a Beatles song?’ he says, crossing to the sound system and cranking the volume.

         ‘No. This is “Till There Was You”, from The Music Man.’

         ‘No, this is a Beatles song.’ He moves to the ‘B’ section of the records and starts flicking through them. He pulls out an album with a black and white cover. ‘Here.’

         He lifts the needle and swaps the records over, then Paul McCartney singing an acoustic guitar version of ‘Till There Was You’ falls out of the speakers. 

         ‘Well, there you go,’ I say, smiling. ‘The Beatles must have done a cover of it, so it can’t be that lame after all.’

         ‘Guess not.’

         He slips the Music Man LP back into its cover. ‘You should keep this.’

         ‘I can’t; that’s looting.’

         ‘It’s just going to sit here getting mouldy. Wouldn’t it be better off with you?’161

         I can’t argue with that. ‘Since when do you like The Beatles anyway?’ I say. ‘I thought you were whinge-rock through and through.’

         ‘I guess I’m more than just a pretty face,’ he says. He has a look in his eye that can only be described as a twinkle.

         ‘I’d better get home,’ I say. I can’t bring myself to look into his eyes. I’m afraid they will unlock me.

         ‘Right, sorry – forgot about your hot date with Walter.’

         ‘Not a date,’ I say. ‘But yeah.’

         ‘I guess I should get back to work anyway. Need to keep an eye on Felix, he’s been stealing from the register. That kid is messed up.’ He looks at me through his long eyelashes. ‘Did you know that Felix and I were in the car with him when it happened?’

         My eyes widen. ‘Oh god, I didn’t know.’

         Adam nods. ‘Cris was driving me home from rugby training and Felix had been to watch. I’ll never forget the sound. Felix still has nightmares about it.’

         ‘I’m so sorry,’ I say, and I finally have the nerve to place my hand on his, rubbing my thumb over his calloused knuckles.

         ‘Cris had twice the legal limit of alcohol in his blood, plus a collection of other things. We’re lucky he didn’t kill the lot of us. Dad used to be pretty lax with keeping a lock on the liquor cabinet. The first couple of weeks Cris was in prison were the hardest,’ Adam continues. ‘You know, withdrawals and all that. But he’s doing better now, and he gets to call once a week. Felix still idolises him.’ 162I don’t know what to say. Adam sighs. ‘I wish he wouldn’t. He’s been getting into fights at school and I’ve caught him drinking a couple of times. The principal is threatening to expel him. I don’t know what to do. The kid needs more positive role models in his life.’ I nod slowly and wonder if there’s any way I could get Felix to enrol in the boys’ hip-hop class at Berlioz dance school. ‘I know everyone in this town thinks us Tolentino boys are dropkicks, but I’m not like that. I don’t touch that shit.’

         He turns to look at me and I am suddenly very aware of his lips. He leans towards me. Our faces are only a breath apart, but I flinch away. I can’t kiss him. Not now, not like this. Not until he knows the truth of why I wanted to hang out with him in the first place.

         He doesn’t look hurt when I pull away, and he doesn’t look mad either; there is nothing but acceptance in his eyes.

         ‘Sorry,’ he says. ‘I’m a dickhead.’

         I hesitate. I’m just about to tell him that’s not true when there’s a loud knock on the front door of the store, like someone whacked it with a cricket bat.

         ‘Hey, is there someone in there?’ It’s Sergeant Griffiths’ voice.

         ‘Shit,’ Adam says as he pulls the plug on the sound system.

         ‘You kids shouldn’t be hanging out in there,’ the sergeant says. I can see his silhouette trying to look through the newspaper pasted over the windows. Adam flicks the lights off and there is a moment of silence. All I can hear is his breath beside me.163

         ‘I think he’s gone,’ Adam whispers.

         There’s a noise from the back door, and Dorothy’s words echo in my head. All of our parents. They all signed the permission notes. Any one of them could be the killer. 

         ‘This way,’ Adam hisses, grabbing my hand and leading me behind the counter. There is a small storeroom full of mouldy carboard boxes. We squeeze together in the back corner behind an old set of shelves covered in dust and cobwebs. I try not to think about spiders crawling in my hair.

         I hear the back door open and Sergeant Griffiths’ boots on the lino floor. I wonder if he’ll see the Music Man record abandoned on the counter and know it’s me in here.

         We are squished in so tightly that it’s hard to breathe. Adam has pulled some boxes around us so that even if Sergeant Griffiths comes in he might not realise we’re back here.

         The sergeant’s radio crackles, and the tinny voice of Caleb comes through. Sergeant Griffiths barks something back then seems to do one final sweep of the store before leaving. We sit there for at least five minutes after we hear the back door close.

         Adam lets go of my hand. ‘Come on, let’s get out of here before something else happens.’

         Once we’re safe in the car, he laughs. The best word to describe his laugh would be a ‘chuckle’.

         ‘Hasn’t he got anything better to do?’ Adam says.

         ‘Right? Like, shouldn’t he be trying to find Ms Lovelace’s killer?’ I say.164

         ‘Right,’ he agrees. I notice that he has turned off the music. Another small victory.

         The trip back to my place is far too quick, and before I know it, we’re pulling up outside my front door.

         ‘Thanks for the ride,’ I say. ‘And for showing me your secret hide-out.’

         ‘Have fun on your date,’ he says.

         Oh yeah. I’d almost forgotten about poor Walter. He must have gone inside by now. I fish my phone out of my duffle and see I have twelve missed calls and a bunch of texts from him; the latest is in all caps.

         ‘Shit,’ I say to myself.

         ‘Everything okay?’

         ‘Yeah, sorry,’ I say, opening the car door. ‘See you at school, Adam.’

         I run across the grass to the front door, even though the rain has eased off. I send Walter a text once I’m inside. Sorry, just got home. Meet you in the tree house in ten. 

         I dump my damp duffle on the kitchen counter and make a quick Vegemite sandwich before heading out into the backyard.

         I climb up the tree house ladder with the half-eaten sandwich in one hand. As my head emerges through the trapdoor, I see Walter sitting in the corner looking grumpy. He has changed into his best jeans and a button-up shirt, which is now speckled with water from the holes in the roof. It looks like he may have even put some product in 165his hair. I have no idea why. I’m still in my leotard and legwarmers from work.

         ‘Where have you been?’ he demands.

         ‘Sorry, I missed the bus,’ I say, taking another bite of my sandwich and trying to sound casual. It’s not really a lie.

         ‘I thought you were dead. I even asked my dad to have a look for you on his beat.’

         ‘You didn’t.’

         I think back to Sergeant Griffiths banging on the record shop door. Did he know it was me in there? Was he trying to scare me off so I’d run along home to Walter?

         ‘You didn’t answer any of my calls,’ Walter says.

         I almost tell him that my phone ran out of battery, but that really would be a lie, and besides, the battery on these Nokias lasts for years.

         ‘Were you with him?’

         ‘Him?’

         ‘Adam Tolentino,’ he says, as if the name should be on a wanted poster.

         ‘So what if I was?’

         ‘Did you ask him why his car was at school that day? Or did you conveniently forget again?’

         ‘He just gave me a ride home because of the rain.’

         ‘And?’ he says. ‘Why was he there?’

         ‘I don’t know, Walter. I don’t know how to ask him. How do you ask someone that?’

         ‘The guy could be a murderer, Hal; you shouldn’t be alone with him.’166

         ‘Need I remind you of how he saved my life?’

         Walter shakes his head, and we sit together in silence.

         ‘What did you want to rehearse?’ I ask finally, hoping he will take the bait. He does.

         ‘I thought we could practise “They Say It’s Wonderful”,’ Walter says.

         This is the love song between Annie and Frank Butler.

         ‘I’d rather we rehearse your scenes,’ I say. This is my subtlest way of saying, You need to work on your scenes. 

         Walter gives me a hurt look and I give in reluctantly.

         The song ends with a kiss between Annie and Frank Butler. Now, I have kissed Walter plenty of times before. We had to stage-kiss in our rendition of the balcony scene from Romeo and Juliet last year, among other things. But this is different. He is looking at me with those huge puppy-dog eyes of his, and Dimitri’s words are running through my brain: I just don’t want to see you throw away your future for a boy. 

         We reach the moment when we are supposed to kiss. Walter leans towards me. I am suddenly struck by how grown-up he looks. He’s not the young Walt I used to dance with in the living room; not the boy who I cried with when my rabbit died of myxomatosis. His hair is curly and the colour of wood.

         He kisses me. It’s supposed to be a light peck. Dimitri and I have it down pat. But Walter lingers, and then his hands are on my waist. And just for a second, it almost feels good. But, as his mouth starts to open and his hands slide down to grab onto my hips, I stop him.167

         ‘Walt, don’t,’ I say, pulling away from him and pressing my palm into his chest.

         Disappointment hits him like a brick to the face.

         ‘I thought this was what you wanted,’ he says, trying to take hold of my hand. Suddenly this is all wrong. I feel sick. I never should have let him kiss me in the first place. I want to go home.

         ‘No, Walt,’ I say firmly, removing my hand from his grasp. ‘This is not what I want.’

         He looks confused. I suddenly find him infuriating. How dare he assume that this is what I wanted? How dare he try to kiss me on the pretence of rehearsing for the musical? How dare he taint the beautiful moment between Frank Butler and Annie?

         ‘But this is our fairytale ending,’ he says. ‘You know, best friends forever. Next-door neighbours. This is our storybook—’

         ‘Real life doesn’t work like that, Walter,’ I say, cutting him off. ‘No matter how—’

         ‘After everything …’ he starts. ‘After all I’ve …’

         Piles of unfinished sentences stack up between us. Neither of us can seem to find our way to a full stop.

         Strangely, I am reminded of our Cats entry in the primary school talent quest when we were in Year Six. Walter and I entered the talent quest every year with one musical number or another. He always let me choose the songs and the parts. We usually won first place since the other entrants were mostly unrehearsed and unpolished 168disasters. I always made up the choreography. For our Cats number, there was a lot of floor work. Poor little Walter Griffiths crawled around on the floor in a cat costume, every boy in the school laughing at him. It didn’t matter that we came first. He must have been humiliated.

         It only hits me now what an ungrateful friend I’ve been. I think of all the times Walter went along with my games and my ideas, and he never once complained. Never once forced me to play with Matchbox cars or Lego. Never dragged me along to cricket matches or action movies. But how many of my dance recitals has he watched? How many musicals has he been to see with me?

         ‘That’s not love, Walter.’ I say. I don’t know where the words are coming from, but they are out of my mouth before I can think about them. ‘Love is compromising for each other, not letting someone walk all over you.’

         ‘You don’t walk all over me,’ he says, but the passion has left his voice.

         ‘I do a bit, though, don’t I?’ I take the rope ladder and unfurl it down the tree. ‘I have to go.’

         ‘Don’t,’ he says and I almost cave. I look back at his face and wonder if Dimitri was wrong, and maybe it wouldn’t be so bad settling down and raising a family with Walter. My dad is probably right. I mean, what are the chances of actually making it in the musical theatre industry? Walter’s going to be police sergeant one day. We could have a bunch of kids, get a place by the town theatre. I could start my own singing school. But I have bigger dreams than being 169Mrs Walter Griffiths. I am going to get out of this town one day. I know I am.

         I climb down the ladder to my side of the fence and go inside to do my music homework. I watch out the window for a long time, but I don’t see Walter leave. I hope he doesn’t stay up there all night. I hold my phone in my hand as I work, typing and retyping a message to Walter that I will never send.

         I hear my dad come in at eleven and realise I need to go to sleep. He knocks softly on my door.

         ‘You awake?’ he says.

         ‘Yeah,’ I reply, closing my music book.

         ‘This was on the doorstep,’ he says. ‘Got your name on it.’

         He’s obviously a bit tipsy and sways a little as he hands me something wrapped in butcher’s paper.

         ‘Thanks, Dad,’ I say and watch as he stumbles off to bed.

         I unwrap the paper to find the Music Man record. There’s no note, but I open it and stare at the song title: ‘Till there was you’.
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            Chapter 17

         

         It’s early on Sunday morning and I am waiting at the bus stop. I have an eerie feeling of deja vu.

         Walter and I get on the bus at the same stop. Obviously. Normally, we stand together and chat about how freezing it is and remind each other for the thousandth time to buy a pair of school pants, which we never do. Or we complain about how unpleasantly hot it was last night and how much we wish our bedrooms had air conditioners. But today Walter stands as far away from me as he possibly can while still being near enough to the stop that he’ll be able to get on when the bus arrives.

         I try saying good morning, but he ignores me. This is now the third day of Walter giving me the silent treatment unless speaking is absolutely unavoidable, which proves to be quite often, actually, since we have to rehearse for the show and our drama performance too. But he is certainly making his point known.

         The five of us decided yesterday at rehearsals that it would be an excellent idea to recreate the day of the murder and retrace our steps around the school. Dorothy gets on 171the bus next and meets me on the back seat, but Walter sits a few rows in front. He stares out the window, refusing to speak to anyone.

         Even though we’re on the hunt for a murderer, Dorothy baked cupcakes for everyone. Bless her heart.

         ‘What’s going on with you two?’ she asks, nodding in Walter’s direction. She has private-detective-level skills of observation. Also, Walter is being about as obvious as he can possibly be.

         ‘Nothing,’ I say.

         Dorothy gives me a knowing look and I shake my head as if to say, We’ll talk about this later. 

         We arrive at the school. We didn’t take into account the fact that the front gates would be locked because there are no teachers organising scavenger hunts today. Penny and Dimitri are already there and Penny looks fairly unimpressed by the whole situation. She is wearing ripped jeans and combat boots with a singlet top.

         We head down the back and enter via the bus bay. This spot is never locked.

         ‘I hope the school isn’t alarmed or anything,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘We should pair up, just to be safe,’ Walter says.

         Dimitri and Dorothy automatically join hands and I look to Penny pleadingly.

         ‘I’ll go with Hal,’ she says. Thank god.

         Walter goes with Dimitri and Dorothy up the stairs to the drama room while Penny and I head to Addie’s office, 172where we originally found the peach clue on the scavenger hunt. The doors along the maths corridor are all locked, but we test them one after another just in case.

         We reach Addie’s office and I peer through the window. I notice that her camera is sitting on the desk. She was there at rehearsals, the day before Ms Lovelace died, taking photos for the program. I wonder if she captured anything else that might give us a clue. I take out Ms Lovelace’s keys and open the door.

         ‘Whose file are you after?’ Penny asks.

         I give her an unimpressed look and pick up the camera from the desk. I pull out the SD card and slip it into my pocket. Then we leave the room and head towards the art block.

         ‘So, what’s up with Walter this morning?’ Penny asks.

         ‘It’s a long story.’

         She sits down on the metal benches outside the art rooms and pats the space next to her. She is wearing at least six silver rings and they ping against the metal.

         ‘Well,’ I say, sitting down, ‘Walter and I kind of kissed the other night.’ Her reaction is not what I was expecting. For starters, she doesn’t seem at all surprised or excited. ‘You’re not shocked?’ I ask.

         ‘Well, I did kind of wonder about you two. I mean, you’re so close, I thought maybe you were already, you know.’

         ‘Oh my god, no!’ I say. ‘Walter and I are just friends.’173

         ‘Sorry,’ she says. ‘So what was with the kiss then?’

         ‘I don’t know! We were rehearsing for the show and he just went for it.’

         She looks impressed. ‘I didn’t think he had it in him.’

         ‘This is serious. What do I do?’

         ‘You don’t feel the same way?’

         ‘Not at all,’ I say.

         ‘And did you tell him that?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘So what’s the problem?’

         ‘The problem is that now he’s sulking like a child and giving me the silent treatment.’

         ‘Well, he probably needs some time.’

         ‘I just wish we could go back to the way things were before. Walter is my best friend.’

         She smiles. ‘Wow, you really are an idiot sometimes, Hallie.’ She stands up before I can ask her what she means. ‘We’d better get back to work.’

         We meet up with everyone outside the school gates. Dorothy and Dimitri are sitting on the grassy verge, and Walter is pacing the sidewalk.

         Penny pulls out a cigarette and looks at us through her thick fringe. ‘Well, that was a waste of time,’ she says.

         ‘Did anyone find anything at all?’ Walter asks.

         ‘Not a thing,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Don’t be so negative, Dorothy,’ Dimitri says, with sarcasm poured into his voice by the litre. ‘Don’t forget we found some sand!’174

         ‘Sand?’ Walter says, and I can almost see his brain making a note filed under ‘clues’.

         ‘Yeah,’ Dorothy says, ‘there was some sand on the floor near the drama room door.’

         ‘That’s hardly a case-cracking clue,’ Penny says.

         ‘You know who is always covered in sand?’ Walter says.

         ‘Don’t even—’ I start.

         ‘Adam Tolentino.’

         ‘Yeah, along with two thirds of the student body,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Just saying.’

         ‘But it wasn’t like the sand at the creek,’ Dorothy says. ‘It was much cleaner than that. Like beach sand.’

         ‘The nearest beach is miles away,’ Walter says.

         Dimitri raises his palms in surrender. ‘I’m just telling you what we saw.’

         ‘I took this from Addie’s camera,’ I say, holding out the SD card like a peace offering. ‘There might be a clue on it.’

         Walter holds out his hand and I drop it onto his palm.

         ‘What should we do now?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘Let’s plug this into someone’s laptop and check it out,’ Walter says.

         ‘Why don’t we grab lunch?’ I say. ‘Burgers, anyone?’

         ‘Since when do you eat burgers?’ Walter says.

         ‘Well, I’ve got shit to do,’ Penny says. ‘I’ll see you losers later.’

         ‘I have to work this arvo,’ Dorothy says. ‘I’ll come with you into town.’175

         We pile into Dimitri’s car and he pulls up in front of Total Take-Away.

         ‘It’s not exactly fine dining,’ Dimitri says, inspecting the grimy plastic curtains.

         I ignore him and walk inside. Adam’s father is behind the counter. Shit. Maybe Adam isn’t even working today.

         ‘Do they have any salads?’ Dimitri asks as he comes in behind me. ‘I have my complexion to consider, you know.’

         ‘I’m not really hungry,’ Dorothy says, chewing on her fingernails.

         ‘Yeah, let’s get out of here,’ Walter says.

         They are turning to leave when there’s a voice from behind the counter. ‘Warner?’

         It’s Adam. He has appeared from the kitchen. He has a headband on to keep his hair out of his face.

         ‘Warner?’ Dimitri asks me under his breath. I elbow him in the ribs.

         ‘What can I get you guys?’ Adam asks. ‘We have a new addition to the menu this week: a veggie burger. Wanna be the first ones to give it a crack?’

         I try to hide my smile from the others.

         ‘We’ll take four, thanks,’ I say. ‘And do you happen to have a laptop we can borrow?’

         We sit on the plastic chairs by the door while we wait. I’m not game enough to ask if they’re cooking the veggie patties on the same hot plate as the beef. Better not to know, I think.176

         Adam brings out the burgers in individual cardboard take-away containers. ‘And a bag of chips, on the house,’ he says, winking at me. Then he pulls up another chair and sits with us, pulling out a laptop that was possibly made around the same time as the first microwave. Walter looks like he would try to fight him if he weren’t certain he’d lose. Dimitri is raising his eyebrows at me. Walter takes the laptop and plugs in the SD card.

         ‘So, what have you lot been up to today?’ Adam says, taking a chip. ‘Not rehearsing on Sundays now too, are you? That’s dedication.’

         ‘Well, we were … I mean, we’ve been …’ I don’t know how to explain what we were doing without sounding like a complete psychopath.

         ‘Team building,’ Dimitri says. ‘For the show.’

         ‘Right,’ I say.

         ‘I finish up in half an hour,’ Adam says. ‘You guys wanna stick around?’

         ‘Sorry, we have a pretty packed schedule,’ Walter says. He has eaten his burger so fast that he looks like he might throw it right back up again.

         ‘Oh sure, no worries.’ Adam’s tone is breezy but I wonder if he is actually disappointed. He peers at the computer screen. ‘Looks like the SD card is encrypted or something. You might need someone to hack into it.’ He looks at each of us expectantly, but not one of us has the slightest technical skills. ‘My brother Felix could give it a crack. He’s mad about computers.’177

         ‘I’m sure we can manage ourselves,’ Walter says.

         Before I have a chance to say anything, a car pulls up outside, surrounded by a cloud of smoke, and a bunch of the rugby lads clamber out and come, jostling each other, through the door. The atmosphere in the room changes. Tension squeezes through the cracks in the linoleum.

         ‘Adam!’ one of them yells. His hair looks like he washed it in the deep fryer. ‘Free burgers, right?’

         ‘If I keep giving them to you for free,’ Adam says, ‘we’ll go out of business. You guys are our most loyal customers.’

         ‘What are you doing hanging out with these fairies?’

         Adam and Walter stand up slowly. They look like a pair of Jets preparing for a rumble in West Side Story. It would be pretty sexy if I weren’t so terrified for them.

         ‘What did you call us?’ Walter says. I’ve never heard him sound like this before. It’s like his voice has doubled in size.

         ‘That’s what all you drama kids are, isn’t it?’

         ‘Maybe you guys should go,’ Adam says, and at first I think he is talking to us, but then I realise he is addressing his friends.

         ‘You can’t be serious, man,’ his mate says. ‘We’re just fooling around.’

         Dorothy is holding Dimitri’s hand. He looks pale.

         ‘I mean, what do they expect, wearing something like this in public?’ another of Adam’s friends says, grabbing onto the collar of Dimitri’s perfectly normal button-up shirt. Well, it may be a slight shade of salmon, but otherwise it’s perfectly normal.178

         One of the boys is eyeing Dorothy hungrily and it makes me feel sick.

         ‘’Sup, Dorothy?’ he says, tilting his head in her direction. ‘Long time no see.’

         I don’t have time to wonder why these guys know Dorothy.

         ‘Come on, guys, don’t be dickheads,’ Adam says, pulling the hand off Dimitri’s shirt.

         ‘Gee, take a joke, man. What, is he your boyfriend or something?’

         My body feels like it’s melting, it’s so hot in here. I’m weighing up the odds in my mind if this were to break out into a fight. There are five of them and five of us, if you count Adam. They are all huge and stupid, and we have Dorothy, who probably couldn’t win in a fight against the bottle of tomato sauce on the table. I wish Penny were here; even though she’s the smallest, she’s definitely the feistiest. I bet she’d give these thugs a run for their money. Though she be but little, she is fierce. 

         Adam looks about ready to take them all on himself.

         ‘For fuck’s sake, what century are you idiots living in?’ he says.

         ‘Maybe we should just go,’ I say, trying to usher Dorothy towards the door before she gets caught in the crossfire. But one of the boys blocks my path.

         ‘What the rush, sweetheart?’ he says. His breath makes me gag.

         Adam’s father chooses this moment to come out of the kitchen. ‘Is there a problem?’ he asks.179

         ‘No, Dad. These guys were just leaving,’ Adam says, giving the closest one a solid shove towards the door.

         ‘We won’t forget this, Tolentino,’ he says and absurdly it occurs to me that this would be the moment they would break into a dance battle if we were living in a musical.

         We watch them pile back into their shit-box of a car and drive away, leaving a trail of exhaust smoke behind them.

         Dimitri exhales forcefully.

         ‘I’m so sorry about that,’ Adam says.

         ‘That’s some real nice friends you’ve got there,’ Walter says.

         ‘They’re just idiots,’ Adam says. ‘They didn’t mean it.’

         ‘Can we just go?’ Dimitri says. Dorothy is still holding his hand and her knuckles are white.

         We head outside. I look back over my shoulder at Adam and he gives me a sad wave as we leave.

         ‘Are you okay, Dimitri?’ I ask once we’re safely on the bus.

         ‘I just thought when we left Russia I wouldn’t have to deal with that kind of ignorant bullshit anymore.’

         ‘Was it bad over there?’ Walter asks.

         ‘Let’s just say, those fools would have been seen as progressive where I’m from. Little boys who do ballet and idolise Idina Menzel were not super popular back there.’

         I picture the little Dimitri I first met in ballet class, scrawny in his tights and ballet shoes, and I want to wrap my arms around him and never let go. He hit a growth spurt in Year Nine and he shot up like a cork.180

         ‘I didn’t know, man,’ Walter says. His voice has almost gone back to normal but there is still the hint of something bigger there, something just below the surface.

         ‘And I didn’t always have a posse to back me up either,’ Dimitri says, smiling at us.

         ‘We’ve got your back, man,’ Walter says.

         ‘Why did that guy say that to you, Dorothy?’ I ask. ‘Seemed like they knew you.’

         She shakes her head and keeps her eyes down.

         ‘Come on, Dorothy,’ Dimitri says. ‘You can tell us.’

         ‘I used to hang out with some of them back when …’ she says. ‘I did some stupid things. I wasn’t in a good place.’

         ‘You mean you … with those dickheads?’ Dimitri says. ‘What were you thinking?’

         ‘I wasn’t thinking, Dimitri. My sister had just died.’

         ‘Sorry.’

         ‘Was Adam one of them?’ I ask. I have to know.

         ‘No,’ she says, and I feel more relieved than I probably should.

         ‘You have to find out what Adam was doing at school that day, Hal,’ Dorothy says.

         I nod. She’s right. I’ve been beating about the bush for too long.
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         When I get home, I sit on the end of my bed wondering if I have the confidence to ask Adam if he wants to hang 181out again and how on earth I’m going to raise the topic of Ms Lovelace’s murder with him. Then I think about how sexy his headband looked when he pulled that idiot’s hand off Dimitri.

         All of a sudden, there’s a knock on the front door. I emerge from my room and who is standing on the verandah but Adam Tolentino. He is still wearing his apron. And the headband, just for the record.

         ‘Can we talk?’ Adam says. I invite him inside and we head down the hall towards my bedroom. I look around my room with Adam’s eyes and wonder if he’ll think I’m insane. There are several mesh shoe bags hanging along the windowsill and at least seven musical posters on the walls.

         Neither of us sit down. Instead, we stand about a metre from each other.

         ‘Hey, look,’ he says. ‘I’m sorry about my friends before.’

         Well, that’s not what I thought he was going to say. Absurdly, I feel a little disappointed.

         ‘Oh, no, that’s okay. It wasn’t your fault.’

         ‘I hope Dimitri wasn’t too shaken up.’

         ‘I think he’s had it a lot worse. But thank you. And thank you for standing up to them.’

         ‘I don’t even know why I’m friends with them. I used to think it was because there was no one else. But, well, I’m starting to see that I was wrong about that. Your friends, Warner, they’re cool. I like them. You’re lucky.’

         ‘You think so?’182

         ‘You guys protect and support each other. Those dickheads I hang out with take any opportunity to tear each other down. Walter – he’s kind of the big brother of the group, right? He would have taken on all those guys by himself if I wasn’t there.’

         I smile, trying to picture it.

         ‘I’ll get Felix to check out that SD card for you,’ he says. I had almost forgotten about it. Before I have a chance to thank him, I hear my dad’s car pull up outside.

         ‘Oh shit,’ Adam says. ‘I have to get back. I told Dad I’d only be gone ten minutes.’

         I walk him to the front door.

         ‘I’ll see you around, Warner,’ he says, and he leans down and kisses me on the cheek. It happens so fast that all I can do is blink as he turns and runs off down the road back towards town.
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            Chapter 18

         

         It is Monday’s drama lesson, and we leave our bags on the floor outside and take our shoes off. Dorothy isn’t wearing socks today. She has tiny feet. Each toe is a perfect little pearl.

         Dimitri opens the door – Mr Morton has forgotten to lock it once again – and we file in. I almost run straight into Dimitri’s back. He has stopped in the middle of the room.

         ‘Jesus, Dimitri,’ I say. ‘What are you doing?’

         Then I see what he’s looking at.

         There’s a message written in huge letters across the blackboard.

         ‘Oh my god,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘What do you think it means?’ I say.

         ‘Maybe it was just a kid from one of the other classes,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘We’re the first class in here today,’ I say.

         ‘Don’t touch anything,’ says Walter. ‘They might have left a clue behind.’

         He starts looking around on the floor under the board. Maybe he’s hoping to find a footprint in the chalk.184

         ‘Just rub it out,’ Dorothy says. She’s staring out the window like she can’t even look at the board. ‘Please.’

         ‘We need to photograph it,’ Walter says, but Dimitri has already picked up the eraser. I watch as the words slowly disappear, but they aren’t really gone. They are burned into my brain.

         STOP DIGGING.
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         ‘This means we’re onto him, right?’ Walter says, his mouth half full of Vegemite sandwich. ‘We must be getting close.’

         We’re sitting together at recess. Dorothy is even quieter than usual. She has barely touched the food we gave her today: a packet of salt and vinegar chips from me, a peanut butter sandwich from Dimitri, an apple from Walter.

         ‘Maybe it had nothing to do with us,’ I say. ‘Maybe it was from another drama class. Maybe it was a prank.’

         ‘Maybe it was her,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Who?’ Walter asks.

         ‘Ms Lovelace. Maybe she’s trying to protect us.’

         ‘What, like, her ghost?’ I say.

         ‘Yeah.’

         A baby magpie warbles behind us and we all jump.

         I notice Dorothy takes a little nibble of the apple as Dimitri rubs her back.185

         The bell rings and we stand up slowly, ready to head to English, when I spot Tim slinking towards us out of the shadows.

         ‘What do you want?’ I say as Penny and Dorothy flank me like bodyguards.

         ‘Tim?’ Dimitri says.

         It’s weird to think that, not that long ago, Tim was one of us. He sat with us at recess, rehearsed with us at lunchtimes. And now, it’s like he’s a total stranger.

         He stands a good metre or two away from us. ‘Right, um … hey, guys. Can we talk somewhere private?’ he says. ‘It’s about Ms Lovelace.’

         I glance at Dimitri, who gives me a look that translates to give him a chance. 

         ‘Come on,’ I say and they follow me behind the water tanks.

         ‘What about Ms Lovelace?’ Penny says.

         ‘Guys … I was there that day.’

         ‘What were you doing there?’ Walter says. He is leaning against the water tank trying to look intimidating.

         ‘There’s an arrangement. On Sundays, I pick up the goods ready to distribute on Monday morning at school.’

         ‘What goods? What are you talking about?’ Walter says.

         ‘Drugs, you idiot,’ says Penny.

         Geez, Walter, even I knew that.

         ‘Wait, Tim. You’re a drug dealer?’ I say.

         ‘Wait, so was it you we chased through the school?’ Penny asks.186

         ‘Yeah, that was me. You guys scared the crap out of me.’

         ‘You’re telling us that you were at the school that Sunday, picking up drugs to sell to kids and, what, you killed Ms Lovelace because she caught you in the act?’ Walter says. He grabs Tim by the collar.

         ‘No, I didn’t kill her,’ he says, looking panicked.

         ‘You were probably off your face. How can you even remember?’

         ‘Hey, I don’t take the stuff. I just sell it. And I swear on my life I didn’t kill her.’

         ‘Then who did?’ Walt says.

         Tim looks around at us with pain in his eyes. ‘Well, I didn’t see it happen, but when I came out of the storeroom, she was lying on the floor coughing up blood and all that.’

         ‘She was still alive?’ Dorothy says, her voice cracking.

         ‘And you just left her there to die?’ Penny asks.

         ‘I was so scared that I just ran for it. I thought everyone would blame it on me.’

         ‘But you could have done something, you could have called an ambulance, you could have tried to stop the bleeding,’ I say.

         ‘I know,’ he says and he twists his hands together. ‘I can’t stop thinking that I could have done more. I was a coward and I’ll never forgive myself for that. But I didn’t kill her, I swear.’

         ‘Then who did?’ Walter asks again.

         ‘Well, my guess is that it was my supplier. Ms Lovelace 187must have caught him with the drugs, so he killed her to cover his tracks or whatever.’

         ‘And who is your supplier?’ I ask.

         ‘I don’t know,’ Tim says.

         ‘How can you possibly not know?’ Walter asks, his hand still on Tim’s collar.

         ‘Let him go, Walt,’ Dimitri says. Dimitri is awfully intimidating for a ballet dancer. The Russian accent helps a lot too. Walter reluctantly lets go of Tim’s collar. ‘Go on, Tim,’ Dimitri says, giving him a reassuring nod.

         ‘We never meet in person. He drops the stuff off for me and I pick it up from the cleaning supplies cupboard next to the music staffroom. I leave the money in the sand bucket they use when someone throws up.’

         ‘How do you even know it’s a he?’ Penny says.

         ‘Well, I guess I don’t.’

         ‘So it could be anyone,’ Penny says. ‘Great.’

         ‘But how did this all start?’ Walter says. ‘How did you know about the drop-off and pick-up? Somebody must have told you.’

         ‘I took over from someone who told me how it all worked. When he left the school, I just slotted into his place.’

         ‘Who was it?’

         Tim glances at me briefly before saying, ‘Cris Tolentino.’

         Everyone looks at me. I feel very small. Penny sits in silence tapping ash into the grass.

         ‘Adam’s brother?’ Dorothy asks.188

         ‘That doesn’t mean anything,’ I say. ‘We all know Cris was messed up on drugs. That’s why he’s in jail, for heaven’s sake.’

         ‘It’s a pretty big coincidence that Adam just happened to be there on the same day,’ Penny says.

         ‘Look, I don’t know who it is, but whoever it was they’ve stopped,’ Tim says.

         ‘What?’ I say.

         ‘I haven’t had a delivery since that day. And no contact either. But the cash was gone when I last checked.’

         ‘Did you see anyone else there?’ Dorothy asks. ‘Or hear anything?’

         ‘Nothing. Whoever killed her, they didn’t fight or yell. I would have heard raised voices. And they must have done it super quick. I was only in the storeroom for a couple of minutes.’

         ‘Like they planned it,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘What do you mean? Dorothy asks.

         ‘Well, think about it. If it were an accident or a crime of passion or whatever, then surely Tim would have heard something, like shouting or a struggle. But if someone showed up and stabbed her in cold blood, they must have been ready. They knew what they were doing. It was planned.’
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            Chapter 19

         

         The next day, we have drama first period. Dorothy isn’t here yet. Walter and Dimitri are arguing about the opening-moment soundscape of our epic theatre piece. Dimitri thinks we should do it in a round. Walt thinks unison is better. They turn to me as I enter, and ask which I prefer.

         ‘I think we should do it in mime,’ I say, sitting down beside Penny, who gives me a high five. Walter looks at me awkwardly.

         We are already up and rehearsing our epic theatre performance when Dorothy finally walks through the door. If Ms Lovelace were still here she would be filling in for Dorothy, but since she isn’t, I am just saying Dorothy’s lines plus my own.

         Dorothy has forgotten to take her shoes off. They are manky old trainers that were probably once white. She glides into the room and drops her bag onto the floor, where it crumples into a sad lump. Her matted hair is covering part of her face, but Dimitri still notices.

         ‘Dorothy, hun, are you okay?’ he says.190

         Now I notice it too. It’s like she’s in a trance or something. She’s kind of swaying on the spot and her eyes are staring into space.

         ‘I’m fine,’ she breathes.

         ‘Dorothy,’ Dimitri says, standing, ‘when was the last time you ate?’

         ‘Recently,’ she says. It doesn’t even sound like her voice. It’s as if she is speaking through a pillowcase.

         Dorothy suddenly starts to wobble and before I can move she is falling.

         Dimitri manages to catch her head before it hits the floor.

         Look to the lady. 

         We gather around her in a circle. Her eyes are open, but they are glassy.

         ‘We should take you to sick bay,’ Penny says, her eyes full of worry.

         ‘I’m fine,’ Dorothy says again, and it sounds like her tongue is glued to the roof of her mouth.

         ‘Come on, Dorothy,’ Dimitri says. He picks her up as easily as if she only weighs as much as her clothes.

         For the record: Mr Morton hasn’t even arrived yet.
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         Dimitri and I take Dorothy to the sick bay. When we get there, Dimitri lowers her onto the plastic bed, then leaves to fetch the nurse. I sit at Dorothy’s side and take her hand.191

         ‘Will they call my mum?’ she says.

         ‘Probably,’ I say.

         ‘She’s at work.’

         Dorothy’s mother works as a cleaner during the day at the same hospital as my mum and also as a telemarketer in the evenings.

         ‘I thought you were getting better, Dorothy,’ I say.

         I think about Dorothy when she came back to school after Victoria’s death. Arms so thin they looked like stretched chewing gum, eyes sunken beneath sharp cheekbones, legs that couldn’t hold up a bird, let alone a human being.

         ‘She won’t be able to get off work,’ Dorothy is saying, and her nails dig into the back of my hand.

         ‘I didn’t know,’ I say. ‘I didn’t know it was bad again.’

         Dimitri appears at the door with the nurse, who hands Dorothy an orange juice popper and a muesli bar, then ushers us out of the room.

         ‘We should probably get back to class,’ Dimitri says and we head back to the drama room together.
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         In music, Penny shows up halfway through the lesson. She sits next to me, stinking of cigarettes and spray deodorant. Penny is so short that even when she wears her huge platform boots to school she only comes up to Dimitri’s chest. Walter has a free period but he joins us in music instead.192

         Mrs Berrycloth gives Penny a look but says nothing. She is pretty lenient with students who can play the piano as well as Penny can, which isn’t anyone but Penny.

         ‘Dorothy has gone home,’ Penny says. ‘Her mum had to find someone to cover her shift at work, that’s why she took so long to come and pick her up.’

         Penny sits down at the piano, kicking off the girl who was using it, and starts to play the ‘Moonlight Sonata’.

         Dimitri tries to ask her whether Dorothy’s mum knew that she was getting worse again, but Penny is in the zone and doesn’t answer. I kick myself for letting Dorothy slip through my fingers like this. I should have noticed something was wrong. If we weren’t all so damn obsessed with solving this murder, maybe we all would have.

         Dimitri and I run through ‘Anything You Can Do’ until people start to throw things at us. When the bell rings and we head to the gates, Penny complains about having a splitting headache until Walter hands her some Panadol as she disappears onto her bus.

         
            [image: ]

         

         That afternoon, I am in my bedroom trying to choreograph a dance for my assessment. I’m in my leotard and tights and I can’t think of a single move. It is too hot in here.

         I decide to get out of the house for a while to clear my head. Outside, the air is fresh. I walk all the way to Dorothy’s house and then wander aimlessly back towards 193home. I take the shortcut path that once saved my life to the Tolentino place. It’s on the way, I swear. I can hear the sound of boys in the backyard and the splutter of a hose.

         I am lingering out the front trying to think of an excuse to go inside when I hear a voice yelling my name.

         ‘Hallie!’ It’s Felix, his freckled face peering at me from around the side of the house. Most of his body is covered in wet grass.

         I blush. I hope he doesn’t think I’ve been standing out here all afternoon. Adam appears and pulls Felix into a headlock. He smiles at me warily. There’s nothing I can do now but walk over to them. Oh, and Adam isn’t wearing a shirt. So there’s that.

         Felix heads back to the hose, which they’ve mounted on the wheelie bin. There’s a twig crammed inside the spout so the water splays out in a fan and runs down what looks like a unfurled roll of bin bags. The backyard smells of wattle and gum leaves, and a couple of magpies warble at us from the Colorbond fence. Felix takes a running leap onto the bin bags and slides along on his belly.

         ‘Are you spying on me now, Warner?’ Adam asks.

         ‘No,’ I say. ‘I was just walking by and heard you guys in the garden.’

         I try really hard not to look at his biceps. Honest, I do.

         ‘Want a turn?’ Felix says, walking over as he shakes water droplets from his hair.

         ‘No, Felix, I don’t think Hallie wants to have a go,’ Adam says.194

         ‘You’re right,’ Felix says. ‘I don’t know if she’d be able to do it anyway. It’s an extreme sport that takes years of practice to master.’

         Well, if that’s not a challenge, then I don’t know what is. When did little Felix get so devious? I slip off my Ugg boots and hand Felix the donut from my bun.

         ‘Hold this,’ I say.

         I’m not quite as elegant as I hoped, but I do it. It’s surprisingly fun.

         Adam stands to the side as Felix and I have another go together. My leotard actually makes me slide more easily. We spend the afternoon sliding in the setting sun and I really start to get the hang of it. Adam has perfected the dismount so that he gets the least amount of grass burn. Felix, on the other hand, has red lines all down his back and chest from sliding off the end onto the grass.

         Eventually, as it starts to grow dark, we turn off the hose. There’s grass stuck to my legs and through my hair.

         The sunset is layers of colour like the cross-section of a packet of Fruit Tingles.

         Felix rolls the bin bags back up and I sit next to Adam under the banksia tree. ‘I better get going,’ I say as I pick up my things from the ground and take my donut back from Felix, who is wearing it as a bracelet.

         ‘Got another hot date with Walter?’ Adam asks.

         I laugh. ‘That’ll be the day.’

         He gives me a coy look and I nudge him with my shoulder.195

         ‘I’ll walk you home,’ he says. ‘Felix, put the oven on, will you? I’ll make dinner when I get back.’

         Adam runs inside for a T-shirt and a pair of volleys, then he follows me out onto the path. Felix yells after us, ‘Hey, wait up!’ He runs up to me and drops something into my hand. ‘I decrypted it. There are literally hundreds of photos on there.’

         I look down to see the SD card from Addie’s camera. I had almost forgotten about it.

         ‘Thanks, Felix,’ I say and he shrugs, running back inside.

         As Adam and I walk, I bite my nails. ‘Would you like to come and see my show?’ I say finally.

         ‘Are you kidding? I’ve already booked my tickets!’

         ‘Seriously?’

         ‘Yeah, of course, I’m bringing Felix. I’ve told him there’s lots of shooting in it, so you better not disappoint.’

         ‘Well, there’s loads of shooting so I’m sure he’ll enjoy it.’

         Adam chuckles, kicking a pebble off the path into the grassy verge.

         When we reach my front door, he sticks his hands in his pockets.

         ‘See you tomorrow, I guess, Pudding Head.’

         I give him an icy look.

         ‘Sorry, Hallie.’ He smiles.

         Something weird happens to my heart when he says my name. Like it hiccups.

         I head inside and go straight to my bedroom. I really should finish choreographing my solo piece, but instead, I 196pull the SD card out of my pocket and plug it into the laptop. Folders and folders full of photos fill the screen. It will take me forever to sort through them all. So I start with the ones titled ‘Musical Rehearsals’, but there’s nothing unusual there, just a whole lot of out-of-focus shots of the dance numbers. Then there’s a folder with the pictures from the athletics carnival, another of pictures from the swimming carnival, far too many pictures of me singing the national anthem, and then, just when I’m thinking I should give up and get back to my dance, I see something. In the background of a picture from the presentation night years ago is Victoria, Dorothy’s sister, and she is standing with someone, their heads together like they are sharing a secret. I suddenly feel sick, and I pull the card out of the computer and shove it away in my desk drawer with the photo I took from Ms Lovelace’s house. An ultrasound photo.
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            Chapter 20

         

         It’s lunchtime and I’m sitting with Dimitri and Walter. Penny never sits with us, and Dorothy hasn’t returned to school yet. I’m trying to remember how to be normal around Walter – and then wondering if maybe my being normal is how we ended up like this. I am therefore second-guessing every move I make, every word I say. Walter interrupts my thoughts.

         ‘So, I was working at the station last night and I found out something.’

         ‘What?’ I say.

         ‘They did a fingerprint test on the knife.’

         ‘And?’ I say, not bothering to mask my impatience.

         ‘The results came back. The prints were already in the database.’

         ‘Whose are they?’ Dimitri says, unable to stand it any longer. ‘For god’s sake, Walter, just tell us!’

         ‘They’re Penny’s.’

         I feel like I might faint, like when you do too many fouettés and lose your spot.198

         ‘Bullshit,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘It was right there in the file. Penny Shào’s fingerprints are on the knife that killed Ms Lovelace. She must have snuck back into his motel room and hidden the knife under his bed while Gus was in custody. She knew how to get in; she’d already done it once.’

         ‘Just shut up, Walter,’ Dimitri says. ‘There’s no way Penny is the killer.’

         ‘I wouldn’t be so sure.’

         ‘Come on,’ I say. ‘Penny? You can’t be serious.’

         ‘Well, just look at her,’ he says.

         ‘Just because she wears black and listens to Disturbed doesn’t make her a murderer, Walt,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Look, all I’m saying is, the evidence points to Penny. You can choose to believe what you want.’

         At that moment, Dorothy comes across the hill towards us. I am surprised to see her looking so animated. Something in her face tells me that whatever she has to say is urgent.

         I wonder if the murderer has struck again. Maybe this time they killed Mr Morton. Maybe they just hate drama teachers. Or maybe it was Ms Johnson all along and she is trying to sabotage our show. Oh god, what if it was Adam? I break out in a cold sweat.

         ‘Guys,’ she says, out of breath. ‘You have to come to the hospital right away.’

         ‘What’s happened?’ Dimitri says.199

         ‘It’s Penny,’ she says and turns on her heel to run back up the hill.

         One thing you can say about us drama kids: we love a good cliffhanger.
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            Chapter 21

         

         I stare after Dorothy in a daze.

         ‘What are we waiting for?’ Dimitri says, jumping up and grabbing his bag. He shakes my shoulder and breaks my trance.

         ‘Right,’ I say and the three of us follow Dorothy to the street. A teacher calls after us but we ignore her and keep going. I don’t even care if they expel me. I hear the bell ring for period five as we get to the car.

         We pile in. Dorothy sits up the front.

         ‘What happened, Dorothy?’ I ask, though I can barely stand to hear the answer.

         ‘I don’t know,’ she says and her voice is splintered.

         Dimitri parks in the visitor car park even though it costs a fortune.

         We run through the hospital doors together. It’s much colder inside than I was expecting. I speak to the lady at reception. She asks me who I want to visit.

         ‘Penny Shào,’ I say, and the name sounds small.

         Penny looks even tinier than usual in her hospital bed. Her eyes are closed and she has tubes and things coming 201out of her, but her chest is slowly rising and falling, so she isn’t dead. Dorothy instantly sits beside her and takes hold of her hand. Dimitri stands behind her with a hand on her shoulder. They look like parents watching over a sleeping child. For a moment, nobody speaks.

         ‘Penny,’ Dorothy whispers, ‘can you hear me?’

         There’s no response.

         ‘I just heard,’ a voice behind me says. I turn around to see my mother in the doorway. She’s wearing her navy-blue scrubs and trainers.

         ‘What happened?’ I ask her.

         ‘She overdosed.’

         ‘You’re kidding,’ I say.

         ‘They had to pump her stomach,’ she says.

         ‘I didn’t even know she was …’ I say. ‘I mean, has she been taking …?’

         ‘I guess so.’ Dimitri says. ‘We should have noticed the signs.’

         ‘What are the signs?’

         Mum hands me a pamphlet that outlines the dangers of substance abuse and what to do if you think your child might be on drugs. It lists the signs as depression, irritability, lack of interest in activities and school, conflict with friends and family members …

         ‘But Penny has always been like that,’ I say. ‘How were we supposed to tell?’

         ‘She’s not the first one,’ my mother says.

         ‘What do you mean?’ Dimitri asks.202

         ‘In the past year, we’ve seen a huge increase in substance abuse among teenagers, especially from your school.’

         ‘Why didn’t you say anything?’ I ask. She gives me a look that suggests I should appreciate the nurse–patient confidentiality rule as much as she does.

         ‘The real question,’ my mother says, ‘is where are they getting the drugs from?’

         She looks at me for a moment. ‘I’ll wait for you in the hall,’ she says. ‘Don’t forget, you are supposed to be at school right now.’ Then her expression softens. ‘Don’t worry, I’ll call the office and let them know you’re here safe.’

         Penny’s parents come in next with the doctor. They are both dressed in the kind of clothes my parents would only wear to job interviews and funerals. Mrs Shào is wearing make-up and I’m pretty sure there’s gel or something in her hair. I don’t know how else she could have such a perfect bun – it could rival a ballerina’s.

         ‘It was very nice of you all to come,’ she says, and her voice is cut glass, ‘but Penny needs her rest.’

         We file out of the room one by one. Dorothy gives Penny a kiss on the forehead before offering the chair to Mrs Shào. I notice that she doesn’t sit on it but, rather, hovers nearby like it might contain some kind of infection. I am positive that as soon as we exit the room she will rub it down with a disinfectant wipe.

         We stand around in the hallway in silence until my mum comes over to us. ‘I spoke to the doctor,’ she says. ‘Penny is going to be fine. But she’s had a lucky escape.’ Mum looks 203at each of us in turn as if trying to discern which might be a drug dealer.

         We say goodbye to my mum, then walk to the hospital entrance together without speaking. I can’t believe I didn’t know Penny was taking drugs. And what kind? And for how long? And where did she get them from? I wouldn’t have a clue where to buy drugs from even if I did want them.

         Dorothy gets in the back of the car with me this time.

         We have to pay twenty dollars for parking. They recently built a brand-new parking garage for the hospital. Doctors get to park there for free, but the nurses still have to pay. I can’t even comment.

         ‘I’ll drop you guys home,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Why don’t you come back to mine, Dorothy?’ I suggest. She nods once.

         The car ride is eerily quiet. Dorothy isn’t even crying. She just stares at the back of Dimitri’s seat.

         Dimitri drops us off. Dorothy and I head inside, and she calls her mother while I make us hot chocolates. Then I call Berlioz and let him know I won’t be able to take baby ballet tonight. I am just putting my Hamilton mug in the microwave when there’s a knock at the door.

         I half expect to see the police but it’s Adam Tolentino on the verandah.

         ‘Hal, I heard what happened to Penny. Are you okay?’

         Without thinking, I wrap my arms around him and let myself cry into his chest. He doesn’t say a word, just holds me there until I stop sobbing.204

         ‘Sorry,’ I say finally, rubbing my palms into my eyes.

         Dorothy appears at the living room door. ‘How are those hot chocolates coming along?’ she says.

         I have to reheat them and I make a third one for Adam while I fill him in on what happened with Penny.

         ‘Shit,’ is all he seems to be able to say.

         ‘Yeah.’

         ‘Shit.’

         ‘Do you have to get back to work?’ I ask.

         ‘Nah, Dad let me take the rest of the day off. It’s dead quiet.’

         We finish our hot chocolates sitting on the living room floor and I watch as the colour slowly returns to Dorothy’s face. Adam makes conversation by talking about the upcoming match and how he hopes there will be scouts there from some of the Sydney teams looking for players. It occurs to me that Dorothy doesn’t know about Penny’s fingerprints on the knife. Best not to tell her tonight.

         ‘Will you guys be all right on your own tonight?’ Adam asks eventually.

         I assure him that we’ll be fine, and he leaves. As I close the door behind him, I wonder if that had been his subtle way of asking if he could stay over.

         After watching the first half of The Rocky Horror Picture Show, Dorothy and I head down the hall to my room and I lend her some pyjamas.

         We lie in the darkness and I can tell that she is just as awake as I am.205

         ‘Who do you think the supplier is?’ she asks finally.

         ‘Could be anyone. Could even be more than one person.’

         ‘Do you think it’s someone we know?’

         What she really means is, do you think it’s someone in the drama class?

         ‘No,’ I say. ‘Besides, if you were a drug dealer, you could afford some new shoes.’ Dorothy snorts and I hear her roll over on the mattress. ‘I’m sorry about your sister,’ I say. ‘I didn’t know you were the one who found her.’

         ‘Yeah.’

         ‘Is that why you stopped eating?’

         ‘I guess.’

         I wish I could understand, but I never will. I remember Dorothy back then. It wasn’t just that she stopped eating, it was that she stopped everything. It was like she was trying to disappear altogether. She was the invisible girl. A girl with a thousand missing pieces. A jumper with a thousand tiny holes.

         ‘It was drama that saved me,’ she says. ‘I don’t know if I would have made it through without Ms Lovelace. She was the one who convinced me to audition for the show in the first place and to stick with drama in Year Eleven and Twelve. She gave me something to look forward to. She gave me a reason to get out of bed in the morning.’

         I kick my doona to the end of the bed. It’s too hot in here to sleep. I cross to the window and open it and breathe in the smell of wattle.206

         ‘I’m sorry I didn’t do more,’ I say. ‘Sometimes it seems impossible to help people. You try so hard but it’s never enough.’

         ‘I guess there’s only so much you can do if people don’t tell you when something’s wrong.’

         ‘That’s bullshit. There must be more.’ I climb back into bed and let the silence pour between us. ‘Sorry, Dorothy,’ I say after what seems like an hour.

         ‘It’s okay.’

         When we finally fall asleep, there isn’t much of the night left, and when my alarm goes off at six, it feels like my eyes have only been closed for a second.
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            Chapter 22

         

         It’s weird to have drama without Penny. I feel the lack of her snarky remarks as soon as we arrive at the door.

         ‘Should we ask those derros at the demountables where Penny got the drugs from?’ Walter asks as we sit in a circle waiting for Mr Morton to grace us with his presence.

         ‘Maybe,’ Dorothy says, ‘but I doubt they’d tell a bunch of squares like us.’

         ‘We have to try,’ Walter says.

         ‘Rather you than me,’ Dimitri says.

         We agree to give it a shot, and at recess I follow Walter around the back of the demountables, where five kids are sitting together smoking. They have thumb holes torn in their hoodies.

         They look us up and down like we’re a couple of mosquitoes.

         ‘Have you guys heard what happened to Penny?’ Walter says.

         One of them blows a cloud of smoke at us. ‘What?’

         ‘She’s in hospital. She overdosed.’

         ‘Shit,’ one of them says and chuckles.208

         ‘It’s not a joke,’ Walter says. ‘We need to know where she got the drugs from. Any ideas?’

         They look at each other but none of them are going to crack. One of the girls puts her cigarette out on the ground.

         ‘Do you not care that someone you know almost died?’ I say. Anger and frustration rise in my chest.

         The girl shrugs.

         It’s clear we’re not getting anything else out of them so we head to our spot, where Dorothy is sitting alone.

         ‘Let me guess,’ she says. ‘They told you everything.’
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         Dimitri approaches me after our jazz and tap classes at the dance school. I am sitting on the floor taking off my tap shoes. My feet are a real mess.

         ‘Want me to walk you home?’ he asks. ‘My car’s getting serviced.’

         ‘I thought you’d never ask.’

         It’s a cool night and the breeze is nice. We pull our tights up around our ankles so we can wear our Ugg boots home. Dimitri bought me mine for my birthday last year. They are genuine. None of this knock-off business.

         We sling our bags over our shoulders and head outside.

         ‘I feel like all we talk about now is evidence and clues,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Tell me about it. I thought I wanted to find Ms Lovelace’s killer, but every time I think we’ve found a clue we end up 209just uncovering something awful about someone and we’re back to square one again. I just want to focus on rehearsals for a little while, at least until the show is finished.’

         ‘And Adam Tolentino,’ he says, winking at me.

         ‘Shut up,’ I say, shoving him playfully. But it’s too late, he has seen me blush.

         Dimitri’s eyes light up. He lives for gossip.

         ‘So, there is something going on? I don’t believe it. You and a Tolentino?’

         ‘Why? Is that so hard to believe?’ I snap back.

         ‘No, it’s just I didn’t peg you as that kind of girl.’

         ‘And what kind of girl is that?’ I ask.

         ‘One who dates a duffle boy.’

         Duffle boys are what we call the lads who carry duffle bags to school every day instead of backpacks; the boys who have to bring soccer balls and shin guards and kneepads and stuff because they play sports at lunch or they’re on, you know, teams. The ones with biceps and mud splatters on their legs, who sometimes show up to class with black eyes or bloody noses.

         ‘Look, I’m not saying it’s a bad thing,’ Dimitri continues. ‘I wouldn’t mind going there myself.’

         ‘And we’re not dating,’ I add.

         ‘But seriously, Hal, I think it’s great.’

         ‘What about our plan? Moving to Sydney? Starring in Hairspray? Not throwing away my future for a stupid boy?’210

         ‘Well, I think that Tolentino boy is going places. He won’t be stuck in this dead-end town forever. Besides, I didn’t know it was all that serious?’

         I stop. Dimitri is smiling and I realise he is making fun of me. ‘We can’t all have a heart of tin like yours,’ I say, tapping the middle of his chest.

         ‘Not quite tin.’ He gives me one of those half-smiles of his. He truly is beautiful. I could fill an entire notebook with the names of girls at our school whose hearts he’s broken over the years. Yes, okay, mine included.

         ‘What do you mean?’ I say. ‘Have you met someone?’

         ‘Maybe.’

         ‘Who is he?’

         ‘I promised not to tell.’

         He runs ahead and I chase after him.

         ‘You can’t drop a bomb like that and then leave me hanging!’ I yell, trying to keep up with his long legs. My duffle bangs against my butt as I run. Yeah, you might say we are duffle boys too. Except that our dance duffles are bright pink and say Berlioz Dance School across the side in big silver glittery letters.

         I finally catch up to him. He has stopped outside the grocery store.

         ‘Fancy a Chiko Roll?’ he says.

         I don’t know if I need to bother pointing out that Dimitri Chbosky has never eaten a Chiko Roll in his life.

         ‘Does this have anything to do with you sneaking around behind the water tanks at lunchtimes?’ I say. 211‘Are you hiding there for secret make-out seshes with someone?’

         ‘You saw me?’

         ‘Don’t evade the question.’

         ‘What question?’

         ‘Who is it?’

         He still refuses to tell me, so I go inside and buy two Chiko Rolls and force him to eat one, even though it makes him gag.

         ‘I’d like to share in your happiness, that’s all,’ I say as we walk. Dimitri has dumped half of his roll in the bin and is sucking on a Mintie that I found in the bottom of my bag to try to get rid of the taste.

         ‘I know,’ he says. ‘I want to tell you, but he’s not quite ready for that yet.’

         ‘Okay, well, I’m happy for you. Make sure he knows that we’d all be super keen to welcome him into the group whenever he’s ready.’

         I step up onto the verandah.

         ‘Hey, Hallie,’ Dimitri says.

         I turn around. ‘Yeah?’

         ‘Thanks for being a good friend.’
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         Once inside, I decide I have to make peace with Walter, so I send him a message to meet me in the tree house.212

         My legs are so stiff from class that it’s hard to get up there. Walter offers me his hand, helping to pull me up over the edge.

         I still feel awkward being alone with him after our last encounter in the tree house. I don’t know where to sit. Normally we’d sit side by side with our backs against the wall but this time I stay opposite him.

         ‘So, what’s happening with you and Adam Tolentino?’ Walter asks.

         I don’t know what to say. Partly because I don’t want to hurt him, but also because I honestly don’t know what’s going on with me and Adam Tolentino.

         Walter looks at me with his puppy-dog eyes. ‘You can tell me, you know. I’m still your friend.’

         I stare at my feet. ‘I don’t know how to be with you anymore,’ I say finally.

         ‘What do you mean?’

         ‘Everything has changed.’

         ‘That’s not true,’ he says, trying to take my hand.

         ‘We’re not kids anymore, Walt.’ I pull my hand away. ‘It’s time for us to grow up.’

         ‘That’s what I am trying to do, Hal.’

         ‘I can’t give you what you want.’

         He looks like he might cry, and I don’t know if I can handle that.

         ‘Because of Adam Tolentino?’ he says, with even less life than he has on stage. ‘He’s a suspect. You can’t date a suspect.’213

         ‘We’re all suspects!’ I say.

         ‘You know what kind of family he’s from,’ Walter says. ‘If anyone in our school is capable of murder—’

         ‘Maybe it was just some random who killed her,’ I say. ‘A derro on drugs or something.’

         ‘There has to be more to it than that,’ Walter says. ‘A derro wouldn’t have planted evidence in Gus’s motel room.’

         I hate to admit it, but Walter is right.

         ‘But Adam Tolentino could have,’ he continues. ‘He’s all wrong for you, Hal.’

         Why does he always have to call him by his first and last name? It’s infuriating. It’s like he’s trying to subtly hint that he’s a total stranger and I shouldn’t be spending time with him.

         ‘Don’t,’ I say.

         ‘Then what? And if you’re going to say something about ruining our friendship, don’t be so predictable.’

         There’s nothing I can say that will satisfy him. How can I explain the million and one reasons why it would never work between us?

         ‘I don’t feel how you want me to feel, Walt. You’re my best friend, and I love you, but that’s all. And that’s all we’ll ever be. Get it?’

         I would play the you’re-like-a-brother-to-me card if I didn’t think it might scar him for life.

         I’ve never seen him look so crestfallen. Hurting him like this is tearing me apart.

         ‘I just … I always thought we’d end up together,’ he says.214

         ‘I know,’ I say. ‘Can’t we just go back to the way things were?’

         ‘I don’t know if I can do that,’ he says and he climbs down the ladder on his side of the fence, leaving me alone in the tree house.

         I feel like a piece of me just broke off.

      
   


   
      
         215
            Chapter 23

         

         It’s Penny’s first day back since she was in hospital and it’s our last Saturday rehearsal before opening night. I’m so pleased to see her being dropped off at the school gate that I actually hug her, and Penny is not a hugger. It’s kind of like hugging a wax sculpture.

         ‘Why didn’t you call me?’ Dimitri asks, coming across the car park. ‘I could have given you a lift.’

         ‘Mum is driving me to school from now on so that she can keep an eye on me. I won’t be catching the bus anymore either, so I don’t buy drugs. Fat lot she knows.’

         ‘That’s rough.’

         ‘She also cut up my debit card, so now I have no money.’

         I almost point out that none of us, except for Dimitri, ever have any money and that a debit card is a foreign object to us, but I think better of it.

         ‘Penny, hun,’ Dimitri asks her once we’ve met up with Dorothy and Walter, ‘where did you get the drugs from?’

         ‘Well, not from the bus driver, that’s for sure. Come on, let’s get to rehearsals, I can’t afford any more trouble.’

         The day Penny cares about getting into trouble …216

         But Walter stops her.

         ‘What?’ she says.

         ‘Why were your fingerprints on the knife that killed Ms Lovelace?’

         Something fizzes in the air like electricity. Dimitri instinctively puts his arm around Dorothy’s shoulders.

         ‘Walter, what are you talking about?’ Dorothy says and I realise that no one has told her about the fingerprints, and I kick myself for not mentioning it sooner.

         ‘They found Penny’s fingerprints on the switchblade,’ Walter says without blinking.

         Everyone’s eyes are on Penny as she slowly finishes her cigarette and flicks it into the bushes. Now is probably not the best time to make a comment about littering, or bushfire danger, for that matter.

         ‘I guess it was my knife,’ she says.

         ‘Your knife? Why on earth do you have a switchblade?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘I dunno. I thought it made me look tough,’ she says, and Dorothy flinches as if Penny has struck her. ‘But I lost it months ago.’

         I notice out of the corner of my eye that Mr Morton and Mrs Berrycloth are heading to the hall to set up for rehearsals. I hope they haven’t been listening to our conversation. Mrs Berrycloth’s car is in the car park. It’s an old station wagon parked in the spot closest to the hall.

         ‘You lost it?’ I ask.

         ‘Yes,’ Penny says.217

         ‘And you expect us to believe that?’ Walter asks.

         ‘I don’t see why you wouldn’t.’

         Penny could teach a university class on sarcasm.

         ‘Where did you lose it?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘If I knew that, I’d have found it again.’

         ‘Maybe someone stole it?’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Maybe.’

         We sit in silence. I can’t think of a single thing to say. Penny lights another cigarette and I notice her fingers are trembling.

         We head inside.
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         In the rehearsal, everything that can go wrong does go wrong. Penny has a lot of catching up to do. The dance captains decided to add an extra lift in ‘Moonshine Lullaby’, and don’t even get me started on the bows. Everyone wants to be in the last group for the ensemble bows, but they won’t all fit across the stage. Mr Morton has to draw names out of a hat to make the groups.

         Walter also goes out of his way to avoid me again. He’s acting like I’m contagious.

         Unfortunately, the creative and performing arts head teacher, Ms Johnson, has finally decided to show up to rehearsals today. It’s the first time she’s set foot inside the hall since they announced that Mr Morton was taking over as director. In the space of just two hours, she manages 218to make almost every single person involved in the production cry. First, she forces the poor little Year Nine girl who operates the lighting desk to start from scratch and reprogram all of the lighting states because they are ‘too pink’. Then she tells the cast we are all ‘flat as a tack’ and that we’ll be lucky if the audience stays awake for the entire show. And, just to twist the dagger one final time, she asks Mrs Berrycloth why the orchestra is playing so ‘painfully slow’. I think Mrs Berrycloth is the only one who doesn’t cry. That woman is made of stone.

         The only person here that Ms Johnson doesn’t seem to hate is Mr Morton, whom she praises several times for taking on the insurmountable task of directing this show.

         Ms Johnson says the word insurmountable as if it’s all Ms Lovelace’s fault that we are here in the first place and that she is to blame for this whole sorry spectacle. She also says the word show as if we’re a group of preschoolers putting on a play with our teddy bears for our parents to watch.

         The icing on the proverbial cake is when I overhear one of the girls from the orchestra saying rather loudly to her friends that she specifically told her parents not to come and watch the show because it’s a ‘trainwreck’ and she is ‘embarrassed to be a part of it’.

         I am this close to punching her in the face when Dimitri puts his arm around my shoulders.

         ‘We’re going to blow them away, Hal,’ he says. ‘Don’t listen to those idiots.’219

         ‘We have to,’ I say, and my eyes fill with tears for the third time this afternoon. ‘It has to be amazing, for Ms Lovelace’s sake, if nothing else.’

         ‘It will be. Let’s take it from the top.’

         I smile and Dorothy gathers the cast together for another full-out run.

         We’re only part way through ‘Doin’ What Comes Natur’lly’ when the police arrive.

         Sergeant Griffiths and Caleb seem to walk through the hall doors in slow motion.

         Ms Johnson rushes over to them as though she is in charge, and they have a hushed conversation. Dimitri puts his hand on my arm.

         ‘Why are they here?’ he asks.

         ‘I don’t know.’

         Ms Johnson approaches the stage. My heart rate starts to pick up. Have they found the killer? Are they here to tell us? Are they here to arrest someone?

         Ms Johnson is looking straight at me. ‘Penny?’ she says. I realise suddenly that she doesn’t even know our names.

         ‘I’m not Penny,’ I say.

         Everyone turns to stare at Penny, who is leaning against the back wall and not in character at all, by the way.

         ‘Penny,’ Ms Johnson says, redirecting her gaze, ‘can you please change back into your uniform, get your bag and come with us.’

         Penny glares at Ms Johnson as she, without breaking eye contact, pulls off her Charlie Davenport costume right 220there on stage in front of everyone and drops it to the floor. She marches into the dressing room in her underwear. Ms Johnson is not impressed at all. I hear her mutter ‘drama students’ under her breath as she rolls her eyes. One of the junior boys in the orchestra wolf-whistles and Mrs Berrycloth hits him over the back of the head with her libretto.

         ‘We have to do something,’ Dimitri whispers to me.

         I jump down off the stage and run over to Sergeant Griffiths at the door. Caleb looks at me suspiciously.

         ‘You can’t take Penny,’ I say, fully aware of how ridiculous I must look to them in my Annie Oakley costume. ‘She’s one of the leads, we can’t go on without her. Opening night is next week.’

         ‘Sorry, Hal,’ Sergeant Griffiths says with a thick layer of patronising. ‘But we need to have a little chat with Penny at the station.’

         Penny approaches us in her school uniform. Dorothy is holding onto her hand.

         ‘It’s okay, Hal,’ Penny says.

         ‘Your parents will meet us there,’ Caleb says.

         ‘I’ll be fine,’ Penny says, prying her fingers away from Dorothy’s tight grip.

         We watch as they put her into the back of the cop car. The room behind us is silent. I can feel sixty pairs of eyes on our backs.

         Ms Berrycloth claps her hands and it makes us jump. ‘Back to it, girls – the theatre waits for no one.’221

         I put my arm around Dorothy and we head backstage together. Dorothy picks up Penny’s costume from where it’s lying on the floor after someone chucked it off the stage.

         Dimitri and Walt are waiting for us in the wings.

         ‘We have to tell them what we found out about the knife,’ I say. ‘We have to get Penny back for the show.’

         ‘We will,’ Dimitri says. ‘Don’t worry, Hallie.’

         But he sounds way less confident than I need him to right now.

         Dorothy hangs Penny’s costume behind her name plate and brushes it down.

         Dimitri reaches for my hand. ‘It’s going to be okay,’ he says. ‘The show must go on, right?’

         ‘With only one week to go? How can we possibly teach a replacement in a week?’

         ‘She’s not going to jail, Hal; they just want to talk to her.’

         ‘But her fingerprints are on the knife. Surely that’s enough to arrest her. They probably only waited until now because she was in hospital.’

         I notice something out of the corner of my eye. A flash of white in Dorothy’s hand. She stuffs it into her pocket.

         ‘What’s that?’ I ask.

         ‘Nothing,’ she says. ‘Just a receipt.’ Dorothy has never been a good liar.

         ‘Dorothy?’

         ‘You’re going to get the wrong idea,’ she says.

         ‘Just show it to us,’ I say.222

         She pulls it out of her pocket and hands it to us. It’s a folded-up piece of paper. We unfold it and lay it on the table in front of us.

         Congratulations! You have won the Scavenger Hunt! You know more about Bertolt Brecht than anyone! Your reward is waiting for you in the drama studio! 

         There are flecks of blood on it.

         ‘Where did you get this?’ I say, and my voice comes out in a whisper.

         ‘I can’t tell you.’

         ‘Dorothy,’ Dimitri says, ‘you can trust us.’

         ‘I just found it in the pocket of Penny’s costume.’

         None of us can breathe.
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            Chapter 24

         

         After rehearsal finishes, Dimitri drives us all back to his place.

         His parents meet us at the front door. They are very intense. I always find it hard to make conversation with them when they take Dimitri and me to the city to see a show. There’s a rumour going around the school that they were members of the Russian Mob and had to flee the country so they didn’t get assassinated. It sounds farfetched but I can’t think of many other reasons for them to move to this dead-end town in the middle of nowhere. That, and the fact that nobody seems to know what they do for a living.

         Dimitri’s house has a rumpus room in the loft. His parents installed a ballet barre for him and there’s a full set of wall mirrors. We sit around on beanbags while Dimitri paces back and forth across the room.

         ‘We have to do something,’ he says.

         ‘Her parents are loaded, right?’ I say. ‘Surely they can afford a good lawyer.’224

         ‘I’m sure Penny has told my dad the story of how her fingerprints got on the knife,’ Walter says, and the way he emphasises the word story makes me feel sick.

         ‘What’s that supposed to mean?’ Dimitri snaps, stopping in his tracks.

         ‘I’m just saying, are we sure it wasn’t her?’ Walt says.

         ‘Walter!’ I cry. ‘How can you even say that?’

         ‘Well, she had the final piece of the scavenger hunt in her pocket – Ms Lovelace must have had it on her when she died – and her prints are on the knife. We’ve said it before, and I’ll say it again: odds are it was one of us.’

         ‘Anybody could have put that paper in her pocket,’ Dimitri says. He looks like he might punch Walter in the face at any second. ‘But why on earth would she keep it all this time? Why wouldn’t she have just thrown it away? She must have known it was incriminating.’

         ‘Maybe the killer kept it and planted it on her, just like they planted the knife in that motel room,’ I say, subtly placing myself between Dimitri and Walter’s face, just in case. ‘Also, there’s no way Penny would have gotten to the end of the scavenger hunt before me,’ I add. ‘She doesn’t even know who Bertolt Brecht is.’

         ‘Maybe she skipped all the clues and went straight there,’ Walter says.

         ‘Shut up, shut up, shut up!’ Dorothy yells.

         We stare at her, sitting alone on a beanbag in the corner. I almost forgot she was there. She is panting and shaking 225her hands frantically. There are beads of sweat on her forehead. She starts trying to rip her hoodie off.

         Dimitri runs to her side and helps her pull it over her head.

         Underneath, she is wearing a thin white T-shirt and the arms that emerge from the sleeves are nothing but bones painted like skin.

         ‘I think she’s having a panic attack,’ Dimitri says. ‘Dorothy, listen to me, can you hear my voice?’

         No response. I hadn’t noticed how much worse she looks. She’s all elbows and cheekbones. Her hair is malty and in wisps. Her face is drawn. Her lips are pale, almost purple. She is a girl made of petals. Like a flannel flower.

         I’m glad Dimitri is here because I have no idea what to do. He takes both of Dorothy’s hands and sits face to face with her on the floor.

         ‘Just close your eyes and focus on breathing with me, okay? Can you do that? Just breathe in, and breathe out, okay?’

         Dorothy closes her eyes, but her breathing is patchy.

         ‘Should we call an ambulance?’ Walter asks.

         Dorothy’s eyes snap open, wide with fear. Dimitri shushes him. ‘Just breathe, Dorothy. In and out, just like that. Someone fetch her a glass of water, will you?’

         Walter rushes downstairs.

         ‘And open the windows, get some fresh air in here.’

         I push open the one loft window and am instantly engulfed in the smell of eucalyptus and someone barbecuing 226sausages nearby. Walter returns with a glass of water and hands it to Dimitri. He manages to get Dorothy to take a couple of sips.

         ‘I think there are some Tim Tams in the fridge,’ Dimitri says. ‘Grab them will you, Walt?’

         He dashes back down the stairs.

         Once Dorothy has calmed down, Dimitri makes her suck on a Tim Tam and hug a cushion. We sit around in silence and try our best not to stare at her too much.

         ‘I’m sorry,’ Dorothy says finally.

         ‘Please …’ Dimitri says, ‘please don’t apologise, Dorothy.’

         He is sitting beside her, rubbing circles on her back. I can see her spine through her T-shirt.

         ‘She didn’t do it,’ Dorothy says. ‘I know … I know Penny didn’t do it.’

         ‘It’s okay, Dorothy. We all know she didn’t do it,’ I say, eyeing Walter across the room, but he does not look convinced.

         ‘I can’t lose her,’ she says. ‘I can’t lose her too. She’s all I have left.’

         I cross the room and wrap my arms around her. Her body is sharp; I can feel each bone under her skin.

         ‘You’ve got us too, Dorothy,’ I say. ‘We all love you.’

         Finally, she cries, and it feels like such a relief. I hug the tears right out of her and send them to the sky like bubbles.

         ‘I still think it was Tim’s supplier,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Yeah,’ I say stubbornly, giving Walt a sideways glare.

         ‘I’ll drive you all home,’ Dimitri says, once Dorothy’s 227tears have subsided. He helps her up. Her legs are still a bit shaky.

         ‘I think I’ll walk, thanks,’ Dorothy says. ‘Come with me, Hal?’

         ‘You read my mind,’ I say. Neither of us bother to ask Walt if he wants to join us.

         We head downstairs together. Dimitri’s house has a double garage but his parents’ matching Audis are kept in there, so his Mazda is parked on the street outside with the sun shade up. Walter gets in the front seat. He waves to me through the window as they drive away but I pretend not to see him.

         Dorothy and I walk slowly. Somehow, I don’t want to reach home. I want to keep going all night. We walk in silence under the bottlebrush flowers buzzing with bees and rainbow lorikeets. There are a hundred things I want to say, but I just listen to the hum of the bush around us instead.

         ‘Who do you think did it?’ Dorothy asks, breaking my reverie.

         ‘I don’t know,’ I say, honestly. ‘I want to think it was a random, someone we’ve never met. I was glad when we thought it was Gus.’

         ‘Me too.’

         I walk with Dorothy all the way to her place. We walk in time, our feet singing a duet. The wind tugs on wisps of our hair and the last of the setting sun drips warmth into our souls.228

         We reach her house. ‘This is me,’ she says as she heads inside.

         ‘I’ll walk you in,’ I say.

         This is the first time I’ve been inside Dorothy’s house. It’s not as bad as I was picturing. It’s modest, but it’s not messy. The front door opens into the living room, where there’s a sad old couch and a coffee table covered in condensation rings. There’s an old-fashioned TV – one of those ones with the big back sticking out behind it – and a single shelf with a few books on it.

         Her mother appears from the kitchen. She has a tired sort of face.

         ‘Oh, Dorothy, I wasn’t expecting company.’

         She doesn’t sound angry, just sad. Unbelievably sad.

         ‘Hello, Mrs Keating,’ I say. ‘I was just popping in.’

         ‘Oh, that’s lovely,’ she says, and her face does brighten a little.

         ‘I thought maybe we should have a little chat about Dorothy.’

         Dorothy gives me a betrayed look, but this is something that I have to do.

         I sit with the two of them in the living room for a good half hour as we talk. Mrs Keating cries a little bit, Dorothy cries a lot, but by the end of it they seem to have reached an understanding.

         Dorothy waves to me from the front door.
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            Chapter 25

         

         Mr Morton is trying to get our attention. He does that clapping thing that primary school teachers do, hoping we’ll copy him. I’m the only one who does, and it’s clearly a pity clap.

         ‘Hey, guys,’ he says. ‘So, you remember you asked me about those essays you wrote last year as part of your assessment.’ We are suddenly all paying attention. ‘Well, um, I found them. They were in Ms Lovelace’s desk. But, well, it’s really weird – one of them is missing. I’ve looked everywhere but I can’t find it.’

         ‘I don’t know how he ever got a job as a teacher. The man can’t string a single sentence together,’ Dimitri whispers to me, but I don’t laugh. My whole body has gone cold.

         ‘Whose?’ Walter says.

         ‘Hallie’s.’

         Four faces look at me across the circle in confusion.

         ‘Why yours?’ Dorothy says.

         ‘I don’t know,’ Mr Morton says. ‘It’s possible, of course, that it was lost in the shuffle and got mixed up with everything else on her desk and accidentally thrown away, 230or she may have taken yours home to mark. Anyway, I’ve spoken to Ms Johnson and she says you’ll just get an average mark based on the rest of the class results.’

         Dimitri makes a face. He’s sure I would have done better than the class average. But he is wrong.

         Walter is wearing his thinking face.

         After Mr Morton hands out the papers, we get back to work on our epic theatre performance, but Walter is not focused and keeps missing his cues – even more than normal.

         He pulls me aside when the bell rings. This is the first time he’s spoken to me on our own since our last conversation in the tree house.

         ‘Want to run lines after school?’ he asks.

         ‘I can’t. I’m gathering intel.’ I’m only slightly relieved to have an excuse.

         ‘What?’

         ‘Adam Tolentino.’

         This morning in music I asked Adam if he wanted to practise for the music aural exam with me this afternoon. He looked surprised, and maybe even a little happy. ‘Sure,’ he said. ‘The shop is pretty quiet on a Tuesday, so I’ve got the afternoon off. We could go to my place.’

         I won’t lie and say that didn’t make my heart do that thing where it stops beating for a second. Then I reminded myself that my friends were counting on me to find out what Adam knows about the day Ms Lovelace was murdered, and my heart did that thing where it sank into the pit of my stomach.231

         ‘Wait,’ Walter says, following behind me. One of his shoelaces is untied. ‘You’re not going home with him, are you?’

         ‘What else am I going to do?’ I ask. ‘I have to get him alone to be able to ask him about that day.’

         Walter looks disappointed. ‘I just don’t know if I like the idea of you going to the home of a murder suspect.’

         ‘This was your idea,’ I say. ‘Besides, you saw him stand up for Dimitri. It wasn’t him, Walt.’

         Walter just shrugs.

         When we board the bus, Adam is sitting up the front, away from the rest of the lads. I think about it for less than a second before I sit next to him.

         As he sits down behind us, the look on Walter’s face could sink a ship.

         ‘Warner,’ Adam says, offering me a piece of gum. I take it, but it’s slightly melted and takes a lot of chewing to get to a decent consistency. He offers one to Walter too, but he refuses and stares out the window.

         When Adam and I get off the bus, Walter watches us glassy-eyed through the window as the bus pulls away. I give him a little wave.

         Adam’s house is a little shack of a place: the letterbox is leaning precariously to one side and the paint is all peeling off the weatherboards. There are faded brown striped blinds on the windows. Somehow, I didn’t notice any of this when I was last here.232

         The front door opens into the living room. There are two frayed couches and a coffee table covered in pale rings caused by a distinct lack of coasters. My mum would be horrified.

         ‘We only have the one computer,’ Adam says, scratching the back of his head. ‘The laptop is at the shop.’

         ‘Me too.’

         He smiles and dumps his duffle on the couch, and I put my backpack next to it.

         The computer is set up on a makeshift desk in the hallway between the living room and the kitchen.

         ‘The aural is my weakest part of the exam,’ I say.

         ‘Me too,’ Adam says. ‘Plus all the other parts.’

         I laugh and touch his arm for a moment but then pull my hand away. I have to ask him today. I have to.

         The computer takes a while to crunch into life as Adam fetches me a chair from the kitchen table and some tepid water in a glass.

         Mrs Berrycloth hasn’t quite found her way into the twenty-first century and has sent us home with a CD each to practise for the exam. Luckily, Adam’s computer still has a disk drive.

         We get through the first song on the list. I have made a whole page of notes, and all Adam has written is: What does R&B even stand for? 

         ‘Maybe we could do something else,’ he says when he notices me looking over his shoulder.

         ‘Like what?’233

         He shrugs and I wonder if he’s about to suggest what I think he’s about to suggest. He gives me a strange look and then shuts his book.

         The phone rings and it makes me jump. Felix comes dashing down the hallway and picks it up before it reaches the second ring.

         ‘Yes, yes, we accept,’ he says.

         Adam stands and crosses the room to the phone.

         ‘Cris?’ Felix says. ‘Can you hear me?’

         Adam sits down and pulls Felix onto his lap, holding the handset between their faces so they can both hear.

         I feel like I’m intruding on something very private.

         ‘How are you?’ Felix is saying. ‘Been in any fights?’

         I head to the bathroom so they can speak in privacy. The toilet seat is up and the sink looks like it’s never been cleaned.

         After washing my hands and giving the sink a quick once-over with the hand towel, I hang around in the hallway trying not to eavesdrop. I can still hear the excited sounds of their phone conversation from down the hall. I take a peek into the nearest room. There’s a bunk bed, but only the top bed has sheets on it. The other is covered in a pile of clothes and a few school projects. I assume this is Felix’s room. I recognise the same clay sphere I made in primary school visual arts. His is covered in what I think might be echidnas, but it’s hard to tell.

         The next room down must be Adam’s – there’s a football on the desk, for starters, and I recognise his pencil 234case sitting on the bedside table. If Walter knew I had exclusive access to a suspect’s bedroom he’d go ballistic, but I can’t quite gather the courage to go inside. Instead, I hover on the doorstep, halfway between worlds. It’s tidier than Felix’s room – most of the clothes I can see are piled in a hamper in the corner and there are a few posters on the wall of bands I’ve never heard of, like Sandwich and Join the Club. But if I do have a look around and find nothing incriminating, then maybe Walter will get off Adam’s case. I look at the desk drawers. One is slightly ajar. I could just peer inside; I wouldn’t even need to open it.

         I creep into the room and glance into the top drawer of the desk. It’s hardly open far enough for me to see, so I gently pry it out further with my finger. Inside, there are random pieces of paper, old assessment task notifications, permission notes and hand-outs from class. I move to the bottom drawer; it is deeper and full of old sports trophies and science projects. But something catches my eye, buried under everything and wrapped in an old rugby jersey.

         ‘Whatcha doing, Warner?’ Adam has appeared in the hall behind me.

         I spin around. ‘Just snooping,’ I say, trying to sound innocent.

         ‘Whatcha got there?’ he asks.

         My hands are behind my back, clutching the bundle.

         ‘I’m sorry, I didn’t mean to …’

         ‘Show me,’ he says.235

         I bring the bundle out from behind my back. The jersey falls open to reveal a huge wad of cash. ‘It’s you, isn’t it?’ I say. ‘You’re the one who’s been dealing drugs at school.’

         ‘Listen, Hal, I can explain.’

         ‘Penny almost died.’

         ‘It’s not what it looks like.’

         ‘And what? Ms Lovelace caught you in the act, so you killed her?’

         Adam looks startled. ‘What? Is that really what you think?’ He sits on the bed. He is between me and the door. ‘It’s just so hard,’ he says, putting his face in his hands. ‘Dad is hardly ever home. He’s either at the shop or at the pub. Sometimes I feel like I’m raising this kid all on my own.’

         ‘I thought you said your dad was doing better.’

         ‘This is him doing better.’

         ‘So, you decided selling drugs was the best thing to do? Jesus, Adam, why don’t you get a real job?’

         ‘I’m not dealing drugs, Hal.’

         ‘Do you really expect me to believe that?’ I say. ‘After all, Cris was your predecessor. And to think I defended you.’

         ‘You really think that I had something to do with Ms Lovelace’s death?’ His voice is strained.

         I look to the door and wonder if I could make it out of the house without him stopping me.

         ‘You tell me, Adam. Why else was your car in the parking lot that day?’

         ‘You saw my car there?’236

         ‘I saw it when we arrived at school, but it was gone by the time we left. So, you do the math. Why do you think I’ve been hanging out with you all this time? I’ve been trying to find out what you know.’

         I make to walk past him, but he blocks my path.

         ‘Where are you going?’ he says.

         ‘Home.’ In my head, I run through the stage combat training I’ve had to see if I remember anything useful.

         ‘Look, let me explain. I was strapped for cash, okay? And Cris told me that if I checked in the sand bucket in the cleaner’s storeroom, I’d find some money. No questions asked. I knew it was probably drug money, but I figured I could do something good with it, you know?’

         ‘And Ms Lovelace?’

         ‘I never even made it to the storeroom. I heard all of you lot arrive, and I panicked. I decided to go back for the money the next day.’

         ‘Are you telling me the truth?’

         ‘I swear on Felix’s life, I never touched her. I didn’t even see her there.’

         ‘Okay,’ I say. And somehow, I do believe him.

         The air in the room feels dense, like there’s fog all around us. I feel as though I can’t quite catch my breath. Adam is still standing in the doorway. His brow furrows.

         ‘So,’ he says, ‘this whole time you were only spending time with me to get information? This whole time you thought I might be the killer. You and your friends coming to my game … that was all just part of this plan?’237

         ‘No,’ I say. ‘I mean, maybe at first, but—’

         ‘I thought you were …’ he says. ‘I thought you wanted … I can’t listen to this. I think you should leave.’

         ‘But, Adam … I—’

         ‘You know, even though you found the body, I never for one second thought it was you.’

         I hear a car pulling up outside and the sound of Felix’s voice greeting someone. Adam steps aside so I can leave. As I head into the living room, I bump headfirst into someone. It’s a boy about Felix’s age but it’s not Felix. It’s Walter’s little brother, Ray. I realise suddenly that’s why Felix looked so familiar. I have seen him at Walter’s place before, hanging out with his brother. They’re the ones who throw waterbombs at us when we sing too loud.

         Felix is standing just behind him and he peers around the door to see Adam, who is still standing in the doorway like a set piece.

         Felix’s eyes light up. ‘What have you two been up to?’ he asks, winking. I can feel my cheeks going red. ‘Is Hallie your girlfriend?’

         Ray looks at me with a cold expression.

         I feel sick. The heat seems to slide out of my face. ‘We’re just studying together,’ I say. But I don’t expect anyone to believe me.

         ‘Are you okay?’ Felix asks me. ‘You look pale.’

         I wonder if he thinks I’m going to have another panic attack on his floor.

         ‘I’m just tired,’ I say.238

         Ray and I lock eyes and his face is unreadable. How much does he know? How much does he care? Surely an eleven-year-old wouldn’t care about the love life of his older brother, right?

         ‘I’ll walk you home, Hallie,’ Adam says, slipping into his shoes.

         ‘You don’t have to do that,’ I say. As if this weren’t already awkward enough.

         ‘Come on,’ he says. ‘It’s getting dark and they still haven’t caught whoever …’ He trails off, like he can’t bring himself to say it out loud anymore.

         I wave to Ray as we leave, but he doesn’t reciprocate. I have this funny feeling that he can read my mind.

         Adam walks a few steps behind me down the street in a suffocating silence. I focus on the sound of the kookaburras on the telegraph wires and the smell of someone barbecuing fish in a backyard nearby. I still flinch whenever a car drives by, even though Walter has assured me that Gus has left town.

         ‘I guess we won’t be hanging out anymore,’ I say finally. I don’t even know what to call this. Surely this doesn’t count as dating. We haven’t even kissed.

         ‘No, I guess not.’

         ‘You’re not a dickhead; you know that, right?’

         ‘Yeah, I am,’ he says.

         ‘I don’t think so.’

         ‘You know, my brother may be a dropkick who’s messed up on drugs, but that’s not me.’239

         ‘I know.’

         ‘And I think it was a pretty shitty thing you did.’

         ‘I know.’

         My house is in sight. The verandah is bare and I feel like I can finally exhale.

         ‘See you around, I guess,’ he says and turns to walk away.

         ‘I love you, Adam Tolentino.’

         I can’t believe the words are out of my mouth. I had no idea I was going to say them until I already had. Adam has stopped in his tracks. My heart is beating so fast that I can hardly breathe.

         ‘I love you too, Hallie Warner,’ he says without turning around. ‘But that doesn’t change anything.’

         He walks away from me. I watch him until he turns the corner. I keep thinking he’ll come back, but he doesn’t.

         I don’t know how long I stand there before I finally walk inside. I feel like collapsing. My mum has left me a note on the fridge saying: Picked up an extra shift. Fish fingers and mash in the fridge. 

         I sit at my desk trying to focus on my English essay but my brain feels like it’s been poured through a sieve. From my window, I can see the backyard and I notice a movement in the tree house.

         Walter.

         I don’t really have time to talk to him right now, but after everything that’s happened, I think it’s time to clear the air between us. And I guess I have to tell him what I found out about Adam.240

         I head outside and climb up the rope ladder, but as I pop my head up over the ledge it’s not Walter who I see but Ray.

         I cringe, waiting for a water balloon to hit me in the face, but nothing. I open one eye and then the other. Ray is sitting cross legged, waiting patiently.

         I hoist myself up and sit opposite him.

         ‘I guess you’re here to blackmail me,’ I say. For an eleven-year-old he can be pretty devious.

         ‘I just want to talk.’

         He sounds twenty years older than he is.

         ‘Okay, shoot.’

         ‘I don’t know if you’re aware, but Walter is in love with you.’

         ‘I—’ I start to protest, but he cuts me off.

         ‘And I think he deserves to hear it from you if you don’t feel the same way about him. This has gone on for too long. You need to put him out of his misery.’

         His eyes are shining.

         ‘When did you get so grown up?’ I ask.

         ‘Will you talk to him?’

         ‘I tried.’

         ‘Well, try harder.’

         I nod. But how I will ever find the words is beyond me.

         ‘Good,’ he says.

         ‘You know,’ I say, ‘Walter is lucky to have a brother who cares so much about him.’

         ‘No. You’re lucky to have a friend who cares so much about you. He’d do anything for you.’241

         His eyes bore into my soul for a moment longer and then he leaves me there.

         I watch Ray climb down the rope ladder and walk inside his house. His gumboots leave soggy holes in the lawn.

         I sit in the tree house and try to work out how to break the heart of my best friend.
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            Chapter 26

         

         It’s opening night!

         Penny was released by the police after only a couple of hours of questioning. Her parents had already called their lawyer, who was at the station before they were. Since she could prove that Penny had the knife before Ms Lovelace was killed, then anybody could have stolen it and the lawyer said they were going to have to come up with something better than that if they wanted to keep her client detained. She was probably a bit much for our town’s police department to handle.

         Penny has been grounded for the rest of the year, but thankfully her parents said she could still do the show. They are now keeping a constant watch on her – well, I say ‘they’, but actually they hired an au pair who is quite possibly a member of the mafia. She has been looming at the doors to the hall during every tech rehearsal this week. She wears black sunglasses and her hair is slicked back so tight that you could probably sharpen a knife on it.

         At recess I convince Dimitri to sneak around to the demountables at the back of the school with me. Kids often 243come here to smoke between classes, and there are cigarette butts littering the ground.

         ‘Is this it?’ he asks. ‘Are you bringing me back here to kill me?’

         ‘Yep, this is my confession’ I say. But my heart isn’t really in it.

         ‘So, if you’re not the murderer, then did you at least find out why Adam was there?’ Dimitri asks.

         I nod. ‘It’s kind of a long story.’

         He sits down on the brick retaining wall and pats the spot next to him. ‘I have some free time.’

         So I tell him about what happened with Adam, about everything – what happened at the record store, finding the money in his drawer and what I learnt about Cris.

         ‘And he basically kicked me out of his house,’ I finish. I pick up a dead gum leaf from the ground and start shredding it.

         ‘Shit,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Oh, and I told Adam I love him.’

         Dimitri slaps his thigh. ‘Holy shit!’

         ‘I know.’

         ‘And?’

         ‘He said he loves me too.’

         ‘Oh my god.’

         ‘Please don’t tell anyone,’ I say.

         It’s hard to explain, but I want us to share this secret, like a blanket, between us.

         We head to music. Adam, who had been sitting with us in music every lesson, has returned to the back row and has 244his headphones in. I glance over my shoulder at him. He looks up and notices me. I smile at him. He doesn’t smile back. I guess that’s the end of that.

         I swallow the lump that rises unexpectedly in my throat and turn my thoughts to the show tonight. Even with everything going on, I can’t help but be excited. Six months of my life have led to this moment.
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         It’s 5 pm and we stand holding hands in a circle outside the back door of the hall, near the skip bins, for our vocal warm-ups. Ms Lovelace used to lead these, but I have taken up the mantle. Then we gather on the stage and take turns peering through the tiny moth holes in the curtains to catch glimpses of the audience.

         My parents are coming to closing night, but Dimitri’s extended family are all sitting in the front row tonight.

         There are a few little hiccups, but otherwise the show runs really well. The ensemble are the real stars tonight; their harmonies are insane and the ‘No Business Like Show Business’ dance goes off. I wink at Dimitri’s little cousins during ‘You Can’t Get a Man with a Gun’ and I see them holding in their giggles during the kissing scene.

         Addie is also in the audience tonight. After the show, I see her approach Mr Morton and hug him.

         ‘You did her proud,’ she says and I notice that he is crying.

         I guess they are friends.245

         Adam isn’t here, but there are still three more shows. I won’t lose hope just yet.

         ‘Good show tonight, everyone,’ Dimitri says when he joins us in the girls’ dressing room.

         ‘One of the junior girls fell over in the tap number,’ Penny says.

         ‘Other than that.’

         ‘And Walter turned the wrong way in ‘Who Do You Love, I Hope?’ Dorothy adds.

         ‘And that.’

         Dorothy gets up to leave; she has to work tonight. On her way out, she passes Walter coming in.

         ‘Penny, we need to talk,’ Walter says. He still has his Tommy Keeler hat on. He always forgets to hang it back up with his costume. Every time we did a dress rehearsal, he’d come running in here looking for it a minute before curtain.

         ‘I didn’t do it, all right? For fuck’s sake, just let it go.’

         ‘It’s not about that, Penny,’ Dimitri says. ‘It’s about the drugs.’

         I feel like we should have planned this better. The stinky girls’ dressing room just doesn’t have the welcoming and comforting environment you need for an intervention. But Dimitri wanted to do it sooner rather than later.

         ‘We can’t watch this anymore,’ I say. ‘What are you doing to yourself? Think of Dorothy. She’s already lost her sister. You can’t make her watch that again. She’s stopped eating. Did you even know that?’246

         At least I rehearsed my lines.

         Penny starts to cry. ‘Shut the fuck up,’ she says. ‘You don’t know a thing about it.’

         ‘Then please,’ Walter says, ‘explain it to us, because you’re right, we don’t understand. From here, it looks like you’re just a spoiled brat rebelling against your rich parents who buy you everything you could ever want.’

         That might have been a bit too much. He wasn’t supposed to improvise. Walter has never been good at improvising. I put a hand on his arm to try to calm him down a little bit, but I think he takes it as encouragement.

         ‘Everyone has their own shit to deal with,’ Penny says.

         ‘And what shit do you have to deal with, Penny?’ Walter says. ‘A mansion with twelve bedrooms? Piano lessons paid for by your parents? Homemade dinners containing all five of the food groups every night? What?’

         ‘I’m invisible!’ she yells, throwing her mascara at the mirror in true drama-student fashion.

         A silence fills the room as the darkness falls from her eyes like tears.

         Penny comes from a big family. Her parents are Chinese and they immigrated here before she was born. Penny has four siblings, all of whom are highly accomplished. One is studying surgery, another is a cellist in the Sydney Symphony Orchestra. Her youngest sister is only in primary school but she’s already skipped two grades and is a mathematics genius. Her eldest brother is involved in 247biological research to find a cure for AIDS. I can see why Penny might feel a little dwarfed in comparison.

         ‘We just want to help,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘I don’t need your help,’ Penny spits. ‘Besides, I’m clean. I haven’t even had a smoke today.’

         She starts gathering her things together. Dimitri fetches her mascara from where it landed.

         ‘That’s really great, Penny,’ I say. ‘We’re proud of you.’

         ‘Oh save it, Hallie. You just don’t want anything to ruin your precious show.’

         ‘Penny, that’s not fair,’ Dimitri says. ‘We all love you; we just want what’s best for you.’

         She wipes her eyes with the back of her hand. ‘I don’t even do drugs. I don’t know what happened.’

         ‘But you’re depressed, irritable, and you have conflict with your friends and family members,’ Dimitri says, mentally ticking off items from the pamphlet.

         ‘Yep. That’s just me. Sorry. Look, my mum is probably waiting for me in the car park,’ she says. ‘I have to go or she’ll think I’m back here taking drugs with you losers.’

         ‘We’ll walk you out,’ I say. Dimitri takes her hand and I half expect her to yank it out of his grasp, but she doesn’t.

         ‘Thanks.’

         We sneak out the back door and the three of us walk to the car park in silence. And sure enough, there is Penny’s mother in her bright red car. She toots the horn twice when she sees us.

         ‘Is there anything we can do?’ I say.248

         ‘Don’t hold your breath,’ Penny says. But, before getting in the car, she turns around and somehow she looks younger and older at the same time. ‘Thank you, guys.’

         We wave from the kerb as the car drives away before we are swallowed up by Dimitri’s family and an array of other fans taking photos with us and giving us bunches of flowers.

         ‘We need to talk about this,’ Walter says, pulling me aside. ‘If Penny didn’t take the drugs, then how did they get in her system?’

         ‘Someone must have drugged her,’ I say.

         ‘But why? Was she onto something?’

         ‘Maybe it was to make her the perfect scapegoat. Think about it: her prints were on the knife, and with her out of the picture she wouldn’t have been able to explain why. I think they were trying to frame her, just like they did with Gus.’

         ‘They’re more dangerous than we thought,’ he says.
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            Chapter 27

         

         Our second show is the next night. Walter wasn’t on the bus this morning, which is worrying. I hope he’s not sick.

         We meet before school in our spot, still buzzing from last night’s performance. In drama, there’s no sign of Walter so I sneak out to the bathroom and check my phone. No messages from him either. I start to get anxious. Could something have happened to him? I send him a message asking if he’s alive, then head back to class.

         It’s not until recess that he shows up. He crosses the grass to us.

         ‘Walter,’ I say. ‘We thought you were dead.’

         ‘My dad brought some of his case notes home last night,’ he says, getting straight to the point.

         ‘Let me guess …’ Penny says. She has her hair in two long braids today.

         ‘I just had a quick peek while he was in the bathroom.’

         ‘Isn’t that illegal?’ Dimitri asks, picking the beetroot out of his sandwich.

         ‘I found something out,’ he says.250

         ‘I am not going through this again, Walter, just tell us.’ Penny says.

         ‘I saw the coroner’s report. Ms Lovelace was pregnant.’

         A well seems to open up inside me and I can’t get enough air to fill it.

         ‘Shit,’ Dimitri says, his sandwich falling limply to his side.

         ‘That’s not all. They’ve done a DNA test. There’s no match in the system for a possible father, but there is for a sibling.’

         ‘Who?’ Penny asks.

         Walter pauses, but only for a second. ‘Hallie Warner.’

         Everyone’s eyes turn to me, wide in disbelief. I feel like I might go into a full-on panic attack.

         ‘Hallie?’ Dorothy asks. ‘But that means … does that mean that—’

         ‘Hallie’s dad is the father of Ms Lovelace’s baby,’ Walter says.

         I want to sink into the ground, right through the earth.

         ‘Hallie?’ Dimitri says.

         ‘I have to go,’ I say.

         I think somebody says something to me, but I can’t hear them. It sounds as if they are speaking underwater.

         I don’t remember taking out my bus pass, but I must have because somehow I catch the bus home. By the time I get to the front door I am so wired that I slam it shut behind me with enough force to knock the salt and pepper shakers off the kitchen bench.251

         Dad appears from the living room. I don’t think I’ve ever hated anyone as much as I hate him in this moment.

         ‘Wanna tell me what that was about?’ he asks.

         I want to slap him. How dare he ask me about anything I do after what he did to Ms Lovelace?

         ‘Why don’t you tell me about what you were doing with my drama teacher?’

         He doesn’t reply, just pushes past me into the kitchen, taking a bottle of beer from the fridge and opening it on the countertop.

         ‘Dad, I know. I know about you two,’ I say and I feel like I am letting out a breath after holding it for so long. The memory I’ve been burying all this time finally comes blazing to the surface. ‘I saw you together. I followed you one night. You said you were going to play poker at the Griffiths’ house, but you forgot your wallet, so I followed you and I saw you go into her house.’

         He tries to get past me, but I block his path.

         ‘Just tell me the truth,’ I say. ‘Were you sleeping with her?’

         He nods.

         ‘And did you know she was pregnant?’

         He nods again and each lift of his head looks more difficult than the last. I can’t believe I never noticed before. He is drowning in it. The guilt. It is eating him alive.

         ‘And when she threatened to tell Mum, you killed her?’

         ‘No!’ he says. There’s shock on his face now. ‘How could you even … I would never … I didn’t touch her.’ He takes a shaky sip of his beer, his hands trembling.252

         ‘And what about Victoria?’ I say. ‘I saw the photo of you two together at the presentation night. Did you kill her too and get your buddy Sergeant Griffiths to make it look like a suicide?’

         ‘I didn’t touch her,’ he says. And I suddenly find him repulsive. How have I lived in the same house as this thing my whole life?

         ‘I have to tell Sergeant Griffiths,’ I say.

         ‘Wait, Hal,’ he says and he grabs my wrist. His fingers are slick with sweat and condensation from the bottle.

         ‘Let me go,’ I say, trying to keep the terror from my voice.

         ‘Just let me explain.’

         ‘You need to leave,’ I say. I wish Adam were here. ‘And you need to tell Mum the truth.’

         I don’t even recognise him. It’s as if the dad I knew has melted into the ground like a wax sculpture and what’s left behind is something completely different.

         ‘She’ll leave me,’ he says.

         ‘What do you care? You obviously don’t love her.’

         ‘She’s never here!’ he spits, and his grip gets tighter on my arm.

         ‘She’s always at work!’ I yell back. ‘And where are you? Running off with some girl half your age instead of getting a fucking job!’ I’ve never sworn at him before and it feels good. ‘Now let me go and get the fuck out.’

         I think for a moment he might hit me. He never has before, but who knows what he’s capable of? I look into 253his eyes and realise it’s not guilt that I see. It’s grief. He lets go of my arm and walks to the bedroom. He returns a few minutes later with a backpack.

         ‘I never meant to hurt anyone,’ he says, and he squeezes my shoulder once before heading out the door and driving away. I don’t know where he’s going and I don’t really care.

         I look down the hall and see my mother standing there. She’s in her dressing down. It’s bright yellow and fluffy. When I was little, I used to call it her Big Bird dressing gown.

         ‘Mum?’

         She crumples to the ground in a fluffy yellow heap and I bundle her in my arms like she’s a child.

         We spend the afternoon eating chips and drinking orange juice. I think things have been wrong between them for a long time. And to be honest, we both know she’s better off without him.
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         I head back to school at five. Mum drops me off on her way to work. She and I have always been good at pulling ourselves together in a crisis.

         When I approach the hall, Mr Morton comes running over to me.

         ‘Thank god you’re here!’ he says and I’m certain he doesn’t realise he’s made a drama reference. ‘I don’t know what we would have done without you. Everyone has been freaking out.’254

         ‘The show must go on,’ I say. ‘Wild horses couldn’t keep me away.’

         In the change rooms, Dorothy and Penny embrace me warmly. ‘We thought you weren’t coming,’ Penny says. ‘Dorothy was worried she was going to have to fill in.’

         ‘Sorry.’

         ‘Walter was way out of line dropping that on you during show week.’

         Dimitri calls us for vocal warm-ups, giving me a wary smile as he does so, but I stay in the dressing room to change into my costume, doing my own sirens.

         The Friday night show is a smooth run with just one microphone malfunction. I thought I’d be distracted, but as soon as I step onto the stage I am in full professional mode and I think I perform even better than last night.

         After the show, I bump into Ray in the foyer.

         ‘Great show,’ he says. ‘But, man, Walt can’t sing to save his life.’

         ‘You should have heard his audition. He’s come a long way.’

         Ray laughs.

         ‘Hey, listen,’ I say. ‘Thank you. You were right. I’m an idiot.’

         ‘I know,’ he says.

         ‘I never meant to hurt him.’

         ‘I know. But you did, all the same.’

         ‘Yeah,’ I say. ‘You know, you should really go into psychology when you grow up.’255

         ‘Also, for the record,’ he says, ‘Adam Tolentino is a good guy.’

         I am a little taken aback. ‘What makes you say that?’

         ‘Walter and my dad don’t like me hanging out there with Felix, but they don’t know them like I do. They’ve been through a lot, but they’re really trying.’

         ‘Well, I don’t know if things worked out with me and Adam either,’ I say and it’s absurd but I think I might start crying.

         His parents pick this moment to come over to us and hug me.

         ‘Thank you,’ his mother says. ‘Walter never would have had the confidence to get up on stage like that if it weren’t for you.’

         I wonder if that’s true. I guess Walter never would have chosen drama if it weren’t for me, and therefore he never would have auditioned for the show. Have I really had such a big impact on his life?

         ‘I don’t know,’ I say. ‘I think he had it inside him all along.’
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         Dimitri gives us all a ride back to my place, I am exhausted, but I have to do this. I have to explain. Dad’s car is still gone, so we’ve got the house to ourselves. The gang follow me to my bedroom.

         Dimitri and Penny flop onto the end of the bed, Dorothy leans on the windowsill and Walter sits in my desk chair.256

         ‘Okay, so, there are a few things I have to tell you guys,’ I say and I pull open the drawer of my desk. ‘First, I found this at Ms Lovelace’s house.’ I hand the ultrasound photo to Walter.

         ‘You knew all along she was pregnant?’ Dimitri says. ‘Why didn’t you tell us?’

         ‘Because I knew that my dad was having an affair with her, and that the baby was probably his.’

         ‘For fuck’s sake, Hal. We’ve been trying to solve this thing for weeks. Did you not think this was maybe an important piece of information we could use?’ Penny says.

         ‘That’s not all,’ I say. ‘Felix managed to hack into the SD card. And he found this.’ I can’t make eye contact with Dorothy as I open my laptop and pull up the photo on my screen. I turn it towards Walter.

         ‘Is that …?’ he says.

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘With your dad?’

         ‘Yes.’

         ‘Who?’ Penny says, trying to look over his shoulder.

         ‘It’s Victoria,’ I say. ‘It’s Dorothy’s sister.’

         The air in the room feels like glue.

         ‘So, that’s it then,’ Penny says. ‘Hallie’s dad is the killer. Case closed.’

         ‘He knew she’d be there that day. He had a motive – she probably threatened to tell your mum about the baby,’ Dimitri says.257

         ‘And he killed Victoria too,’ Dorothy says. ‘He killed my sister.’

         ‘I thought so too,’ I say. ‘But now I’m not so sure. I confronted him today, and he swore it wasn’t him.’

         ‘Well, of course he did,’ Penny says.

         ‘I have to tell my dad,’ Walter says.

         I nod sadly. ‘They’ll arrest him, won’t they?’ I ask.

         ‘Probably.’

         ‘I’m sorry I kept it from you guys,’ I say.

         Dorothy gives me a sad smile.

         ‘We’d better get home,’ Dimitri says. ‘We have a big day tomorrow.’

         He squeezes my shoulder as he walks past me out the door, followed by Penny and Dorothy. Walter stays behind, and we sit side by side on the end of my bed.

         ‘I’m sorry,’ he says.

         ‘Me too.’

         ‘I’ve just been so obsessed with solving this thing. I forgot about who could get hurt in the process.’

         ‘I know, Walt, but maybe it’s not our job to try and find the killer.’

         ‘Then what is our job?’

         ‘To grieve.’

         His throat makes a kind of choking sound and I realise his eyes are watery.

         Then he buries his face in my shoulder and he cries, finally, after all this time. I wrap my arms around him and hug him as tightly as I can.258

         ‘Can we go back to being friends?’ I ask.

         He nods and I feel such a wave of relief that I think I might cry too.

         He rubs his knuckles into his eyes.

         ‘Do you think it could have been Dimitri?’ he says and laughs.

         ‘Yeah, sure,’ I say, pushing him over until we’re both laughing so hard my stomach hurts.

         ‘I missed you,’ I say.

         ‘Me too.’

         We lie side by side looking at the old, peeling glow-in-the-dark stars on my ceiling.

         ‘I’ll see you at the bus stop,’ Walter says when he leaves.
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            Chapter 28

         

         I am a mess.

         This afternoon was the matinee and it was the show where everything went wrong. Walter literally dropped Dorothy in the ‘No Business Like Show Business’ lift, Penny’s wig fell off in the middle of her solo, and the kid whose only job is to open and shut the curtain was playing games on his phone and missed the final cue, so that we were all standing there frozen on the stage before Penny finally stormed over and did it herself. I was kind of glad when I looked out over the sea of silhouettes in the dark that I couldn’t make out Adam’s shape.

         But now it’s closing night and I can’t keep it together. I can’t believe it’s almost over. The show run went so fast. Three days of performances seems hardly enough after months of rehearsals.

         The show runs smoother than it ever has before. Walter doesn’t drop Dorothy once in their dance, I hit every high note, Penny has the audience in hysterics as Buffalo Bill and Dimitri is perfect as always. The audience even gives 260us a standing ovation. Do you know how hard it is to get an audience on their feet?

         I look out into the crowd and see Mum. She is crying. Dad’s not here, obviously. Walter told me Sergeant Griffiths brought him in for questioning. Mum told him not to come home afterwards.

         Dimitri and Penny are either side of me on the stage as we take our final bows.

         ‘They came,’ Penny says, and I follow her eyes to see her parents standing in the audience. Her mother is crying too. In Penny’s only number, she sang it better than she ever has in rehearsals. She sang with a voice that held the purest of truths, the sound carrying on the air like a swallow, and I’d watched as each note trickled from the air onto her mother’s upturned face. Her mother’s eyes had turned misty and, for the first time, I thought I’d caught a glimpse of the woman underneath the ice sculpture.

         ‘Guess you’re not all that invisible, Pen,’ I say, holding her hand for the bow.

         I should be happy for her, but all I can think is, What am I going to do with my life after this? 

         I’m serious.

         I know there will be other shows, but it will never be like this again. I’ll never be starring in a show with all of my best friends here with me on the stage.

         Normally, this is when the cast would invite the teachers responsible for the show to come up onto the stage and we would give them bunches of flowers and praise their 261dedication to their students. None of us much felt like praising Mr Morton for sitting in rehearsals every day staring at the script while Dorothy and I ran the show, but we did want to thank Mrs Berrycloth for conducting the orchestra, so I collected money from everyone and bought some flowers for her from the grocery store in town. Dorothy came too and somehow managed to convince me that we had to buy some for Mr Morton, since, without him, there would be no show. I didn’t totally agree, but we got him some anyway.

         Mr Feather gets up on stage and makes a speech about the school’s extensive extra-curricular program and how important it is to support the arts. What rot. He has to use a handheld microphone so the audience can hear him. Not trained in projecting to the back of an auditorium, this one. Then we invite Mr Morton and Mrs Berrycloth onto the stage to accept their flowers. The bunch for Mrs Berrycloth is twice as big. I hope Mr Morton notices. Ms Johnson invites herself onto the stage and pretends she is responsible for the show. We have no flowers for her but that doesn’t stop her from taking a bow. I catch Mrs Berrycloth giving her a sour look. She is one of us, after all!

         Everyone is crying. I even catch Mrs Berrycloth shedding a tear or two, though she tries to hide it behind her giant bunch of flowers. Bless her heart. I hug her and she smells like lavender bath soap and strawberry icing.

         Eventually, the curtains close and we head up the stairs to our tiny, stinky dressing room for the last time.262

         There are bent bobby pins, used make-up wipes and coathangers everywhere. Ms Lovelace was always a stickler for keeping the dressing rooms spotless. She used to do an inspection after every rehearsal and we weren’t allowed to go home until it was perfect. But now the room is a tip and the bin hasn’t been emptied in weeks.

         Dorothy, Penny and I sit together in the dressing room, long after the show finishes, bawling our eyes out. Dorothy is downright refusing to take her costume off. It’s a bit embarrassing, really.

         ‘If I don’t take it off,’ she wails, ‘it will never really be over.’

         ‘I wish Ms Lovelace could have seen it,’ Penny says, and promptly starts sobbing again.

         ‘Maybe she was watching, you know, from heaven or whatever,’ Dorothy says, her bottom lip trembling.

         ‘I love you guys so much,’ I say and we hug for the thirtieth time tonight.

         Dimitri pokes his head around the door.

         ‘Is everyone decent?’ he says.

         ‘In a manner of speaking,’ Penny replies, pulling another tissue from the box.

         Dimitri opens the door and there is someone standing behind him. I assume it is Walter, but as he walks inside, I see that it’s Tim.

         ‘What the hell is he doing here?’ I say. I do not need to see Timothy Bacigalupo right now. This is a perfect memory that I do not want tarnished.263

         ‘Just give him a chance,’ Dimitri says.

         Tim actually looks nice for once. Normally, he is quite similar in appearance to a walking mop, but tonight he is wearing a button-up shirt – poorly ironed, but he has given it a good try – and I think he may have even combed his hair.

         ‘You guys were really great out there,’ he says. ‘I could never do that.’

         ‘Yes, you could,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Listen, I’m sorry about Ms Lovelace,’ he says. ‘You guys must have been pretty cut up about that.’

         Penny blows her nose loudly.

         ‘And I’m sorry for what I said to Dimitri. That was really stupid. I’m trying to work on being a better person.’

         ‘That’s gonna take some time,’ Penny says.

         ‘And I’ve stopped dealing. I’m looking for a real job.’

         Someone knocks on the door.

         ‘There are a lot of people out here waiting to meet the stars of the show!’

         It’s Mr Morton’s voice through the door and something that has been really obvious all along suddenly occurs to me.

         The room is silent. Even Dorothy has managed to stop crying for a minute. ‘Sorry, sir, we’ll be right out,’ she says.

         When we open the door, he is still standing at the bottom of the stairs.

         ‘Hey, guys,’ he says. ‘Look, I just wanted to thank you all for your hard work. This show never would have happened without you.’264

         Dorothy bursts into tears again and hugs him. I’m a little less moved by his speech because he didn’t even seem to notice that Tim is not supposed to be here; he probably thinks he’s a member of the cast.

         I stay back a moment longer once the others have left.

         ‘Great job, mate,’ he says. ‘Ms Lovelace … she – she would be so proud.’ His eyes are watery.

         ‘You were in love with her.’ It’s a statement, not a question. He doesn’t respond, but everything I need to know is in his eyes.

         I head out into the hall and am immediately swarmed by relatives and friends passing me flowers and kissing me on the cheek.

         I am stretching to see over their heads, trying to catch a glimpse of a messy black bun or the twinkle of bright blue eyes in the crowd, but nothing. He didn’t come. I really did blow it.

         Then, Dimitri taps me on the shoulder and points towards the foyer, and there he is. Adam is standing near the foyer doors with a bunch of flowers in one hand, and in the other he is holding Felix’s hand. He makes eye contact with me across the room and for the first time in weeks he doesn’t look away.

         ‘I’ll be right back,’ I say.

         I weave my way through chairs, teachers, parents and students. Everyone wants to congratulate me but I keep going until I reach him.265

         He wraps his arms around my waist and picks me up, and before I know it, he is kissing me. Right there, in front of everybody. His lips are not as soft as I imagined. Not that I imagined kissing Adam Tolentino … much.

         My heart finally catches up with me and now it’s flying in my chest, a little hummingbird trapped in a cage.

         His hands are on my back and he is so strong. When he pulls away, I make a small noise, like a cross between a gasp and a groan.

         ‘I’ve never made that sound before,’ I say as he puts me back down.

         When he lets go, I feel the absence of his hands, like they’ve left empty spaces on my skin.

         Felix wolf-whistles. He is looking at me like I am Ethel Merman in person.

         Adam hands me the now slightly crushed bright-red banksias.

         ‘Sorry,’ he says. ‘The show was … I mean, you were … just wow. I don’t even know what to say,’ he adds, a little pink in the face.

         ‘Thanks.’

         ‘How did you learn to do that?’ Felix asks.

         ‘What?’

         ‘I don’t know, all of it?’

         ‘Lots of practice,’ I say. ‘There are always spaces in the hip-hop class, if you’re interested.’

         Felix’s eyes light up and Adam beams at me.266

         ‘We should probably let you get back,’ Adam says. ‘Everyone wants to get a photo with you.’

         ‘Do you have plans tonight?’ I ask.

         ‘Just have to take this one home,’ he says, ruffling Felix’s hair. ‘Then nothing.’

         ‘Ever been to a musical afterparty before?’

         ‘Never.’

         ‘Well, brace yourself then, because it is about to go off.’
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         The afterparty is at my place. Mum has covered the patchy lawn in picnic blankets and hung fairy lights in the paperbark trees.

         Penny brought her Bluetooth speaker and we’re listening to Dimitri’s Spotify musicals playlist. The Book of Mormon is currently cranking and Dimitri and Walter are singing ‘You and Me (But Mostly Me)’ at the tops of their lungs. I’m sure the neighbours are thrilled.

         There are kids here from Year Eight all the way to Year Twelve, including the sound and lighting team, and even a couple of the musicians from the orchestra. Guess they weren’t too cool for us, after all. Tim is here too. He is sitting with some of the cast on one of the rugs. They look as if they’re explaining something complicated to him, but he seems distracted and isn’t really paying attention.

         Dorothy is still crying intermittently but Dimitri manages to get her to dance with him a few times.267

         I thought Adam would feel uncomfortable, but he’s standing by the Esky with Penny, drinking a can of Fanta. Penny isn’t even drinking the punch. She wasn’t lying about turning over a new leaf.

         I notice out of the corner of my eye that Dimitri and Tim have snuck behind one of the trees by the back fence. I smile. I guess it’s a bit more romantic than a water tank.

         I find Walter at the snacks table. It’s now or never.

         ‘Hey, Walt,’ I say. ‘How are you?’

         ‘I’m okay,’ he says.

         ‘You are?’

         ‘Yeah.’

         I’m not sure if I believe him or not, but I want to.

         Adam appears at my side and takes my hand.

         ‘So, Walter,’ I say. ‘You know Adam.’

         Walter looks at our hands and smiles. ‘Yeah, everyone knows Adam Tolentino. I guess you two worked things out then.’

         There he goes again, using Adam’s full name. I can sense that the word ‘intentions’ is on the tip of Walter’s tongue, but before he says it, Dorothy pulls him aside to dance.

         I am feeling a little buzzed. I don’t normally drink, but afterparties are always the exception.

         ‘I’m so glad you came to the show,’ I say, and Adam smiles. ‘You know,’ I continue, ‘asking you about the case was just the excuse I used to hang out with you. It wasn’t the reason I wanted to.’

         ‘Is that so?’ he says.268

         ‘Yeah. I was always looking for one. Turns out I just had to wait for the right murder investigation to come along.’

         He laughs, and the sound makes me feel warm. ‘I love you, Hallie Warner.’

         I look into his eyes, trying to find the sarcasm, but there is none, just blue.

         He tucks a strand of hair behind my ear and kisses me and I feel so light I could float away like a kite. He presses me back into the fence and I fight the sudden, irrational urge I have to wrap my legs around his waist.

         ‘I could get used to this,’ he says, resting his forehead on mine.

         I push him playfully and he makes a big show of being injured, falling to the ground and rolling around on one of the picnic blankets.

         ‘That was my bad arm!’ he yells.

         ‘You know, you’d make a decent drama student,’ I say.

         He pulls me down next to him and we lie side by side looking up at the fairy lights in the paperbark tree. He keeps holding my hand.

         ‘You know,’ he says, ‘that show was something else.’ I could be modest. But he’s right. The show was incredible. ‘Are you going to keep doing that after school?’ he asks. ‘Musicals and stuff?’

         ‘Yeah. Dimitri and I are planning on moving to Sydney to try to make it to the big time. We want to be the next Lucy Durack and Rob Mills.’

         Adam probably has no idea who they are, but oh well.269

         ‘Well, you guys could totally do it.’

         ‘I dunno, the competition is pretty fierce.’

         ‘You know,’ he says, staring at the ground, ‘I’d liked you for ages.’

         I look at him in disbelief.

         ‘You liked me?’ I say. ‘But why?’

         ‘You’re kidding, right? You are amazing.’ My mouth hangs open. ‘And,’ he continues, ‘I dunno … When you asked me to hang out that day, I was so happy. I thought, shit, what’s a girl like that doing with a dickhead like me? But then I found out the reason why you did. It just, it changed everything.’

         ‘I’m sorry.’ Quiet fills the space between us, like cottonwool. ‘If it makes any difference, I’ve liked you for ages too.’

         ‘It does,’ he says and from somewhere he materialises a bag of cheese and onion chips. How did he know these are my favourite? We’re halfway through the packet when my phone beeps at me. Sometimes I forget I even have a phone. Since nobody I know except Walter actually texts anymore, I’ve a pretty good idea of who it is.

         Meet me in the tree house. W 

         Yeah, he still signs off his texts.

         I don’t much fancy leaving the party to find out who Walter is accusing of murder now, so I consider pretending I haven’t seen the message and getting back to the chips. But the thought of him sitting up there all night waiting for me is a little hard to swallow right now.270

         ‘I’ll be right back,’ I say to Adam.

         ‘Everything okay?’

         ‘Yeah.’

         I cross the lawn to the rope ladder. I can hear voices in the tree house above me. Who on earth could he be talking to up there?

         I climb the ladder cautiously, aware that I could be walking into a trap. Who knows what he has planned? Maybe he’s about to propose to me and there’s an entire string quartet and children’s choir up there. Or maybe the killer stole his phone and used it to lure me out here all alone in the dark.

         I peer over the edge of the trapdoor and see several pairs of feet. Dear god, please not the children’s choir.

         But as I pull myself up, I see it’s the drama gang. Dimitri, Dorothy and Penny are all squished in together with Walter at the forefront. The tree house has never had this many people in it. I don’t know if she’s going to hold.

         ‘What the hell are you lot doing up here?’ I say, still suspended from the ladder. ‘You do realise that this tree house was designed for two five-year-olds, don’t you?’

         ‘Just get up here already, will you?’ Penny says. ‘I have never been so uncomfortable in my life.’

         There is a definite groan as the weight of a fifth person is added to the structure.

         ‘What’s going on?’ I ask.

         ‘We’ll be the ones to ask the questions, thank you,’ Dorothy says.271

         I look at Penny and Dimitri, who roll their eyes.

         ‘Dorothy,’ Walter says, ‘why do you think Hallie’s paper went missing from Ms Lovelace’s desk?’

         Dorothy shrugs. ‘Somebody took it?’

         ‘And why would somebody do that?’ he continues. ‘Why would someone take something from a murder victim’s desk unless they had something to hide?’

         ‘I don’t know,’ she says. I wonder if they rehearsed this. If only Walter put this much effort into learning his lines for the show.

         ‘Oh come on, Walt,’ I say. ‘You can’t be serious.’

         ‘I’m afraid we’re very serious, Hallie. Because as far as I know, you’re the only one who has been walking around with a key to the staffroom all this time.’

         ‘What?’

         ‘And according to Dad, your father can’t have killed Ms Lovelace because they were together when it happened. Now, they haven’t put two and two together yet about that missing paper. But it does beg the question, why did you take that essay?’

         I feel sick. The cheese and onion chips I ate are sitting right in the back of my throat, their sharp edges slicing holes in my oesophagus.

         ‘This is ridiculous,’ I say, turning to climb back down. ‘I don’t have to listen to this.’

         ‘Just answer the question, Hallie,’ Dorothy says, her voice on the brink of tears. ‘Did you kill Ms Lovelace over some stupid score on an essay?’272

         I turn back to them and look at each of their faces one at a time. Do they really think I could have done this? I try to read their expressions. I don’t think most of them really believe that I’m guilty. It’s just Walter – he’s manipulating them, making them see killers everywhere. And Dorothy is so desperate to find out who did it that she’ll believe anything.

         ‘Is that really what you all think?’ I say. ‘That I killed her just for that?’

         ‘People have been killed for a lot less,’ Walter says.

         ‘Have they?’ Dimitri asks sarcastically.

         ‘Look, I just happened to see the papers when we were searching her desk and I took mine, okay? That’s all there is to it.’

         ‘But why?’ Walter asks.

         I swallow the urge to throw up. ‘Because I failed, okay? Because I worked on that fucking essay for weeks and I failed. Is that what you want to hear?’ I am suddenly boiling hot, my cheeks flushed. ‘Sorry I’m not the killer you all hoped I would be.’

         The tree house is silent except for the occasional creak of wood.

         ‘And what about your father?’

         ‘What about him?’

         ‘We all know he was having an affair with Ms Lovelace. Maybe you killed her because she was going to break up your family,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘If it wasn’t you, and it wasn’t your dad, then who do you think it was, Hal?’ Walter says.273

         ‘I dunno, probably the fucking drug dealer who was supplying to Tim? Or have you all forgotten about that? And not to mention the fact that I would never do anything that might get the show cancelled!’

         At least they have the decency to look guilty.

         ‘Well, as fun as this has been,’ Penny says at last, ‘I think we’d better get down from here before the whole thing collapses. And for the record, Hal, I never thought it was you. You’re far too vanilla to be a murderer.’

         She takes Dorothy’s hand and helps her down through the trapdoor.

         Dimitri follows suit, nodding to me on the way past.

         I am left alone with Walter.

         ‘Hal, I—’ he starts.

         ‘What the fuck was that?’

         ‘I just—’

         ‘No. You don’t get to talk right now,’ I say. ‘First you try to kiss me and then you give me the silent treatment, and now you accuse me of fucking murder. You told me you were finished with this!’ There is no part of me that isn’t angry. I could punch him. The only thing stopping me is the fear that if he falls out of the tree, he might break his neck. ‘And you don’t even talk to me about it first. You convince everyone that I’m guilty and bring them all over here to gang up on me.’

         ‘Hal, please—’ He reaches towards me and I slap his hand away.

         ‘Don’t touch me.’274

         ‘It wasn’t my idea, it was Dorothy’s. I never thought it was you.’

         I climb down the rope ladder and head towards Adam on the blanket. He is now sitting with Tim, and they are having what looks like a serious conversation.

         ‘You okay?’ Adam says as I sit down in a huff.

         ‘Oh nothing, just been busy getting accused of murder by my best friends.’

         ‘Wow, that must suck,’ he says, and through my anger it takes me a moment to recognise the sarcasm, and I smile sheepishly at him. He grins. ‘Not as fun as it sounds, is it?’

         Penny joins us on the blanket. ‘I used to write letters to the fairies on pieces of paperbark,’ she says, holding one above her head.

         ‘You? Letters to fairies?’ I say.

         ‘I wasn’t always like this,’ she says.

         ‘You don’t see many goth toddlers,’ Tim says, and I love how easily he has slipped back into friendship with us.

         ‘Not a goth,’ Dimitri says, joining us along with Dorothy, who is still sniffing.

         ‘Promise we’ll all stay friends forever,’ Dorothy says with her bottom lip trembling, and in that moment I know I’ve already forgiven them all.

         ‘Of course,’ Walter says, appearing out of nowhere and lying across all of us until we shove him off.

         For one perfect moment, none of us talk about it.

         ‘So, my dealer got in touch,’ Tim says. ‘They want to get business going again. The first drop-off is tomorrow.’275

         ‘Don’t you see what we have to do?’ Walter says. We look at him in confusion. ‘A stake-out!’ he says, as if this is the most obvious conclusion.

         ‘What?’ Penny says.

         ‘We need to stake out the school tomorrow,’ Walter says. ‘We can catch Tim’s dealer in the act.’

         Oh well, it was nice while it lasted.

         ‘Shouldn’t we tell the police?’ Penny says.

         ‘And get Tim arrested? I don’t think so,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘Well, maybe if Tim stopped dealing drugs …’ Walter starts.

         ‘Can we just focus, please?’ I say.

         ‘You guys are a regular set of Harriet the Spies,’ Adam says, squeezing my hand. ‘So, what time are we meeting?’
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            Chapter 29

         

         ‘This is ridiculous,’ Penny says. ‘I can’t feel my feet.’

         ‘Shut up,’ Walter says.

         We are all huddled together in the music staffroom. Even Adam and Tim are here. I unlocked the door with Ms Lovelace’s keys. The lights are off because we didn’t want to attract attention.

         Walter is standing on Mrs Berrycloth’s desk and watching the corridor through the barred windows.

         The rest of us are sitting on the floor.

         ‘Isn’t this something the police usually do?’ Adam says.

         ‘I think Walter sometimes forgets that he isn’t actually a police officer yet,’ Penny says.

         ‘Did you even tell your dad about the drugs?’ Dimitri asks. ‘Or did you keep that to yourself?’

         ‘Just sit still and keep your mouths shut,’ Walter hisses at us.

         I try to reposition myself on the floor. The lino is cold. I feel like I’m sitting on a block of ice. I should have been smart like Dorothy and sat on some of the sheet music.

         ‘Did anyone bring any snacks?’ Dimitri asks, breaking the tension.277

         ‘I have some chewing gum in my bag, I think,’ Penny says.

         Tim opens his backpack and pulls out packets of chips, chocolate bars and cans of soft drink. ‘I thought you guys might get hungry.’

         ‘I guess drug dealing really pays,’ Walter says over his shoulder.

         ‘Shut up, Walter, or I will smack you,’ Dimitri says. He pats Tim on the back and thanks him for the food.

         We ignore Walter and dig into the snacks.

         ‘Can you not make quite so much noise?’ Walter hisses at us. ‘You can hear those chip packets crinkling from a mile away.’

         I purposefully chew as loudly as I can.

         ‘Shh, someone’s coming,’ Walter says, waving his hand at us.

         We sit in absolute silence. Until this moment, I don’t think any of us actually expected anyone to show. I have a half-chewed chip in my mouth but I don’t dare swallow it.

         ‘Someone’s walking down the corridor,’ Walter whispers so quietly that I hardly catch it.

         ‘Come away from the window,’ I whisper back. ‘They might see you.’

         ‘Who is it?’ Penny hisses.

         ‘It can’t be,’ Walter says.

         ‘Who?’ Dimitri says, far too loudly for my liking.

         ‘It’s Addie.’

         ‘You’re kidding,’ I say.278

         ‘Maybe she’s just here to get her camera or something,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘Unlikely,’ Penny says.

         ‘Well,’ Walter says, ‘she’s heading into the storeroom so I don’t really know what to tell you guys.’

         I am suddenly reminded of my meeting with her, all those questions she asked about risk-taking behaviour and substance abuse. She wasn’t looking out for my wellbeing. She was scouting for a new customer. Who else would have access to all the messed-up kids in the school but the counsellor? I feel sick.

         ‘What do we do?’ I ask.

         ‘I brought my mum’s old polaroid,’ Adam says, pulling it out of his backpack. ‘We need to catch her in the act and get a photo.’

         Walter grabs it from him and climbs down off the desk to open the door.

         ‘Do you even know how to use it?’ Adam asks.

         ‘Shut up.’

         ‘Hurry,’ I whisper.

         Walter opens the door and creeps out, closing it softly behind him. My heart is in my throat. When we came up with this plan, I think we all forgot about the fact that we are dealing with a potential murderer.

         ‘This is stupid,’ Penny says, climbing onto the desk. ‘We should just film her through the window with one of our phones.’279

         Tim shushes her and I listen at the door, but outside it’s silent.

         ‘Shouldn’t someone go with him?’ Dorothy says.

         ‘I’ll go,’ Adam says, standing.

         We suddenly hear raised voices through the door. I can’t make out the words but Walter is trying to sound tough, and Addie seems more surprised than anything. They are certainly arguing about something, though.

         I crawl across the floor and push the door slightly ajar so that we can hear what they’re saying.

         ‘You just couldn’t leave it alone, could you?’ a voice hisses from the other side of the door. I almost don’t recognise it as Addie’s. Normally she speaks with a calm cottonwool tone that makes you feel safe and warm inside. Now her voice comes out as a slice.

         I whisper to Penny to call the police from her mobile.

         ‘Just give me the photo,’ Addie says.

         I take a deep breath and step through the door. ‘The police are on their way, Addie. It’s over.’ Every inch of my body is sweating. Of all the stupid things I’ve done this term, this might just be the stupidest.

         ‘Did you really think you’d get away with it?’ Walter says.

         ‘I’ve been getting away with it for five years,’ Addie says.

         ‘Not the drugs, the murder.’

         ‘Murder?’

         ‘Ms Lovelace,’ Walter says.

         ‘Nice try, but you’re not pinning that on me.’280

         ‘You were here that day to drop off the drugs, weren’t you?’

         ‘Yes, but early in the morning, before you lot arrived. You think I don’t check the calendar for events? I left the drugs in the bucket for Tim, and I was going to pick up the cash Monday morning. But when I checked before school, the cash was missing.’

         ‘My bad,’ Adam says. ‘I used it to buy mac and cheese and trainers.’

         ‘There was five thousand dollars there,’ she says, her eyes narrowing.

         ‘The rest is in a savings account for Felix.’

         ‘So many people trusted you,’ I say.

         ‘That’s what made it so perfect. Now I’ll have to start again from scratch.’

         ‘Sorry to inconvenience you,’ I say, trying to sound braver than I am.

         I hear sirens in the distance. Addie’s eyes widen and I see her thought process as she checks for exits and calculates her chances of outrunning all of us. I see her eyes linger on Dimitri the longest. She opts to stay put. As Walter’s dad and Caleb approach, she offers her wrists up freely.
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         In the evening, we sit outside the police station window again. The voices of Sergeant Griffiths and Addie filter out from inside.281

         ‘Were you threatening her? Was she trying to protect herself? Did she see something she wasn’t supposed to see?’

         ‘Like what?’

         ‘Like maybe you depositing drugs in the storeroom in exchange for a wad of cash, like the ones we found in your house today.’

         ‘No comment.’

         ‘It’s my fault, isn’t it?’ Tim says.

         ‘Don’t even say that,’ Dimitri says.

         ‘But it is. If I hadn’t been selling drugs at school, then this never would have happened.’

         ‘If it wasn’t you, mate, then she would have found someone else,’ Walter says and I love him for it. ‘There’s only one person to blame and it’s that scumbag in there.’

         ‘I won’t do it anymore,’ Tim says. ‘I swear.’

         ‘We could always use an extra set of hands in Total Take-Away,’ Adam says. ‘If you’re looking for work.’

         Tim beams at him. ‘Thanks, man.’

         ‘I thought I’d feel better once we knew who did it,’ I say. ‘Once I knew she was behind bars. But I don’t feel any different.’

         ‘I feel worse, I think,’ Dorothy says. ‘The hole that I was filling trying to work out who did it is empty again.’

         ‘And what can you tell us about the drugs we found at your house?’ Sergeant Griffiths’ voice again. ‘And this polaroid photograph of you coming out of the school storeroom this morning?’

         ‘I want a lawyer.’282

         ‘Do they have enough to charge her?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘Dad said the polaroid is actually better than a photo from a camera phone since it’s harder to fake,’ Walter says and pats Adam on the back. ‘They can definitely charge her for possession of illicit substances,’ he continues, ‘and dealing drugs to minors, but I think they’re hoping for a confession to the murder as well, just to finish her off.’

         ‘What can you tell us about this knife then?’ Sergeant Griffiths says.

         ‘No comment.’

         ‘Let’s try that again, shall we?’ Sergeant Griffiths is starting to sound pissed off. ‘Why did you do it?’

         ‘If Addie’s been running this thing for years,’ Dimitri says, ‘would she really have been careless enough not to check if people were going to be at school that day?

         Penny nods. ‘And why would she kill Victoria?’

         ‘Who says she did?’ Walter asks. ‘My dad said it was a suicide.’

         ‘Not necessarily,’ Penny says, rummaging in her black leather satchel. She pulls out a manila folder with the word ‘Keating’ on it. ‘I took this from Addie’s office when we were in there looking for clues.’

         ‘Dorothy’s file?’ I ask. ‘How will that help?’

         ‘It’s not Dorothy’s … it’s Victoria’s.’

         ‘Why did you take Victoria’s file?’ Dorothy asks.

         ‘Back when Walter accused you of murder, I wanted to prove to him that Victoria was depressed and suicidal, then we’d know that Dorothy didn’t kill her.’283

         ‘And?’ Dorothy says. ‘What did you find out?’

         ‘Victoria wasn’t depressed at all. She had all these plans for the future. She wanted to be a doctor, and she was planning on saving up enough money to buy you and your mum a new house so you could all get away from your dad.’

         ‘Then why did she kill herself?’ I ask and my voice is barely more than a breath.

         ‘I don’t think she did,’ Penny says. ‘I think she was murdered and then her death was staged to look like a suicide.’

         ‘Jesus,’ Dimitri says.

         A magpie strolls past us with her baby following behind, warbling its head off.

         ‘There’s only one person we know who’s connected to both of them, and that’s your dad, Hallie,’ Walter says. ‘He must have found out about the babies and freaked out.’

         ‘But he had an alibi,’ I say.

         ‘Babies?’ Penny says.

         Walter hesitates, clearing his throat.

         ‘How did you know Victoria was pregnant?’ Dorothy says.

         ‘I must have read it in the autopsy report …’

         ‘We didn’t get an autopsy because it was deemed a suicide. It was deemed a suicide by your dad. Nobody except me knew that Victoria was pregnant,’ Dorothy says. ‘Even our mum didn’t know.’

         Walter starts to back away from us towards the front of the station.284

         ‘Unless, of course, she told her killer, pleaded with him not to do it for the sake of her unborn child,’ Dimitri says, standing.

         Walter looks panicked, his eyes wide and his face pale.

         ‘We always knew it had to be one of us,’ Penny says. ‘We’re the only ones who could have planted that knife in the motel room. We’re the only ones who knew Ms Lovelace was going to be at school that day. We’re the only ones who had the opportunity.’

         ‘And you weren’t there when Victoria died,’ I say. ‘We were supposed to rehearse together, and you didn’t show up. You never miss a rehearsal.’

         We follow Walter as he reaches the front steps of the station, just as Sergeant Griffiths and Caleb step outside.

         ‘And you could have planted that scavenger hunt clue in Penny’s pocket during rehearsals,’ Dorothy says.

         ‘And why was your hoodie already off before you even saw the body?’ I ask. ‘Was it already covered in Ms Lovelace’s blood?’

         ‘What’s going on, son?’ Sergeant Griffiths says.

         ‘You’ve spent this whole time trying to point the finger at everyone but yourself,’ Dorothy says, ignoring him.

         ‘And you’re the one who gave me Panadol after music that day. Did you drug me?’ Penny says.

         ‘Maybe you should come into the station to answer some questions,’ Caleb says, clearly unsure but needing to do something before this gets out of hand.

         Walter looks like he might start crying. He reaches out 285for his father as if he’s going in for a hug. Sergeant Griffiths opens his arms to embrace his son, then all of a sudden Walter grabs the gun from his father’s holster and points it at all of us.

         Adam springs into action in an instant. He moves so quickly I don’t even have a chance to tell him to stop. One second, he is behind me and the next he is standing between me and a loaded gun with his hand raised as if it could stop a bullet.

         ‘Come on, mate,’ Adam says. ‘Just calm down.’

         ‘Stay back!’ Walter yells, but it hardly sounds like him. There’s a coldness to his tone that I’ve never heard before.

         ‘All right, mate, we’re backing up.’ Adam starts to push me away behind him.

         There’s a sharp intake of breath. I think it’s from Sergeant Griffiths, but it’s hard to tell.

         ‘And don’t even think about drawing that thing, Caleb,’ Walter says, waving the gun in Caleb’s direction. Caleb raises his hands above his head, looking to Sergeant Griffiths for guidance; the sergeant looks like he’s been struck over the back of the head.

         ‘Walt,’ Dimitri says. ‘It’s over. Put the gun down.’

         ‘Oh really? What’s to stop me shooting all of you right now?’

         ‘Come on, mate—’ Adam starts.

         ‘Stop calling me “mate” – you don’t even know me!’

         ‘It was you,’ Dorothy says. ‘You killed Ms Lovelace. And … and Victoria too. Why?’286

         ‘Just shut up,’ Walter says. The hand that is holding the gun is shaking. His face is twisted in fear and pain.

         ‘Walt, come on, this can’t be true,’ I say and I want more than anything to believe it.

         ‘Hal,’ he says. ‘I did it for you, Hal.’

         My blood turns cold in a flash. ‘What?’

         ‘Your dad, he was having an affair. First with Victoria, then Ms Lovelace.’

         ‘So? Why did you care?’

         ‘I did it for you, to save your family. I wanted things to be perfect for you. I thought after Victoria, your dad would come to his senses, and he did for a little while, but then he started up with Ms Lovelace and I just …’ His hand starts to shake violently.

         ‘How did you even know?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘I always knew something was up when he didn’t come to Dad’s poker nights. So I followed him.’

         ‘You killed her!’ Dorothy screams and she lunges towards him.

         You expect moments like this to go in slow motion, but it doesn’t. One second Dorothy’s hands are reaching for Walter’s face, the next there is a loud bang and before I know it I have been pushed to the floor and someone is lying on top of me. I can’t tell if I’ve been shot. How do you know?

         I hear a scream, piercing in the silence. I try to see. I need to know. Names run through my head. Please don’t let it be Dimitri, Penny, Dorothy, Adam … any of them. It can’t be any of them.287

         I realise that it’s Adam who is lying on top of me, but he seems unhurt. He helps me up.

         ‘Are you okay?’ he asks. I can’t find my voice so I just nod.

         Walter is on the ground in front of us, his hands behind his back, Caleb in the process of cuffing him. The gun lies in the dirt.

         That’s when I realise it was Penny who screamed. She is kneeling beside a crumpled body on the ground. It’s Dorothy. Please, not Dorothy. 

         ‘Someone call an ambulance,’ Dimitri says. His hands are pressing down on Dorothy’s shoulder. Only her shoulder. That’s good, right?

         Tim runs into the station and I can hear him on the phone. I slowly turn to Sergeant Griffiths. He looks like a little boy who’s been caught drawing on the walls in crayon.

         ‘You knew,’ I say. It’s not a question. I already know the answer. ‘You knew and you covered for him.’

         ‘Dorothy, can you hear me? It’s Penny. Just keep your eyes on mine, okay?’

         Adam’s hands join Dimitri’s.

         ‘Keep her talking,’ Adam says to Penny. ‘Don’t let her fall asleep.’

         ‘Dorothy, remember when we sat together under the scribbly gum and we promised that we would get better,’ Penny says. ‘Do you remember that?’

         Dorothy tries to speak but her voice comes out in pieces. I take hold of her other hand. Her fingers feel like wet 288paper. Like the time Mum bought me new felt-tip pens for colouring in and they said ‘water washable’ on the box, so I tried, unsuccessfully, to wash my drawings off the paper and reuse it.

         Penny is still talking. ‘You promised me you were going to get well again, so you better not go anywhere, because you promised me. You promised me, Dorothy.’

         Then she does something that no one expected but we also all kind of did. She kisses Dorothy.

         For a moment, there is nothing but stillness and then I feel Dorothy’s tiny fingers tighten around my hand.

         Tim and Caleb stand watching the sergeant until we hear the sirens, but I don’t think he is going anywhere.

         The same paramedics who came for Ms Lovelace arrive. I’m glad they don’t make any comments like ‘oh, it’s you lot again’ or ‘what have you been up to this time?’ but I can sense they want to. They put a mask over Dorothy’s face and wrap bandages around her shoulder before lifting her onto a stretcher and carrying her into the ambulance. Penny doesn’t let go of her hand the whole time. The station is stiflingly quiet, like an empty film set. Caleb calls for back-up and Penny goes with Dorothy in the ambulance. The rest of us have to wait until more police arrive from the next closest station, which is at least an hour’s drive from here. Walter is driven away in handcuffs. He watches me through the rear window.
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         289After we give our statements, Dimitri drives us to the hospital. He has barely put the handbrake on before we’re piling out of the car and sprinting in the door to emergency. My mum meets us at the front desk, her face unreadable. She is in full nurse mode.

         ‘She’s out of danger,’ she says, and I feel like I might faint with relief. ‘The bullet went clean through her shoulder.’

         She glances at my hand. I didn’t even realise that Adam was holding it.

         ‘Can we see her?’ Dimitri asks.

         ‘Penny and Dorothy’s mother are with her now. They have a few things to discuss with the doctor. If you wait here, I’ll come and get you when it’s all right for you to go in.’

         While we’re sitting in the waiting room, Penny’s parents arrive. They rush straight into the room without asking anyone for permission. I wonder why none of us thought to do that. Adam’s hand doesn’t leave mine for one second.

         Mum comes out again an hour or so later.

         ‘Dorothy is being moved,’ she says. Dimitri looks at me in fear.

         ‘What does that mean?’ I ask. ‘She’s okay, isn’t she?’

         ‘Mr and Mrs Shào are paying for her to recover in the private hospital. She is being transported there tonight.’

         Dimitri beams at me.

         ‘And you can go in and see her now.’

         I don’t know if the hospital has rules about the number of visitors allowed per patient, but we are definitely filling the 290quota. We circle Dorothy’s bed. She is sleeping peacefully, her mother and Penny on either side.

         None of us speak. There is nothing left to say. We distribute hugs around the room and take it in turns to hold Dorothy’s tiny hand. Her mother looks as though she doesn’t quite know what is happening, so Dimitri fetches her a cup of coffee from the cafeteria.

         We stay until they come to move Dorothy to the private hospital and then Dimitri drives us back to town.

         
            [image: ]

         

         In the evening, we sit outside Total Take-Away with more chips than we could eat in a lifetime. Adam told his father what happened, and he has been trying to heal us with food ever since. It is long into the evening before we finally decide to leave.

         ‘Want a lift?’ Dimitri asks Dorothy. ‘I’m driving Tim home.’

         ‘Nah, I’ll catch the bus.’ She winks at Dimitri and nods towards Tim, who is shredding gum leaves onto the table.

         Adam walks me home. I feel heavy. I don’t think it has really hit me yet.

         ‘You drama kids are pretty hardcore,’ he says as we walk along the cracked footpath.

         ‘Wait till you see us play Houses,’ I say.

         Adam laughs, then his face turns serious. ‘Hey, I’m sorry about Walter. And your dad. And, well, everything, I guess.’291

         ‘Yeah. I don’t even know how to feel right now, to be honest.’

         ‘Hey, listen, this weekend we get to visit Cris, and I was wondering if you’d like to come with us. You don’t have to … I mean, no pressure or anything. It’s just that he really wants to meet you. I’ve told him all about you.’

         ‘Oh, have you?’

         He blushes a little and it’s frickin’ adorable.

         ‘I’d love to,’ I say.
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            Chapter 30

         

         The five of us sit on the rock by the creek. The drama geeks plus Adam. It’s too cold to swim so we just enjoy the feeling of being free, like talcum powder released from its bottle.

         Penny’s parents have finally agreed to let her out of their sight on occasion. They also fired the au pair after they found her drinking milk straight from the carton in their fridge.

         Dorothy is lying next to me and I notice that her face doesn’t look quite so sunken and her legs aren’t quite as straw-like as they were a month ago. Her arm is still in a sling. Her mother managed to get some time off work at the hospital; turns out they never gave her any bereavement leave after what happened to Victoria. The Shào family’s lawyer is looking into it. She thinks they can get her a pretty decent payout. Penny’s family are also paying for Dorothy and her mum to see a psychologist to deal with their grief.

         We hear someone crunching down the path and my heartbeat picks up. I still can’t shake the fear. I don’t know 293if it will ever fully go away. But it’s Tim’s face I see at the tree line.

         Dimitri runs to him so fast that he almost bowls him over. He throws his arms around him and Tim buries his face in his chest. Penny and I beam at each other. They return to the group, holding hands.

         Penny and Dorothy are sharing a sandwich, Dimitri and Tim are whispering in each other’s ears and giggling, and Adam Tolentino is holding my hand.

         Sometimes we talk about Ms Lovelace, but only about the good things: the musical, the interactive escape rooms, the drama games. Gone are the days of discussing clues and suspects, no more accusing each other and throwing blame in every direction. It only took our drama teacher being murdered to break us all apart and bring us back together again and get everything out in the open.

         Walter is in some sort of school for juvenile offenders awaiting trial and his father is under investigation for corruption and perverting the course of justice. Caleb has taken over as sergeant and crime is at an all-time low.

         We only have two terms of school left before our exams and then that will be it. I don’t suppose many of us will hang around here much longer after that. It’s a shame that everything has to change, but we are making the best of what we have while we can. We spend the afternoons at the creek or hanging out in Dimitri’s rumpus room watching old musicals and eating popcorn.294

         Best of all, Cris gets out of jail in two months. Adam and Felix are so excited they have already made the ‘Welcome Home’ poster and we spent an entire weekend cleaning all the junk out of his bedroom so it’s all ready for him when he comes home.

         Our school rugby team won the premiership and the whole gang was there to cheer on Adam. The lads he used to be friends with don’t mess with us anymore; for starters, we outnumber them and, more importantly, Penny threatened to kill them if they come anywhere near Dimitri again. And once they saw that Adam was hanging out with us for good, they gave up.

         Dimitri and I still want to go to Sydney, maybe to study acting at NIDA, maybe just to get day jobs and audition for every show we can. Penny is interested in studying law after seeing the other side of the justice system, Dorothy is thinking about psychology and Adam has been scouted to join a rugby team in Sydney. He says it’s one of the good ones. Whatever happens, we’re getting out of this town, and we’re doing it together.

         All of us lie looking at the sky through a canopy of pale gum tree branches and I realise for the first time just how beautiful it is here. While I don’t want to live here my whole life, it’s not such a bad place when it’s full of the people I love. But sometimes, when it’s quiet like this, I can’t help but think about Walter. The boy who would do anything for me. Literally anything. Even confess to a murder he didn’t commit.
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